
 
 

 
 
 
 
A Meeting of the COUNCIL will be held virtually on 
THURSDAY 18 MARCH 2021 AT 7.00 PM 
 
 
 

 
Susan Parsonage 
Chief Executive 
Published on 10 March 2021 
 
Note: The Council has made arrangements under the 
Coronavirus Act 2020 to hold this meeting virtually via 
Microsoft Teams.  The meeting can be watched live using 
the following link: https://youtu.be/nf4OygplziQ 

 
This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s 
website. 
 
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog 
from this meeting.  The use of these images or recordings is 
not under the Council’s control. 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/nf4OygplziQ


 
 

 
 

Our Vision 
 

A great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business 
 

 

Enriching Lives 

 Champion outstanding education and enable our children and young people to achieve their full 
potential, regardless of their background.  

 Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure facilities to 
complement an active lifestyle.  

 Engage and involve our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of identity which 
people feel part of.  

 Support growth in our local economy and help to build business. 

Safe, Strong, Communities 

 Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people. 

 Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to prevent the need for long term care.  

 Nurture communities and help them to thrive. 

 Ensure our borough and communities remain safe for all.  

A Clean and Green Borough 

 Do all we can to become carbon neutral and sustainable for the future.  

 Protect our borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas. 

 Reduce our waste, improve biodiversity and increase recycling. 

 Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.  

Right Homes, Right Places 

 Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.  

 Build our fair share of housing with the right infrastructure to support and enable our borough to 
grow.  

 Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.  

 Help with your housing needs and support people to live independently in their own homes.  

Keeping the Borough Moving 
 Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.  

 Tackle traffic congestion, minimise delays and disruptions.  

 Enable safe and sustainable travel around the borough with good transport infrastructure. 

 Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners to offer affordable, accessible 
public transport with good network links.  

Changing the Way We Work for You 
 Be relentlessly customer focussed. 

 Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are focussed around 
you.  

 Communicate better with you, owning issues, updating on progress and responding appropriately 
as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough.  

 Drive innovative digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses and 
customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.  

 



 
 

To: The Members of Wokingham Borough Council 
 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

WARD SUBJECT 
PAGE 
NO. 

    
98.    APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence 
 

    
99.    MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

To confirm the Minutes of the Council Meeting held 
on 18 February 2021. 

17 - 46 

    
100.    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest 
 

    
101.    MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive any announcements by the Mayor 
 

    
102.    PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

To answer any public questions 
 
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of 
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.  
 
The Council welcomes questions from members of 
the public about the work of the Council. 
 
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can 
relate to general issues concerned with the work of 
the Council or an item which is on the Agenda for this 
meeting.  For full details of the procedure for 
submitting questions please contact the Democratic 
Services Section on the numbers given below or go 
to www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions 
 

 

102.1 Arborfield Jim Murphy has asked the Executive Member for 
Environment and Leisure the following question: 
 
Question 
I am horrified at the recent destruction of healthy, 
mature trees at Gravel Pit Hill Lane and the 
surrounding area.  My understanding is that this was 
permitted under health and safety grounds related to 
the raised Reservoir which is claimed to be a 
‘Category A’ Dam (LLR).   I was unaware that the 
lake was categorised as such.  Yet, despite this 
categorisation, I cannot find any documentation 
showing this in the form of a Functioning Local 
Resilience Form (LRF), that has publicly reported on 
Population at Risk (PAR) or/and Likely Loss of Life 
(LLOL).  Neither can I find any Reservoir Plan or 

 

http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions


 
 

specific reference to it in the Borough Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment.  Can you please confirm these 
plans exist and advise how I can gain access to 
them? 
 

102.2 None Specific Liz Mayers has asked the Leader of the Council the 
following question: 
 
Question 
On 18th February 2021, at the last full Council 
meeting, you said that the WBC Equality plan utilised 
the existing LGA Equality Framework. The Equality 
Framework for Local Government (EFLG) has been 
successfully implemented by other councils. Based 
on EFLG process map and WBC’s self-analysis, what 
is WBC’s assessment of its current level and what is 
the projected timeframe for attaining each of the 
subsequent levels i.e. Developing, Achieving and 
Excellent? 
 

 

102.3 None Specific Kiran Nar has asked the Leader of the Council the 
following question: 
 
Question 
I, along with other Wokingham Residents were invited 
to participate in WBC’s Equality review, after a 
summer of unrest due to the Council’s attitude about 
the Black Lives Matter movement.  We complained 
and made representation to the Council which gained 
negative media attention.  Did you invite us to 
participate in the Review so that you can keep us 
quiet and on-side? 
 

 

102.4 None Specific Beth Rowland has asked the Executive Member for 
Environment and Leisure the following question: 
 
Question 
I would like to ask a question regarding disability 
groups and the new style paper collection bags.  
Please will you tell me how many disability groups 
were consulted as part of this work, and what 
difficulties did they raise regarding using these bags? 
 

 

102.5 Emmbrook Peter Humphreys has asked the Executive Member 
for Regeneration the following question: 
 
Question 
Normally when a major planning application to build 
houses is submitted developers are required to 
provide around 35% affordable housing.  Yet, when 
the Council granted itself permission to destroy Elms 
Field, it excluded itself from this requirement on the 

 



 
 

grounds that the development was not viable. 
 
At last months’ Council meeting, you provided a 
glowing account of the finances and stated income 
will cover costs in each of the next three years, even 
though there are numerous empty units and of the 
occupied ones, many are in the rent free period.  You 
later stated profits are set to rise to £6m per annum. 
 
In fact, you painted such a rosy picture of the 
development claiming 90% of the units have been let, 
and as can be seen businesses are so keen to be a 
part of the place that they are not even bothering to 
fit-out their empty units ahead of the lifting of 
lockdown restrictions. 
 
In view of this, would you please state how much 
affordable housing could be built per annum, with the 
£6m per year profits and explain why this is not being 
done? 
 

102.6 None Specific Louise Timlin has asked the Executive Member for 
Children's Services the following question: 
 
Question 
I have heard anecdotally that some local child care 
providers are struggling financially due to a number of 
issues related to the pandemic; including furloughed 
parents not needing childcare or parents reluctant to 
take up child care places due to lack of COVID 
testing available in Early Years settings.  What 
actions, in addition to those already taken, are the 
Council planning to further support the viability of the 
local child care sector, so that working parents will 
have access to local, affordable, high quality care 
after the pandemic? 

 

    
103.    PETITIONS 

To receive any petitions which Members or members 
of the public wish to present. 

 

    
104.   None Specific TRADING STANDARDS, ENVIRONMENTAL 

HEALTH AND LICENSING 
To consider the recommendations from the Executive 
in relation to bringing back in-house to Wokingham 
Borough Council the services currently delivered by 
the Public Protection Partnership (PPP), as from 1st 
April 2022. 
 
 
 
 

47 - 56 



 
 

RECOMMENDATION That: 
 
1) the Council serves formal notice on the Public 

Protection Partnership before 31st March 2021, 
which if effected would take place on 31st March 
2022; 

 
2) the delegation to PPP in respect to the 

Executive and Council functions and duties 
(including environmental health, licensing and 
trading standards) will end and will be exercised 
by the Council directly from 1st April 2022; 

 
3) The Director of Place and Growth and Deputy 

Chief Executive (and Section 151 Officer), in 
consultation with the Lead Member for 
Environment and Lead Member for Finance & 
Housing, are authorised to commence design of 
the new services structure and any resulting 
negotiations on an Exit Plan and to address 
timeframe (including earlier dates than stated in 
recommendation 1 and 2 if agreed by the 
Councils), mitigation of risks and costs, key 
milestones, ongoing resources and staffing 
implications for a successful departure from the 
partnership; 

 
4) The Deputy Chief Executive and Director of 

Place and Growth create and work with a task 
force of Officers and Members to create the 
new in-house service; 

 
5) it be noted that a special item of £500k, spread 

over financial years 2021/22 and 2022/23, was 
included in the Medium Term Financial Plan to 
fund a safe and effective transition. 

    
105.   None Specific EQUALITY PLAN 

To consider adopting the Equality Plan as 
recommended by the Executive. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  That Council approves the 
Equality Plan (2021-2025) and associated Action 
Plan (2021-2022).  

57 - 90 

    
106.   None Specific TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 

2020-21 
To consider the mid-year Treasury Management 
report for 2020-21. 
 
 
 

91 - 102 



 
 

RECOMMENDATION Council is recommended to 
note: 
 
1) Appendix A, the Treasury Management Mid-

Year report which was agreed at Audit 
Committee on 23rd November 2020; 

 
2) that all approved indicators set out in the 

Treasury Management Strategy have been 
adhered to and that prudent and safe 
management has been maintained and; 
 

3) that the Council’s Chief Finance Officer is able 
to appraise Council of any supplementary 
information considered to be relevant to their 
consideration  

    
107.   None Specific OFFICER RESPONSE TO THE 

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY REPORT - WBC'S RESPONSE TO 
THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC 
To consider the recommendations of the Executive in 
relation to the Officer response to the 
recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny 
report into the Council’s response to the Covid-19 
pandemic. 
 
RECOMMENDATION That Council: 
 
1) note the Officers’ responses and the 

recommendations as set out in the Overview 
and Scrutiny report and contained within this 
report and as agreed by the Executive; 

 
2) note the Officers’ responses to the two 

additional recommendations submitted by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee at its meeting on 20 January 2021 
and as agreed by the Executive. 

103 - 140 

    
108.   None Specific ANNUAL REPORT FROM THE OVERVIEW AND 

SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE AND THE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 
2020/21 
To receive a report from the Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee on 
the work undertaken by the Management Committee 
and the associated Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees over the past year. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That the report from the 
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management 

141 - 158 



 
 

Committee be noted. 
    
109.   None Specific STANDARDS COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 

2020/21 
To receive a report from the Vice Chairman of the 
Standards Committee on the work undertaken over 
the past year. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  That the report from the 
Standards Committee be noted. 

159 - 166 

    
110.   None Specific REPORTS FROM MEMBERS APPOINTED TO 

OUTSIDE BODIES 
To note those reports from Members on Outside 
Bodies as circulated in the agenda. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  That the reports from 
Members appointed to Outside Bodies be noted. 

167 - 202 

    
111.    MEMBER QUESTION TIME 

To answer any member questions 
 
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for Members to 
ask questions submitted under Notice. 
 
Any questions not dealt with within the allotted time 
will be dealt with in a written reply. 
 

 

111.1 None Specific Pauline Helliar-Symons has asked the Executive 
Member for Environment and Leisure the following 
question: 
 
Question 
Please can you tell me what the Borough is doing for 
cyclists, and what progress has there been on the 
Greenways programme? 
 

 

111.2 Winnersh Paul Fishwick has asked the Executive Member for 
Planning and Enforcement the following question: 
 
Question 
Bearwood Park Planning Applications 
On 1st April 2015, Wokingham Borough Council gave 
the developer Reading Football Club planning 
approval with conditions attached to create a training 
ground at Bearwood Park. 
 
Conditions included several areas around the 
Environment and Biodiversity including condition 28 
which prohibits works or removal of trees, shrubs or 
hedges without written consent, and if any work is 
required, they should be replaced.   

 



 
 

 
The approved plans demonstrate that all the trees 
around the Bearwood Lake including on the dam are 
to be retained and covered by a TPO.   
 
On 8th December 2020, the developer submitted 
another application for various works on TPO trees.   
 
The application was devoid of any detail on why any 
single tree needed to be felled and went against all 
the previous conditions related to the Environment, 
Biodiversity, Climate Change and Air Quality. 
 
So why did this Council allow a developer to destroy 
between 400 and 500 protected trees without 
question?   The majority of which were mature and 
included at least 9 veteran trees listed by the 
Wokingham District Veteran Tree Association? 
 

111.3 Emmbrook Rachel Bishop-Firth has asked the Executive Member 
for Health, Wellbeing and Adult Services the following 
question: 
 
Question 
The number of people in the UK living with dementia 
is forecast to nearly double during the next 20 years.  
I am therefore pleased to see that the Council is 
proposing to build a new care home, specialising in 
the provision of care for people with dementia, within 
Emmbrook ward.  While we have a number of 
questions about the site, in particular about safe 
access, in principle an increase in care provision has 
to be welcomed. 
 
Can you please confirm that this care home is in 
addition to Suffolk Lodge and not a replacement? 
 

 

111.4 Maiden Erlegh Tahir Maher has asked the Executive Member for 
Highways and Transport the following question: 
 
Question 
I was very pleased to see that Betchworth Avenue 
has been resurfaced, this resurfacing was needed, 
and we had been calling for it to be done for some 
time. Silverdale Road starts at the end of Betchworth 
Avenue and I was a little disappointed that it wasn't 
included as part of the resurfacing programme for 
Earley.  
  
I have highlighted the issue of the state of the 
Silverdale Road several times especially the part from 
Sevenoaks Road to Allendale Road. The road is at 

 



 
 

best patchy with numerous badly worn 'joint lines' 
which run from one side of the road to the other. The 
zebra crossing which is heavily used by children who 
attend Maiden Erlegh and Aldryngton schools is in a 
poor state and needs repair.  
 
As the Executive Member for Highways will you 
arrange to have the resurfacing of this small stretch of 
the Silverdale Road done sooner rather than later or 
have the whole of Silverdale Road included in the 
resurfacing programme for Earley. 
 

111.5 None Specific Sarah Kerr has asked the Executive Member for 
Resident Services, Communications and Emissions 
the following question: 
 
Question 
In autumn 2020, the Climate Emergency Task & 
Finish group from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee presented a report to the 
Executive that advised that “the commitments in the 
current WBC Capital Programme would increase the 
number of vehicle miles travelled, thereby increasing 
CO2 emissions whilst not reducing the level of traffic 
congestion across the Borough.”  This advice was 
based upon the "fundamental law of traffic 
congestion" developed by academics.  The Executive 
seems to have ignored this advice and doubled down 
on its error, increasing to £17m investment in making 
driving easier within the climate emergency budget.  
  
My question is; what is the predicted reduction in 
CO2 emissions from this £17m investment, and what 
is the methodology by which it has been estimated? 
 

 

111.6 Twyford Stephen Conway has asked the Executive Member 
for Children's Services the following question: 
 
Question 
Will the Executive Member responsible for schools 
meet with my colleague Lindsay Ferris and me, as a 
matter of urgency, to try to find a solution to the 
difficult situation experienced by nearly sixty families 
in southern Twyford, that have discovered that their 
children cannot get into the Piggott Secondary 
School?  I appreciate that academies such as the 
Piggott have control over their own admissions policy, 
but the Local Education Authority has a duty to 
ensure all children have access to an appropriate 
school.  The Piggott is Twyford's secondary school 
and is much closer to families in southern Twyford 
than the alternatives offered in Woodley and 

 



 
 

Wokingham. 
 

111.7 Winnersh Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey has asked the Executive 
Member for Highways and Transport the following 
question: 
 
Question 
When will the Council finish the process of reducing 
the speed limit from 40 to 30 on Bearwood Road; 
from the Pub to the roundabout at Old Road King 
Street Lane, which was started 3 years ago? 
 

 

111.8 Hawkedon Clive Jones has asked the Executive Member for 
Environment and Leisure the following question: 
 
Question 
I am delighted that in a Conservative leaflet 
distributed in Earley in the last couple of weeks, the 
Executive Member for Transport says that she and 
her colleagues are committed to protect Chalfont 
Woods (Area DD) from being built on.  Of course, this 
was not always the Conservative’s position and that 
when the ‘about face’ was announced after the 
Conservative loses in the 2019 local elections your 
commitment then was only for the life of the current 
Council.  
 
I am concerned, though, that the leaflet refers to 
planting more trees and to ‘cleaning’ the existing 
woodland in Chalfont Woods.  My understanding is 
that this may be the last remaining pocket of 
vegetation of its specific type in Earley, making very 
important contributions to biodiversity.  Cleaning the 
site might harm this important ecological niche.    
Is there an ecologist’s report that can be shared 
publicly to show that this was considered before the 
announcement was made in this leaflet, and 
demonstrate that what is proposed will be of benefit 
ecologically and helping to tackle climate change?    
 

 

111.9 None Specific Jim Frewin has asked the Executive Member for 
Planning and Enforcement the following question: 
 
Question 
I would like to recognise the Council Senior Officers, 
the Leaders of the all the political parties and the 
Independents, who have worked closely together 
throughout the pandemic.  Forgetting politics and 
collaborating to help protect Wokingham residents, 
they have met on a regular basis to ensure clarity of 
direction, consistency of message and alignment of 
effort.  This collaborative approach should be 

 



 
 

applauded and perhaps more widely used in the 
future.  
 
I was however, deeply disturbed to hear that recently 
one of these vital meetings was refocused at the very 
last minute and without notification, to be given over 
to a development planning presentation.  This taking 
priority over Covid issues.   
The landowner and their agents were allowed the 
opportunity to present to the most senior level of both 
Council Officers and political party leadership, prior to 
submitting an application.  
 
Question: - Is this level of preplanning ‘consultation’ 
going to be offered to other planning applicants?  
 

111.10 None Specific Shirley Boyt has asked the Executive Member for 
Environment and Leisure the following question: 
 
Question 
According to the Royal Horticultural Society, the 

optimum time for planting trees is between October 

and April.  Trees planted at this time have a greater 

chance of survival and need less watering than those 

planted at any other time of year.  How many of the 

promised quarter of a million trees has the Council 

planted during the last six months?  
 

 

111.11 Bulmershe and 
Whitegates 

Andy Croy has asked the Leader of the Council the 
following question: 
 
Question 
On 9th March 2020, I wrote to the Property 
Investment Group asking the Group to consider 
investing in the land associated with the Good 
Companions public house and adjacent businesses in 
Woodley.  
 
I have not received a reply.  
 
Has the Property Investment Group considered this 
investment?  

 

    
112.    MINUTES OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND WARD 

MATTERS 
A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to 
ask questions in relation to the latest circulated 
volume of Minutes of Meetings and Ward Matters 

 

   
 
 
 

 



 
 

113.    STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE 
COUNCIL, EXECUTIVE MEMBERS AND DEPUTY 
EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 
To receive any statements by the Leader of the 
Council, Executive Members and Deputy Executive 
Members. 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.23 the total 
time allocated to this item shall not exceed 20 
minutes, and no Member shall speak for more than 5 
minutes 

 

    
114.    MOTIONS 

To consider any motions 
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.11.2 a 
maximum period of 30 minutes will be allowed for 
each Motion to be moved, seconded and debated, 
including dealing with any amendments.  At the expiry 
of the 30-minute period debate will cease 
immediately, the mover of the Motion or amendment 
will have the right of reply before the Motion or 
amendment is put to the vote. 
 

 

114.1 None Specific Motion 454 submitted by Clive Jones 

My Liberal Democrat colleagues and I are proposing 
that this Council fully supports a cross party 
parliamentary bill that allows the creation of local 
energy schemes.  

Renewable energy generation currently accounts for 
only 11% of UK energy use - I'm sure that all of us in 
this Council agree that this has to be increased.  

A government report in 2014 stated that the 
community energy sector could deliver 3000 
megawatts of energy by 2020. Sadly after 2015, 
enthusiasm for green projects evaporated.  

The huge potential for community energy is being 
blocked by licensing rules which benefit the big 
suppliers and lead to higher energy costs. The bill will 
change all this and enable local renewable schemes 
at more affordable tariffs which will benefit both local 
residents and businesses.  

If this bill goes through Parliament, OFGEM would be 
required to enable local energy groups to create 
renewable energy for use locally with excess power 
also being used locally by businesses and residents 
rather than being passed back into the national grid 

 



 
 

which is currently a costly exercise.  

Locally produced renewable energy from solar panels 
on commercial and Council owned buildings and 
houses would most likely be cheaper than energy 
provided by the big energy suppliers. As I said earlier, 
this could be a big benefit for our local residents.  

The bill already has the support of two of the 
Borough’s MP's; we are asking the Council leader to 
contact the other two MP's inviting them to also 
support the bill.  

We are also asking the Councils Chief Executive to 
write to the Minister of State for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy asking them to support the aims of 
the bill.  

Hopefully all parties will support this Lib Dem motion 
this evening and hopefully in the future we can 
consider setting up a successful local energy 
company of our own. 
 

114.2 None Specific Motion 455 submitted by Gregor Murray 
 
Building on our commitment to planting 250,000 new 
trees, this Council commits to achieving Tree Cities of 
the World status for our Borough as part of the 
creation of a Borough wide Tree Strategy. 
 
This will be done by: 
 
1)  Maintaining clear responsibility within the 
council for the care of trees across our Borough. 
 
2)  Agreeing a policy for the care and 
management of our forests and trees across the 
Borough. This must include standards for tree care, 
where and when they apply and penalties for non-
compliance. 
 
3)  Work with external partners to create and 
maintain an inventory of the local tree resource so 
that effective long-term planning for planting, care 
and removal can be established. 
 
4)  Setting aside an annual budget for the 
implementation of the tree management strategy and 
management plan. 
 
5)  Hold an annual celebration of our Borough’s 
trees and acknowledge the residents schools, 

 



 
 

charities and Council staff that contribute to our city 
tree programme. 
 
6)  Create a ‘Garden Forest’ program to allow 
residents the opportunity to plant some of our 
250,000 new tree commitment in their own gardens. 
 
7)  Develop a continuous education process 
aimed at informing residents of the importance of 
trees, tree planting and tree protection and how best 
to care for the trees in their own gardens and 
communities. 
 
8)  Committing to planting a Covid-19 memorial 
wood within the Borough, of native trees, as a long-
lasting memorial to those who have lost their lives 
during the 2020-21 Pandemic.  
 
Once the above conditions are met an application for 
Tree Cities of the World status should be made as 
soon as possible. 
 
Further information on the Tree Cities of the World 
status and benefits can be found at 
www.treecitiesoftheworld.org 
 

114.3 None Specific Motion 456 submitted by Pauline Helliar-Symons 
 
Wokingham Borough has been found to be the 
healthiest place in England, according to England’s 
Health Index, published by the Office for National 
Statistics. In addition, the need for improved mental 
health provision across our community was recently 
identified and action has been taken. These 
developments are welcome, but there is always more 
to do. 
 
The Health Survey for England 2019 estimates that 
28% of adults in England are obese. A further 36.2% 
are identified as being overweight. This can result in 
increased hospital admissions and is frequently linked 
to numerous medical conditions, including type 2 
diabetes, which affects many of our residents. 
 
Therefore, this Council: 
 
1. Commends the hard work of Officers and 

Councillors in delivering the outstanding result 
of the Borough being the healthiest place in 
England; 
 

2. Notes the work completed on the Health and 

 

http://www.treecitiesoftheworld.org/


 
 

Wellbeing, Strategy including the work on 
creating physically active communities and work 
with our health partners in this area; 
 

3. Thanks the residents of the Borough for their 
continued commitment to striving to live 
healthier lives, and helping their family, friends 
and neighbours to improve their lifestyles; and 
 

4. Commits to review and revise the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, learning the lessons of the 
COVID-19 pandemic to reflect the need to 
tackle obesity in all ages in our community. 

 
114.4 None Specific Motion 457 submitted by Shirley Boyt 

 
This Council aspires to a 70% recycling rate by 2030 
and resolves to make it easier for every resident to 
recycle at every opportunity whether at home or on 
the move:  
 
1. by replacing all litter bins in the Borough with dual 

litter and recycling bins commencing with those in 
local town centres, shopping parades and parks; 
 

2. to provide dual litter and recycling bins on popular 
walking routes to schools in places not covered in 
2 above.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Anne Hunter Democratic and Electoral Services Lead Specialist 
Tel 0118 974 6051 
Email anne.hunter@wokingham.gov.uk 
Postal Address Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN 



 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF 
THE COUNCIL 

HELD ON 18 FEBRUARY 2021 FROM 8.00 PM TO 11.55 PM 
Members Present 
Councillors: Malcolm Richards (Mayor), Keith Baker (Deputy Mayor), Parry Batth, 
Rachel Bishop-Firth, Laura Blumenthal, Chris Bowring, Shirley Boyt, Prue Bray, 
Rachel Burgess, Jenny Cheng, UllaKarin Clark, Stephen Conway, Gary Cowan, 
Andy Croy, Richard Dolinski, Carl Doran, Lindsay Ferris, Michael Firmager, Paul Fishwick, 
Jim Frewin, Maria Gee, Guy Grandison, Charlotte Haitham Taylor, John Halsall, 
David Hare, Pauline Helliar-Symons, Emma Hobbs, Graham Howe, Clive Jones, 
Pauline Jorgensen, John Kaiser, Sarah Kerr, Dianne King, Abdul Loyes, Tahir Maher, 
Charles Margetts, Adrian Mather, Ken Miall, Andrew Mickleburgh, Stuart Munro, 
Gregor Murray, Barrie Patman, Angus Ross, Daniel Sargeant, Imogen Shepherd-DuBey, 
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey, Caroline Smith, Wayne Smith, Bill Soane, Alison Swaddle and 
Simon Weeks 
 
 
98. APOLOGIES  
Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillor Oliver Whittle.  
 
99. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
The Minutes of the meeting of the Council, held on 21 January 2021, were confirmed as a 
correct record, subject to inclusion of a missing section from the recorded vote table and 
resolution relating to Minute 97.1 – Motion 450 submitted by Andy Croy, as set out below: 
 

 Daniel Sargeant  

 Chris Smith  

 Wayne Smith  

 Bill Soane  

 Alison Swaddle  

 Simon Weeks  

 
Upon being put to the vote, the Motion was declared by the Mayor to be lost.  
 
The Minutes, as amended, would be signed by the Mayor at a subsequent date. 
 
Gary Cowan referred to two issues in the Minutes which, in his opinion, were not an 
accurate record of the discussion. The Mayor confirmed that the Minutes were not a 
verbatim record. Any specific issues relating to accuracy could be considered and voted 
upon by the Council. 
 
100. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
Declarations of interest were submitted as follows: 
 
Lindsay Ferris declared a Personal Interest in Item 94 – Medium Term Financial Plan and 
Associated Reports, on the grounds that he was a Non-Executive Director of Loddon 
Homes. 
 
UllaKarin Clark declared a Personal Interest in Item 94 – Medium Term Financial Plan and 
Associated Reports, on the grounds that she was a Non-Executive Director of Loddon 
Homes. 
 

17

Agenda Item 99.



 

John Kaiser declared a Personal interest in Item 94 – Medium Term Financial Plan and 
Associated Reports, on the grounds that he was a Non-Executive Director of Optalis and 
Wokingham Housing Ltd. 
 
Wayne Smith declared a Personal Interest in Item 94 – Medium Term Financial Plan and 
Associated Reports, on the grounds that he was a Non- Executive Director of WBC 
Holdings Ltd.  
 
Stuart Munro declared a Personal Interest in Item 94 – Medium Term Financial Plan and 
Associated Reports, on the grounds that he was a Non- Executive Director of WBC 
Holdings Ltd.  
 
John Halsall declared a Personal Interest in Item 94 – Medium Term Financial Plan and 
Associated Reports, on the grounds that he was a Non-Executive Director of Optalis. 
 
Daniel Sergeant declared a Personal Interest in Item 94 – Medium Term Financial Plan 
and Associated Reports, on the grounds that he was a Non-Executive Director of 
Wokingham Housing Ltd, and Berry Brook Homes Ltd. 
 
All the above Members took part in discussions related to Item 94 and voted on the matter.  
 
101. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
The Mayor informed Members of the ongoing work between his chosen charity and 
Homestart. The latest project was an art competition for children aged 4 to 11. Details 
were available on the Council and Homestart websites.  
 
102. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Mayor invited members of the public to 
submit questions to the appropriate Members. 
 
102.1 Alistair Neal asked the Leader of the Council the following question:  
 
Question 
This is a question about Settled Status for EU citizens. The deadline for EU citizens to 
register for Settled Status is 30th June, 2021. 
 
The September Council meeting passed a Motion that called on officers to review the 
Council's plans with respect to EU Settled Status. 
 
Other Councils are taking active steps to contact EU residents; e.g. Brighton & Hove City 
Council have delivered a postcard to all addresses in the city, with a friendly message on 
the front, "We want EU citizens to stay in Brighton & Hove", and information sources, 
including phone numbers, on the back. 
  
There are 4,097 EU citizens in the Wokingham Borough according to the 2018 Electoral 
Roll, but there may be others, living in less formal circumstances such as sub-lets, HMOs 
or agricultural accommodation. 
 
Some EU citizens are working where they have no formal contact with employers and HR 
resources to tell them about the new rules, such as self-employed tradesmen workers in 
the app-based gig economy. 
  

18



 

I’m sure that the Council would like all its EU citizens to continue to live their lives in the 
Borough. With these points in mind, could the Council Leader give me an update on the 
review called for in the Council’s September Motion, and on its plan of action going 
forward for contacting Wokingham’s EU citizens before July? 
 
Answer 
Following the Motion last September, the Council has taken the following action to mitigate 
the impact of Brexit for EU nationals living the Borough. 
 
WBC is actively promoting information and advice targeted at EU citizens. Particularly, the 
need to register through the EU Settlement programme if they wish to remain in the UK 
and have access to services that they are entitled to under the scheme.  Under the current 
regulations EU Citizens that have registered for settled status will be able access public 
services such as, NHS, adult social care services, benefits, housing/homelessness, 
housing services, primary and secondary schooling, and  professional qualifications 
gained in EU countries will continue to be recognised. 
 
Advice and information was distributed through a newsletter to 5000 residents in early 
February 2021. Information is further disseminated through regular social media 
messaging, reaching, 13.5K followers as well as on the Council’s website. The Council 
additionally plans to send information to community groups, third-party charities and 
organisations that are likely to be in contact with EU residents. Advice on how businesses 
can support EU nations will be distributed though the Business Matters newsletter.  
  
The Council’s Public Health partner, PPP, issue licences to HMO’s and plan to ensure that 
information around settlement documentation for EU citizens will encourage landlords to 
share information with their tenants. The Council is also working in partnership with local 
housing providers to ensure that they share relevant information with their tenants.  
 
The Council has offered to assist residents with the settled status app. The Registry Office 
and One Front Door (CAB) are providing direct information to EU citizens as well as 
offering document scanning and one to one support services. Registry officers will become 
designated under Government plans to support EU nationals seeking settled status. 
 
There are several other actions that the Council is taking. 
 
Supplementary Question 
At last month’s Executive meeting you said that the Golden Thread that runs through the 
Borough is the Council. Also, that the Council holds a unique position in contacting 
residents. With that in mind, could you tell me if there is any target for the number of EU 
citizens you expect to take up Settled Status in the Borough? 
 
Supplementary Answer 
I don’t think it is for us to do that. It is a decision for them. The obligation on us is to make 
sure that they are aware of what they need to do to do that. 
 
102.2 Philip Cunnington asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the 

following question:  
 
Question 
What additional provision has been put in place to support the mental health and wellbeing 
of 15-18 year olds in the Borough whose education and exams have been particularly 

19



 

badly disrupted during the Covid lockdowns? 
 
Answer 
The Covid pandemic has affected the lives and education of children and young people 
across the Borough and we have been working with schools and settings on providing the 
right resources and information via the schools hub to support staff and student emotional 
health and wellbeing. 
 
Whilst all secondary schools will have different arrangements to support the wellbeing of 
their students as part of their pastoral care responsibilities, we have invited all schools to 
training sessions developed under the Wellbeing for Education Return roll out. 
 
This training, designed to enable schools to use psychological education to better manage 
the impact of coronavirus has been developed by the Anna Freud Centre, Mind Education, 
the Royal College of Psychiatrists and the Department for Education and Health Education 
England. The Wokingham Educational Psychology Service and School Improvement 
Service have reviewed the materials and shared this bespoke package for use within 
Wokingham settings.  
 
This term our teams have come together again to deliver further sessions to senior 
members of staff in settings so that they can support their students focussing on specific 
areas such as Bereavement and Loss; Supporting Recovery from Anxiety and Low Mood; 
and Trauma in the Context of Covid-19. 
 
In addition, the LA in partnership with the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has 
commissioned Kooth, which is a free, safe and anonymous online counselling support for 
young people aged between 10 and 25. Many schools and settings will also access ARC 
Youth Counselling in Wokingham, or make referrals to the AnDY clinic which offers 
assessments and treatment for children and young people experiencing anxiety disorders 
and depression. 
 
We also have training for individual schools. 
 
102.3 Richard Tredgett asked the Executive Member for Resident Services, 

Communications and Emissions the following question:  
 
Question 
While I was pleased to see the Winter 2020 Wokingham Borough News includes an article 
on mental health and well-being during lockdown, I was disappointed that the new, 
excellent, and Council funded, Wokingham Recovery College was not mentioned.  Can 
you assure me that the Recovery College will get a full page in the spring edition enabling 
residents to find out about and apply for the wide range of online courses, all designed to 
promote mental well-being? 
 
Answer 
I am answering this question as it relates to Communications. 
 
It is correct that there was no article about the Recovery College in the winter edition of 
Borough News simply because the college only opened after Borough News was sent to 
print. We start planning the Borough News about three months in advance and, at the time 
the Recovery College article was not ready to be released.  
 

20



 

But I would agree that the college provides an excellent service, which is why it has been 
funded by the council and why it has been extensively promoted, with a news release to 
announce the launch and regular social media updates that have included monthly 
promotion of the courses available and case studies of students. Facebook posts alone 
about the college have reached about 17,000 views. It has also been included more than 
once in the Wokingham Borough Connect, the direct email service sent out to 40,000 
residents with a 65% opening rate.  
 
We will continue to promote the college in a variety of ways and can assure you that it will 
be included in the next Borough News, early spring edition, in which we are planning a full 
page on the mental health support available to all Borough residents. 
 
102.4 Peter Humphreys asked the Executive Member for Regeneration the 

following question:  
 
Question 
Despite the many unoccupied units in Peach Place, the Council decided to press on with 
destroying Elms Field to create even more empty units.  Whilst Covid hasn’t helped, these 
units pre-date it and many created during the regeneration have been empty for well over 
two years.  Yet, even during the pandemic, several new businesses, not including ones 
relocating a few hundred metres to take advantage of a rent free holiday, have opened in 
the Borough. Would you please state how much, if any, income has been generated by the 
shop units at Elms Field as a result of the regeneration, and how this compares with the 
original budget? 
 
Answer 
Contrary to your statement in your question, far from being unoccupied, the regeneration is 
nearly at full capacity. 90 % of the units are let by income.  
 
With this, and the strong residential sales being made, the regeneration is already proving 
a huge success for the Council and generating good levels of income. The income 
achieved in the current year is sufficient to cover the project costs. Indeed the income is 
set to grow each year as more businesses open up and receipts received go in to pay 
down the debt.  
 
Forecasts currently identify income in excess of finance costs of £900K, £1.1m and £1.5m 
for the next 3 years – this is money that will be used to fund Council services across the 
Borough. As a note this also includes the rent free period which forms part of the project 
costs and is industry best practice to help support new businesses whilst they fit out and 
start to trade. 
  
I certainly do not recognise your, quite misleading, description of ‘empty for years’, as 
many of the businesses had already signed up or started their fit out whilst our main 
building contractors were still on site.  
 
This included Elms Field where the Council only took possession of the development when 
it was completed last September, by which time several of the businesses were already up 
and running along Elms Walk. Others have followed on in the few months since.  
 
I’m pleased to confirm that out of the remaining units, four are already under offer, with two 
of them currently going through the legal process. And I am looking forward to shortly 
being able to issue news of these exciting new tenants. Of the few that remain at Elms 

21



 

Field, we are keen to ensure we select the right tenants, ones that are a good fit for our 
town for the longer term. However, we continue to receive interest in these, along with the 
former Clintons unit, that remains with the business’s administrators. Our letting agents 
carry on reinforcing to us the interest being received and advise us that, as a town, we are 
ahead of the game.  
 
Indeed, the fact that so many new businesses have continued to sign up and open units, 
despite the ongoing threat of Covid, not just in Wokingham’s regeneration but right across 
the town centre, is a massive testament to Wokingham, and the catalyst of our 
regeneration project. It’s a clear sign that, where others might struggle, Wokingham 
remains on the road to a strong and vibrant recovery. 
 
Supplementary Question 
I am most amazed by that answer. To say that 90% of the units have been let. As can be 
seen in the photograph I took a few days ago, they are all empty. But let’s move on. On a 
similar theme, five houses were built and completed more than two years ago in Rose 
Street – as part of the Peach Place scheme. Last month, the asking price was reduced yet 
again. Would you please enlighten us as to the paper loss to date on these properties? 
 
Supplementary Answer 
I will have to give you a written answer in terms of the exact number of properties. But, 
what I can tell you is some of the numbers relating to the properties we have released. We 
are doing it, of course, right across the Borough and right across Wokingham town. Some 
of it is in partnership with David Wilson Homes. We have completed a number of houses, 
but not all at this time. We have completed or reserved 21 houses, despite only 10 being 
fully built and we have just released another 12 on to the market.  
 
Trying to put across that it is all doom and gloom in Wokingham is clearly not the case. 
Actually, I think that your photograph was in front of two of the units at Elms Field that are 
actually let. 
 
102.5 Frank Moore asked the Executive Member for Finance and Housing the 

following question:  
 
Question 
During the past few weeks the Council, through the Standards Committee and the Audit 
Committee, have been shown to be infringing the rules of the Council Constitution.  As 
regards the Standards Committee this has been going on for nearly two years.  These are 
serious breaches of the Wokingham Borough Council Constitution and reflect badly in the 
eyes of the public on our Council.  As such, I would like to ask through the Leader of the 
Council for these serious shortcomings to be formally investigated through an independent 
person such as a retired QC or judge? 
 
Answer 
Councillor Halsall has already explained that there was no constitutional breach with 
regards to the composition of the Standards Committee and why this was so.  
 
You then go on to suggest that the report considered by the Audit Committee at its 
meeting of 23 November was changed before being presented to the Executive on 28 
January. I can category confirm that this was not the case. 
 
The report reviewed by Audit Committee was presented to the Executive fully and 

22



 

unabridged as required in the Constitution.  Audit Committee is required to review 
progress against Treasury Management indicators (which they rightly did) and note further 
information in the report. 
 
Executive on 28 January was asked to (and did):  
 
 “note Appendix A, the Treasury Management Mid-Year report, which was agreed at Audit 
Committee on 23rd November 2020”.   
 
This is stated quite clearly in the covering report recommendations and, furthermore, is 
covered in more detail at the second paragraph of the executive summary to the Executive 
report.  
 
Therefore, the report that the Audit Committee debated and agreed democratically is the 
one being presented to Council and does not need to be presented back to Audit 
Committee. 
 
However, in passing on the report noted by the Audit Committee to the Executive, our 
statutory Chief Finance Officer thought it would be helpful for Executive and the public to 
be aware of the broader impact of the treasury management activities by including the 
income generated by our commercial activities funded by our borrowing. This information 
was conveyed by way of a covering report and I would consider it to be extremely helpful, 
particularly given recent media debate around the cost of Council debt to the local 
taxpayer.  So the Treasury Mid-Year report presented to the Audit Committee was not 
changed, the Audit Committee discharged their responsibilities under the constitution and 
the Chief Finance Officer is required to provide a covering report in passing the Mid-Year 
report on to the Executive. There is no constitutional breach here whatsoever. 
 
Supplementary Question 
Councillor Kaiser, thank you for not answering the question.  
 
Councillor Halsall, Wokingham Borough Council is daily becoming more like Handforth 
Parish Council under your leadership, for the following reasons.  
 
It is chaotic – three quick examples: 
 

 Your response to two breaches of the Constitution; 

 The comment that was going to be made by Councillor Conway tonight, querying why 
the Council bothers to have a Constitution when it can be so easily overridden; 

 Publishing Ernst & Young’s report for the Audit Committee on 22 February when Ernst 
& Young stated that the report should not have been published. 

 
In last week’s Wokingham Paper Councillor Halsall, as Leader of the Council stated that 
“the buck stops here”. Please can you advise, Councillor Halsall, how you intend to 
address these issues, to salvage the credibility of Wokingham Borough Council under your 
leadership in the eyes of the electorate? 
 
Supplementary Answer 
That was a question for John Halsall. You obviously weren’t listening because I answered 
both your questions.  
 
 

23



 

102.6 Beth Rowland asked the Executive Member for Regeneration the following 
question:  

Question 
Some years ago when I was a Borough Councillor and sat on the working party that dealt 
with the regeneration of Wokingham Town centre, the plan was that money generated by 
this would go to regenerate other town centres in the Borough. 
  
Please will you tell me how much has Wokingham’s regeneration cost in total and how 
much in profit has it returned to date? 
 
Answer 
The Wokingham Regeneration, to date, has proved to be a huge success and the 
programme is progressing well, with both Peach Place and the commercial part of Elms 
Field complete. The residential sections of Elms Field continue in conjunction with our 
partner David Wilson Homes (DWH) and the Carnival Hub is now under construction and 
due for completion next summer. The scheme has won several awards for its place-
making, quality and financial approach. 
 
There were several objectives behind the Wokingham Regeneration project with many 
outputs. Its key objective was first and foremost to deliver a town centre fit for, and 
reflective of the, then existing and, now, growing population of the town. 
 
The Council chose to act as developer in this process because it gave us much more 
control over the design, layout, architecture and, importantly, type of uses and businesses 
coming into the town – we were clear that we wanted to resist the national trend of 
introducing the same old national tenants and ensuring Wokingham retained its feel and 
offer from local independent traders. This we have done very successfully. It is one of the 
reasons why Wokingham is proving so popular.  
 
Despite the current pandemic, whilst the majority of town centres up and down the country 
are struggling to identify tenants, Wokingham continues to ‘buck the trend’ with a lot of 
interest from potential tenants. As I said before we are now 90% let across both schemes 
and have another two leases currently going through the legal process. 
 
In terms of residential sales, there is enormous interest in Elms Field, with the majority of 
the ‘stand-alone’ residential being reserved ahead of it being built, and above our 
budgeted figures. Currently, on the stand-alone residential scheme with our partners 
DWH, we have completed, or had reserved 21 homes, despite only 10 being fully built. We 
have just released another 12 onto the market. 
 
The total cost of delivering all schemes will be ascertained upon final completion of all 
schemes. Based on the viability and financial appraisal established before work 
commenced, and updated more recently, the total cost is expected to be £113m, creating 
assets valued at £162m, £48m of which is realised through residential sales. 
 
In addition, when the scheme is fully operational, the surplus income is expected to be 
circa £2m per annum. Over the fullness of time, when debt is fully repaid, the surplus will 
be in the region of £5m – £6m per annum.  
 
Supplementary Question 
When I sat on the Committee it was not clear to me that there would be no returns in my 
lifetime for Woodley. The figures given are projected over many years. Could you give me 

24



 

some idea of when other towns in the Borough, including Woodley, will benefit from all this 
money that has been spent on Wokingham? 
 
Supplementary Answer 
As I stated in my earlier answer, the money from this goes to pay for other Council 
services. This is taking Capital and producing Revenue from selling houses and rental 
income. We have already started regeneration in other areas around the Borough, despite 
what we are doing here. We have already regenerated Phoenix, for example. We are 
working on Gorse Ride and other smaller schemes. We have already purchased, through 
the Property Investment Group, buildings in Twyford and Woodley.  
 
We are not stopping at just Wokingham. But it is clear to make this point, and I am not 
sure why you have not recognised it having been involved early on, that this scheme is not 
solely related to generating other areas of the Borough. That happens on its own. It is not 
linked to this. This is to produce revenue to help fund other vital services.  
 
We don’t have as much money coming in to the Council from central Government. In fact 
we were threatened with negative revenue support grant, as you know. At the moment, we 
at zero for that. It is always with the longer view. This scheme, if you think of it like a 
household mortgage, takes a while to pay back. This has a pay back over 20 years. 
 
 
102.7 Anne Chadwick has asked the Executive Member for Resident Services, 

Communications and Emissions the following question:  
 
Question 
In July 2019 you announced that the Council were committing to energy efficiency 
upgrades and solar PV for the roofs of our schools. Can you give me an update on how 
many schools have had energy efficiency upgrades and solar installations so far and how 
many are planned for this year? 
 
Answer 
I am pleased to advise that, in spite of Covid preventing us from getting on to school sites 
for obvious reasons, the energy efficiency programme is progressing at pace, the key 
elements being:  
 

 LED lighting replacements to over ten different sites. This equates to a carbon saving 
of some 8 tonnes of CO2 per annum and annual energy savings of over £3,000 per 
annum. We have a plan to install over nine additional school sites with LED lighting 
replacements by the end of April 2021, saving a further 28 Tonnes of CO2 and an 
additional £11,000 per annum for our schools.  

 

 Loft Insulation to five different sites. This equates to a carbon saving of some 2.5 
tonnes of CO2 per annum and annual energy savings of over £1,500 per annum for 
our schools. We have three more sites planned before June 2021 

 

 Replacement Glazing in three schools. This equates to a carbon saving of just over 1 
tonne of CO2 per annum and an annual energy saving for our schools of over £500 
per annum.  

 

 Solar PV to have been installed to Arborfield Primary School and Addington School, 
saving 18 tonnes of CO2 annually and an annual energy saving of £8,900 per annum. 

25



 

In addition, we have a plan to install further Solar PV arrays at six schools before the 
end of the summer, with another three likely before the end of September. We have 
another 20 who we are talking to at the moment and we will move forwards once the 
Covid lockdown has passed us by.  

 
We have also added controls to five sites totalling a saving of 2 tonnes per annum of CO2 
and an annual energy saving of £1,000 per annum.  
 
All that I have referenced above equates to a total CO2 savings per annum by the end of 
July 2021 of 83.5 tonnes and a cost saving of £37,900 per annum for our schools which is 
going back into their budgets. 
 
Supplementary Question 
Can you tell me which schools you are currently working on in relation to energy efficiency, 
solar panels and lighting? 
 
Supplementary Answer 
In terms of energy efficiency and lighting schemes, there are quite a lot on the list, 
including some of the biggest schools in the Borough. Places like Bulmershe, St Crispins, 
Rivermead Primary, Loddon Primary, Hawkedon, Bearwood, South Lake, The Holt and 
Shinfield St Marys. In terms of solar panels, the six we are working with at the moment are 
Highwood Primary, Shinfield St Marys, Loddon Primary, The Forest comprehensive, 
Whiteknights and one that I know is particularly close to your heart, Woodley Primary 
School. 
 
102.8 Jane Davenport asked the Executive Member for Environment and Leisure 

the following question:  
 
Question 
David Wilson Homes have destroyed Montague Park SANG for the last two consecutive 
years to plant a wildflower meadow so that Wokingham Council will adopt the site.  The 
SANG is home to endangered species and species protected by law, namely Roe Deer 
and Hedgehogs. The SANG’s plant life was killed by indiscriminately spraying glyphosate, 
a chemical described by the WHO as “probably carcinogenic to humans” and banned in 
countless countries around the world and many Boroughs in the UK.  A chemical that 
when ingested by humans or animals can cause internal burns, nausea, vomiting and 
diarrhoea, not to mention its links with non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma and the decline of our bee 
population. The SANG was further destroyed by ploughing, leaving huge furrows, turning it 
in to an unusable mud pit. 
 
In view of the total failure by David Wilson Homes to plant a wildflower meadow in 2019, 
and, in the absence of wildlife survey data, residents themselves have demonstrated 
species inhabit this SANG that are protected by law, what have Wokingham Council done 
to ensure the 2020 attempt has been successfully carried out, because if this second 
attempt fails, the meadow cannot be destroyed in 2021 for a third consecutive year. 
 
Answer 
You are right that David Wilson Homes are responsible for the SANG at Montague Park 
and have carried out the planting at the site. 
 
Because the 2019 attempt failed, Wokingham Borough Council wanted to make sure that 
the 2020 planting went ahead successfully. To do that we ensured that the existing 

26



 

vegetation was effectively removed. This was to prevent existing plants from competing 
with the wildflower seed mix and preventing effective growth. We also verified the seed 
mix that was purchased by the developer, to prevent any repetition of the errors that 
occurred in 2019. We checked and ensured that the ground was properly prepared to 
ensure maximum seed contact with the ground and therefore give the greatest chance of 
germination and success. We also made site inspections before and following the laying of 
the seed to verify that the seed has been laid correctly Additionally, we ensured that works 
were communicated via signage to users of the particular section of the SANG and 
ensured that the developer laid the seeds at the optimum time of year for growth, 
mimicking when the germination would normally happen in nature. 
 
This is the work we have done to support the 2020 planting, but the responsibility still lies 
with David Wilson Homes.  
 
Supplementary Question 
Did David Wilson Homes carry out wildlife surveys prior to destroying the Montague Park 
SANG? When will we see these results? 
 
Supplementary Answer 
You will have to ask David Wilson Homes as they are still responsible for the SANG. We 
haven’t taken over responsibility for the SANG yet. 
 
 
102.9 Extension of Public Question Time  
It was proposed by Andy Croy and seconded by Sarah Kerr that the Public Question Time 
be extended to allow responses to the remaining public questions. 
 
The Mayor confirmed that the Public Question Time would be extended.  
 
102.10 Peter Dennis asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the 

following question:  
 
Question 
With regards to the Coppid Beach Park and Ride, the Climate Emergency Action Plan 
states in outcomes a "10% increase in the number of Wokingham borough residents who 
use a train or park and ride at least once a week."  But I contend that is a fallacy in that 
residents on that side of Wokingham do not need a place to park vehicles and residents 
from other parts of the town will have to drive past the town to get to it (if used the town 
would then lose car park income). 
 
Therefore, the use case is of people from outside of town using it (which leads to some 
interesting thoughts). This leads to a query about the sustainability and business case for 
this park and ride. 
 
How will this park and ride contribute to the climate emergency action plan bearing in mind 
the continued need to monitor it to demonstrate its worth? 
 
Answer 
The Coppid Beech Park and Ride has a full “WebTAG compliant” Business Case, which 
was completed in order to attract funding from the Local Enterprise Partnership.  This case 
has been independently assessed and verified. The business case suggests that there will 
be users parking here and travelling to both Bracknell and Wokingham Town Centres 

27



 

which will reduce the number of single occupancy car journeys and carbon emissions.  
 
The Park and Ride was actually proposed and designed before the Council declared a 
Climate Emergency, as a means of reducing congestion for the town centre. The Climate 
Emergency Action Plan reductions rely partly on increases in Park and Ride and train use. 
So the business case wasn’t around Climate Emergency, but does help to contribute to 
that.  
 
It is likely that the carbon saving will be from those travelling from the east of the Borough 
to access Wokingham town centre (it is not just for people in Wokingham) as well as those 
from within the Borough accessing Bracknell town centre. Even though some of these 
people may not be travelling from within the Borough, a large number will be. I hope you 
will agree that cutting their carbon intensive journey short is still a good thing. The aim of 
the car park is to reduce the number of car trips into Wokingham, thereby reducing 
mileage by private car which delivers carbon reductions.  
 
Finally, we will be investigating the possibility of providing other links such as between 
Coppid Beech and Twyford Station, to improve public access to the express train network, 
further reducing car journeys.  
 
Supplementary Question 
Looking at the financials, this car park is costing £2.7m which equates roughly to 5% of the 
Climate budget from previous years. But the actual saving is going to be less than 0.005% 
of the Climate budget. When you look at this costing, the maximum cost of a cycle lane, 
according to Manchester, where they built it is £1.5m per km. As such, I would contend 
that this money would have been better spent on a proper cycling facility that actually did 
go down London Road, that is, the stretch from Coppid Beech to the town centre. How 
does that equate? 
 
Supplementary Answer 
It equates, as I said before, as the business case was approved before the Climate 
Emergency. It wasn’t based on Climate Emergency, it was based on reducing congestion. 
As you have seen, and will hear more on later, we have significant plans for improving 
cycleways. It is not an either or. This plan was before Climate Emergency and the 
business case was not predicated on climate change achievements. It was predicated on 
a good business case which was independently assessed.  
 
With regard to the Climate Emergency Action Plan, there is an outcome which relates to all 
of our Park and Ride Sites which is an increase in Park and Ride and train use. You are 
correct, however, that in this example it is likely that the carbon saving will potentially be 
from those travelling from outside our borough to access Wokingham Town Centre, as well 
as those from within the borough accessing Bracknell Town Centre. Even though some of 
these people are not travelling from within the Borough, I hope you will agree that cutting 
their carbon intensive journey short is still a good thing. The aim of the car park is to 
reduce the number of trips coming into both Town Centres, thus reducing mileage by 
private car, which will result in these Carbon savings as well as other benefits such as 
reduced congestion. 
 
102.11 Keith Kerr asked the Leader of the Council the following question:  
 
Question 
There is an ongoing covert campaign by right wing activists and political organisations to 

28



 

delegitimise the call for fairness, equality and justice that resonated in the UK and all over 
the world at the birth of the Black Lives Matter movement.  Cllr Halsall, do you expect your 
commitments to equality, given in writing, on behalf of WBC to be honoured or is the 
Council’s inaction and unwillingness to engage with concerned BME residents, part of your 
personal de-legitimisation strategy? 
 
Answer 
As I have said to you many times, my mandate is as Leader of Wokingham Borough 
Council. UK and universal issues are for another forum; I neither comment upon them nor 
do I advocate Wokingham Borough Council aligning itself to them or distancing itself from 
them.  
  
I am not given to virtue signalling.   
  
My ambition is that all residents of Wokingham Borough feel valued, safe, and secure and 
that inequality is tackled, discrimination challenged and diversity celebrated. My focus is to 
create the culture and the practices within the council and borough to not only identify 
current concerns and remedy them, but also address future concerns as they occur. 
We have been and will continue to reach out to all in the community. Indeed, I understand 
that you have had discussions with officers and you and I have met, which I can say, was 
enjoyable and productive.   
  
As set out in our Community Vision, we are committed to ensuring that Wokingham 
Borough is a great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business. 
We want to enrich the lives of all our residents, in safe and strong communities, and tackle 
inequality together.  
  
We have various important roles in tackling inequality and will fulfil these as:   
 

 A service provider – by making sure we meet different needs for different people and 
ensure we treat everyone fairly.   

 An employer – by making sure we treat workers and potential workers fairly.  Offering a 
safe and accessible workplace free from discrimination.    

 Community Leaders – by working with residents, partners, Councillors and staff to 
enrich the lives of everyone.    

  
We are currently working to develop an Equality Plan 2021-25.  In it we 
will prioritise listening to, and learning from, our communities and use this 
information to effectively deliver improved services that work well for everyone. We will 
actively champion our commitment to equality, diversity and inclusion and aim to build a 
diverse and engaged workforce, where everyone is respected.  
  
We are utilising the Local Government Association Equality Framework 
to continually review and improve our services for people with protected characteristics, as 
defined by the Equality Act 2010. Protected characteristics are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or 
belief, sex and sexual orientation.  
  
We are embedding the four elements of the Local Government Equality Framework (listed 
below) into our planned work programmes to ensure we 
can assess and track our achievements; which are categorised as 
‘developing’, ‘achieving’ or ‘excellent’.   

29



 

  
1. Understanding and Working with your Communities;  
2. Leadership and Organisational Commitment;  
3. Responsive Services and Customer Care;  
4. Diverse and Engaged Workforce.  
  
The framework will also be used to compare our performance with that of our peers to 
ensure continuous learning and improvement. I hope to bring that to the Executive in 
March. 
 
Supplementary Question 
As a Black, British-born Englishman, to a fellow traveller Italian immigrant, when do you 
intend to reactivate the BME Forum, which you will be perfectly entitled to attend as a 
foreigner as well, so that we can hold you to account for what is being done in our name, 
knowing that the May elections are coming up soon? 
 
Supplementary Answer 
We are both British, Keith. 
 
102.12 Mike Smith asked the Executive Member for Finance and Housing the 

following question:  
 
Question 
Question related to Agenda item 94.2 The Capital Programme Strategy 2021-2024, sub 
paragraph 2 the three-year capital programme for 2021 - 2024 – Appendix B; as follows: 
 
On page 1 of Appendix B, Capital Programme, under the item Roads and Transport -
  Improvements to existing structures,  there are two lines with exactly the same wording 
which is  “Bridge Strengthening – Continued enhancements to highway structures.” One is 
a modest £225,000 in each of the next 3 years, the other is more substantial £3,800,000 
occurring only in year 22-23.  
 
You may remember my enquiring of the Council, a number of times, about the 
replacement of the footbridge adjacent to Earley Station which spans both the railway and 
the motorway and is in an advanced state of decay.  I am sure there is a plausible reason 
for the apparent duplication – but what I am really interested in how much of this capital 
programme has been allocated to the replacement of the footbridge at Earley station? 
 
Answer 
The item in the MTFP capital programme called Bridge Strengthening (Continued 
enhancements to highway structures), which has £3.8million allocated in 22/23 is solely 
there to fund the project to replace the WBC owned Earley Station Footbridge which links 
Nightingale Road in Woodley to the Earley Station forecourt (but not to the platforms). The 
other item, which has £225,000 allocated for each of the three years is there to undertake 
various bridge strengthening work as part of our programme of planned bridge 
maintenance across the Borough.  
 
On reflection, the Council accepts that having two items with the same name and 
description in the capital programme is not ideal and we will endeavour to ensure that this 
does not occur in future years. 
 
Supplementary Question 

30



 

Are there any other such duplications that will confuse the layperson? 
 
Supplementary Answer 
I would suggest that there are not, but you have found one, so well done! 
 
103. PETITIONS  
There were no Petitions received.  
 
104. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN AND ASSOCIATED REPORTS  
The Council considered four reports which together comprised a single Agenda item: 
 

 The Housing Revenue Account Budget 2021/22 as set out on Agenda pages 47 to 56; 

 The Capital Programme and Strategy 2021/24 as set out on Agenda pages 57 to 96; 

 The Treasury Management Strategy 2021/24 as set out on Agenda pages 97 to 142; 

 The Medium Term Financial Plan 2021/24 – Revenue Budget Submission 2021/22 as 
set out on Agenda pages 143 to 146. 

 
The Mayor reminded Members that a total of 90 minutes would be set aside for the 
debate.  
 
The Mayor also reminded Members that Appendix A to the Medium Term Financial Plan 
(the Statutory Resolution) had been sent to all Members and was available on the 
Council’s website. 
 
Statutory Resolution 
104.1 Councillor John Halsall, Leader of the Council 2021/22, Budget Statement  
Mr Mayor, who could have possibly known at last year’s budget what a year it would be. 
 
The budget is our statement of our vision for the future.  
 
We, Wokingham Borough Council, are the golden thread - the indispensable and 
fundamental partner joining all the institutions, businesses, and residents of the Borough. It 
is a measure of our prowess that the Borough is one of the first choices to live, work and 
grow. 
 
We have no other purpose than to serve our residents.   
 
We strive to produce the optimal service for the minimum cost and seek to obtain our 
residents acclaim and affection for so doing, whilst diversity, equality, compassion, and 
fairness are at the heart of everything we do.  
 
In short, we endeavour to be the natural and beloved, friend and partner of our residents, 
whose complaints, comments, and concerns are captured as valuable feedback and 
signals. 
 
We are not a faceless monolith. We are some 1,100 members of staff and councillors, 
whose central purpose and mission is to continuously improve the lives of our residents.  
 
We want the Council to be an employer of choice and pride. 
 
We can only fulfil this role if our finances are strong; thanks to all our officers and 
councillors they are. I have constantly preached an ethos that officers are bold, take 

31



 

initiatives, try novel approaches, and learn from the inevitable mistakes; it is only someone 
who does nothing who makes no mistakes. I am delighted to say that this creed has taken 
root and we have achieved remarkable things. 
 
Whilst the responsibility for all that is done (particularly the bad stuff) is mine; what is being 
achieved through innovation, risk, flexibility and hard work is a credit to all the officers and 
councillors, all of whom I am understandably proud. 
 
As the lowest funded unitary in England, to be the best is hardly good enough.  
 
This budget is ambitious, seeks to fuel recovery, maintain, and improve services. Our 
ambition is only tempered by our resources. 
  

 We will work tirelessly to help those in need across the Borough whilst continuing to 
deliver excellent and good value services to all our residents. 

 We will protect and look after our vulnerable children and adults both through the 
pandemic and afterwards. 

 We will keep our traffic moving and improve our highways by dealing with congestion, 
tackling the blight of potholes, and investing in intelligent traffic systems.  

 We will take bold and ambitious action to do our part to achieve a carbon neutral 
Borough.   

 We will invest further in our schools and give our young people the best opportunities 
in life through a good education at a local school 

 We will continue to fight over-development and support building homes only in the 
right places. We will build more affordable homes and council homes. 

 We will ensure our Borough continues to be one of the best places to live. We will 
tackle anti-social behaviour, environmental health, air quality issues and fly tipping. We 
will work with our health partners to maintain resident mobility, combat isolation and 
mental health. 

 We will strive to help our residents stay safe during the Covid pandemic and do as 
much as we can to help them protect their families and livelihoods. 

 
Furthermore, and most significantly in the context of this Council meeting, I am this 
evening putting forward a budget proposal that invests significantly in services much 
needed by our community, it remarkably avoids making any cuts to services, and still 
leaves our financial standing in a strong and sound position. General Fund balances are 
forecast to be just under nine million pounds at March 2022. 
 
Ladies and gentlemen, the budget, I put before you, has capital investment of £445m over 
the next three years: 
 

 £160million Roads and transport: including new park and rides, Nine Mile Ride 
extension, Highways Investment Strategy, flood alleviation schemes, and traffic signal 
upgrade programme. 

 £156million Housing, local economy and regeneration: including Gorse Ride estate 
redevelopment delivering over 200 affordable homes.    

 £71million Climate emergency: including developing solar farms to create a renewable 
energy infrastructure, energy reduction projects at existing properties to make them 
energy efficient, managing congestion by improving traffic flow and reducing incidents 
which cause delays.  

 £23million Environment: including refurbishment of leisure facilities, play area 
enhancement projects, and Carnival Pool redevelopment. 

32



 

 £13million Internal Services: including upgrades to cyber security and IT, to improve 
services to residents.  

 £12million Children services and schools: including new schools (Arborfield Primary, 
Matthews Green Primary, and new Special Educational Needs at Winnersh Farm), 
maintenance of school buildings, and ICT equipment for children in care. 

 £11million Adult social care: including a new dementia home, community equipment, 
Learning Disability respite centre, and supported living accommodation. 

 
Next year we will be injecting growth and special items budgets in Adult Social Care of 
approximately £2.5m and Children’s services of £3.2m. This will help us continue to 
respond to the needs of our growing elderly population and provides the resources needed 
to meet our objective of getting Children's Services to “Good”. 
 
Our Capital Investment of a staggering £445m has only £11m of this falling on our council 
taxpayers. In fact, as a result of a numerous innovative commercial ventures over the 
years the impact of all the Council’s borrowing will actually be an overall credit of £13.64 
per Band D Council taxpayer next year, rising to a credit of £62.86 in year three. I consider 
this to be an immense achievement and a further reflection of our outstanding financial 
management.  
 
Our borrowings far from already being at £700m and running away from us as the 
opposition states, is budgeted to be just under £400m at the end of next year. In reality it is 
likely to be nearer £300m given the necessary level of slippage on the capital programme 
into future years. Our net borrowings after taking into account of our cash balances will be 
somewhere between £200m and £265m. It surely must give us great confidence that 
backing this debt, we have total asset value rising to £1.4bn. What an incredibly strong 
position to be in. 
 
Our revenue budget proposals are equally impressive, whose cornerstone is recovery. We 
will be actively working to create new jobs with a variety of initiatives already advanced 
including attracting enterprises into the Borough and retraining erstwhile hospitality and 
retail to care sector. 
 
We will be laying out the new local plan proposals in the midyear after having fought 
against our own Government’s white paper proposals on housing numbers, whose 
success was contingent on our being a Conservative Council talking to a Conservative 
Government and lowered the target from some 1,650 houses per annum to less than half 
– but still too much. 
 
We will be taking decisive steps to improve our environmental health, licensing, and 
trading standards    for residents so that neighbourhoods, community safety, public 
protection and enforcement work together in an integrated way locally and that we are 
more effectively tackling the issues that are of utmost importance to residents. We will be 
reviewing in depth our waste collection and processing services, shared legal and other 
shared services.  
 
Despite the financial impact of Covid, both this year and into the future, and despite still 
being the lowest funded Council in the country, we continue to significantly invest in our 
care services. We are proposing no cuts to services, something I am aware is being forced 
on Councils across the country who are having to vote on stark service reductions 
packages. We can protect our services and invest in them because of our strong financial 
management and innovative, commercial approach to how we run our services. We 

33



 

propose a further £6.3m in service efficiencies and income streams next year, rising to 
£16.2m in 2023/24. 
 
The details are set out in my budget proposal. It is this relentless work that enables 
additional investment in services, with no cuts, whilst maintaining a safe and healthy 
general fund balance of just under £9m at March 2022.    
 
Although it gives me great satisfaction to propose this budget for our residents, I remain 
acutely aware we have a great responsibility to continue to respond to the needs of our 
residents as the impact of the pandemic is felt beyond this financial year. I am confident, 
with the competent Councillors and Officers of this Council, who have responded so 
immensely since the outbreak in early 2020, that we will step up to make whatever 
difference we can. Again, I stress, this is only possible because we have previously 
succeeded and will continue to succeed in strong and stable financial management of this 
Council. 
 
It is indeed in the very spirit of this, I put forward the 2021/22 budget tonight and the 
Statutory Resolution (Appendix A) circulated by Democratic Services earlier this week. It is 
an investment in our community, which our indefatigable financial management 
endeavours have made possible. 
 
Thank you, Mr Mayor. 
 
104.2 Councillor Lindsay Ferris, Leader of the Opposition, Budget Statement on 

behalf of the Liberal Democrat Group  
 
Good Evening. 
 
I hope everyone will be able to join the national Day of reflection that is planned for Noon 
on 23rd March. This is exactly one year after the first lockdown. It is to provide people 
across our area and the country with an opportunity to remember family, friends and 
others who have died, or been significantly impacted by the Covid-19 Pandemic. It not only 
includes people who had Covid-19, but all other people who suffered as well. 
 
I should like to thank all the WBC officers and staff who have been actively involved with 
dealing with the Covid-19 Pandemic in our Borough. I should in particular like to thank staff 
in Adult Social Services and Children’s Services as well as all those who were seconded 
onto Covid-19 duties. Our thanks also go to the voluntary sector, who played a pivotal role 
in delivering much needed food, prescriptions and other help to our residents during the 
Pandemic. 
 
There is one area I have mentioned before, but I want to restate here. That is the WBC 
Protocol developed last April by the Director of Adult Social Care (Matt Pope) in 
conjunction with other senior officers to prevent patients being discharged from our local 
Hospitals into Care Homes without being clear of Covid-19, this is something that I believe 
has saved many lives. Not just our local people, but across the Country. I believe WBC 
was the first authority in the Country to produce such a protocol. It was followed by many 
other local authorities shortly afterwards. This was nearly 2 weeks before the Government 
changed the policy to discharge people from Hospitals with only 2 hours-notice without any 
testing. I believe this needs national recognition and is in my view one of the most 
significant actions taken by WBC in the time I have been on the Council. 
 

34



 

I should also like to thank the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council and senior officers 
for the regular briefings that have been given to all Party Leaders since last March.  
 
I now turn to the Budget. This is a Conservative Budget, they have the majority on the 
Council at the moment and it will be the budget that will be approved as a result. However 
should there be a change of Administration this May, then we (The Liberal Democrats) 
would have to use this budget as a starting point. We however have a different set of 
priorities and as a result do not support all aspects of this budget. One area of concern is 
that it comes across as being a Business as usual Budget rather than one that provides a 
clear route to recovery once the Pandemic has subsided. This in my view shows a lack of 
strategic thinking and vision by the Conservatives. 
 
I should also like to highlight that the Adult Social Care element of the Council Tax will now 
be 9% of the overall Council Tax collected. This represents somewhere between £150 & 
£300 of your annual Council Tax. The Liberal Democrats believe this should only be a 
short term measure, and that a nationally agreed means of financing adult social care 
needs to be developed for the future. 
 
During the last year the Council has lost significant income, including from Leisure 
 services where a loss of around £1.7- £2M has been forecast, plus there are others, as 
many services have been closed and in addition it has had additional costs, especially 
associated with support for Covid-19 issues. That is why the level of borrowing (or debt) 
incurred by the Council is so important. I am sure we all remember large well-known 
companies financially overstretching themselves, often with unfortunate outcomes. It is the 
role of Councillors to ensure that we do not follow the same path as some of these now 
extinct companies. 
 
Throughout the year the Government has provided the Council with financial support, 
including grants for local businesses, care homes and to cover some of the losses in 
income due to the Pandemic. I applaud the flexibility shown by the Council officers in the 
discretion taken in enabling local businesses to receive at least some financial support, 
when initially they were not eligible. 
 
We need to remember that many people will still have financial problems for a 
considerable while, even as things improve. Increased unemployment is forecast, and 
many local businesses will struggle to get going again, and unfortunately some that will not 
have made it through the pandemic. The Council needs to continue to assist in these 
areas as best it can and to encourage local people to support our local businesses again. 
This will not be easy to achieve. We believe that there needs to be a structured Recovery 
Plan developed to ensure the Council is best placed to help. I do not see sufficient 
evidence of this happening in this Conservative Budget. 
 
When we are in control we would focus on: 
 
o Continue to provide what support we can to our local businesses, plus when it can 

happen encourage our local residents to support our local shops, leisure facilities, 
libraries, Theatres and other activities within the Borough again. They will need our 
help. We would encourage special events across the Borough. 

 
o Mental Health and Wellbeing will be a priority at all ages, but especially for our 

children. 
 

35



 

o Ensuring sufficient support is provided to assist with the increasing levels of Domestic 
Abuse that have occurred during the Pandemic. This will be one of those areas we 
would urgently address. This is particularly significant with the introduction of the 
Domestic Abuse Bill 2020, which is expected to gain ascent in April. 

 
o Continue to provide what financial support it can to help our local residents who still 

have financial problems as a result of the Pandemic. This will include help with Council 
Tax deferred payments, use of the Council Tax Reduction scheme, plus help with rent 
where WBC is the landlord. We shall investigate what other activities can be 
developed to assist in this area. 

 
o In time we would reopen those WBC services that have been closed throughout the 

duration. 
 
o Throughout 2021 we would put in place actions to change the culture of the Council, 

from its current “We know best, arrogant attitude to residents”, to one where the local 
residents are at the centre of all actions of the Council. This includes greater 
openness, and a willingness to admit its mistakes when they occur, instead of hiding 
behind such statements as “it was perfectly legal”. 

 
During the autumn the subject of the Council’s debt raised its head. On one occasion this 
subject was raised during a Full Council Meeting. The discussion since then makes 
interesting reading. Back then the Tories were talking of the debt being £7.52 per resident 
per annum, then briefly there was mention just before Christmas of a figure around £100M 
and then at the 28th January 2021 Executive meeting there was mention of a figure of 
£400M (I suggest people watch the video of that meeting).  However this is only the start. 
Slowly we are beginning to extract the real level of debt (or total borrowing) incurred by 
this arrogant, deceitful Conservative administration. Until now they have denied there was 
any debt (my comments on debt were ignored for several years), now it is being extracted 
tooth by tooth from them. This is shameful as they have tried to hide this from our local 
residents. The Conservatives have mortgaged the Council’s future for many years to 
come. Residents need to realise that they are the “last resort” for the majority of the 
financial shortfall, should that occur, at some point in the future. 
 
Interest rates are currently low, but they will not remain that way for ever. The Council will 
now be burdened by this huge debt for many years to come and as a result the Council will 
have to generate additional income every year, just to stand still, and who could end up 
paying?   
 
Local Residents would have to pay more for services, and some services may end up 
being cut, or removed to make ends meet. This has been an appalling way to behave and 
it is our job (the Liberal Democrats) to let everyone know what legacy the Tories are 
leaving.  
 
No matter what mess you leave us, we will deal with it!! 
 
On the capital programme there is one issue I should like to mention. I was extremely 
pleased to see the planning application for the new library and community hub in Twyford 
was recently approved. It is also pleasing for find that phase 1 of the project (£740k) has 
already been approved. Phase 2 is not financially supported by WBC. Should the Liberal 
Democrats be in control we see no reason why WBC could not also assist with at least 
part funding Phase 2 of this much delayed  and wanted local community facility and one 

36



 

the local Liberal Democrats have pressed for 20 years. 
 
Finally - Lead Members from the Liberal Democrat team will now further provide more 
detailed views on the Budget as well as outlining our priorities for the Council when we are 
in control. 
 
104.3 Housing Revenue Account Budget 2021/22  
It was proposed by John Halsall and seconded by John Kaiser that the Housing Revenue 
Account Budget 2021/22 as set out in Agenda pages 47 to 56, be approved.  
 
Prior to the vote being held, six Members, in accordance with Rule 4.2.15.5, requested 
that a recorded vote be taken on the proposal.  
 
The voting was as follows: 
 

For  Against Abstained 

Parry Batth Jim Frewin Keith Baker 

Rachel Bishop-Firth  Malcolm Richards 

Laura Blumenthal   

Chris Bowring   

Shirley Boyt   

Prue Bray   

Rachel Burgess   

Jenny Cheng   

UllaKarin Clark   

Stephen Conway   

Gary Cowan   

Andy Croy   

Richard Dolinski   

Carl Doran   

Lindsay Ferris   

Michael Firmager   

Paul Fishwick   

Maria Gee   

Guy Grandison   

Charlotte Haitham Taylor   

John Halsall   

David Hare   

Pauline Helliar-Symons   

Emma Hobbs   

Graham Howe   

Clive Jones   

Pauline Jorgensen   

John Kaiser   

Sarah Kerr   

Dianne King   

Abdul Loyes   

Tahir Maher   

Charles Margetts   

Adrian Mather   

Ken Miall   

37



 

Andrew Mickleburgh   

Stuart Munro   

Gregor Murray   

Barrie Patman   

Angus Ross   

Daniel Sargeant   

Imogen Shepherd-Dubey   

Rachelle Shepherd-Dubey   

Caroline Smith   

Wayne Smith   

Bill Soane   

Alison Swaddle   

Simon Weeks   

 
Following the vote, the Mayor confirmed that the proposal was approved.  
 
RESOLVED That Council approve: 
 
1) the Housing Revenue Account Budget for 2021/22 (Appendix A); 
 
2) Council house dwelling rents be increased by up to 1.5%, effective from April 2021, in 

line with the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2015; 
 

3) Garage rents be increased by 1.16%, effective from April 2021, in line with the 
Council’s general Fees and Charges; 

 
4) Shared Equity Rents to be increased by 1.13%, based on September RPI, effective 

from April 2021; 
 

5) Tenant Service Charges to be set based on cost recovery; 
 

6) The Housing Major Repairs (Capital) programme for 2021/22 as set out in Appendix B; 
 

7) Sheltered room guest charges for 2021/22 remain unchanged at £9.50 per night per 
room.  

 
 
104.4 Capital Programme and Strategy 2021-2024  
It was proposed by John Halsall and seconded by John Kaiser that the Capital Programme 
and Strategy 2021/24, as set out at Agenda pages 57 to 96, be approved. 
 
It was proposed by Carl Doran and seconded by Andy Croy that Appendix B: Capital 
Programme 2021/22 to 2023/24 be amended as follows: 
 
Remove the following line from the Climate Emergency Heading (Page 83): 
 

Key Areas by 
Sub-
Category 

Project 
Name 

Project 
description 

Year 1 
2021/22 
£’000 

Year 2 
2022/23 
£’000 

Year 3 
2023/24 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

CO2 
Reduction 

Managing 
Congestion 

Improvement 
to traffic flow 
and reducing 
the likelihood 
of incidents 
on the 

5,000 5,000 7,000 17,000 

38



 

network 
causing 
problems for 
congestion 
including use 
of CCTV 
 

 
And insert it under the Roads and Transport Heading (Pages 79 to 81) as follows: 
 

Key Areas by 
Sub-
Category 

Project 
Name 

Project 
description 

Year 1 
2021/22 
£’000 

Year 2 
2022/23 
£’000 

Year 3 
2023/24 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

CO2 
Reduction - 
delete 
 
Improvement 
to existing 
facilities - 
insert 

Managing 
Congestion 

Improvement 
to traffic flow 
and reducing 
the likelihood 
of incidents 
on the 
network 
causing 
problems for 
congestion 
including use 
of CCTV 
 

5,000 5,000 7,000 17,000 

 
John Halsall confirmed that the amendment was not acceptable. 
 
Prior to the vote on the amendment, six Members, in accordance with Rule 4.2.15.5 
requested that a recorded vote be taken. 
 
The voting was as follows: 
 

For  Against  Abstained 

Rachel-Bishop Firth Parry Batth Keith Baker 

Shirley Boyt Laura Blumenthal Malcolm Richards 

Prue Bray Chris Bowring  

Rachel Burgess Jenny Cheng  

Stephen Conway UllaKarin Clark  

Gary Cowan Richard Dolinski  

Andy Croy Michael Firmager  

Carl Doran Guy Grandison  

Lindsay Ferris Charlotte Haitham Taylor  

Paul Fishwick John Halsall  

Jim Frewin Pauline Helliar-Symons  

Maria Gee Emma Hobbs  

David Hare Graham Howe  

Clive Jones Pauline Jorgensen  

Sarah Kerr John Kaiser  

Tahir Maher Dianne King  

Adrian Mather Abdul Loyes  

Andrew Mickleburgh Charles Margetts  

Imogen Shepherd-Dubey Ken Miall  

Rachelle Shepherd-Dubey Stuart Munro  

Caroline Smith Gregor Murray  

 Barrie Patman  

 Angus Ross  

 Daniel Sargeant  

39



 

 Wayne Smith  

 Bill Soane  

 Alison Swaddle  

 Simon Weeks  

 
The Mayor confirmed that the amendment was not approved.  
 
The Council then moved to a vote on the recommendations relating to the Capital 
Programme and Strategy 2021/24, 
 
Following a request from Andy Croy, recommendation 4 of the Capital Programme and 
Strategy report was considered separately. 
 
Upon being put to the vote, the Mayor confirmed that recommendations 1 to 3 and 
recommendation 4 were approved. 
 
RESOLVED: That Council approve: 
 
1) the Capital Strategy for 2021/24 (Appendix A); 

 
2) the three year Capital Programme for 2021/24 (Appendix B); 

 
3) the draft Vision for Capital investment over the next five years (Appendix C); 

 
4) the use of developer contribution funding (S106 and CIL) for Capital projects, as set 

out in Appendix D – approval up to the project budget.  
 
104.5 Treasury Management Strategy 2021-2024  
It was proposed by John Halsall and seconded by John Kaiser that the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2021/24, as set out at Agenda pages 97 to 142, be approved.  
 
Following a request from Andy Croy, recommendation 3 of the Treasury Management 
Strategy report was considered separately. 
 
Upon being put to the vote, the Mayor confirmed that recommendations 1 and 2 and 
recommendation 3 were approved.  
 
RESOLVED: That Council: 
 
1) approve the Treasury Management Strategy, as set out in Appendix A, including the 

following additional Appendices: 
 

 Prudential Indicators (Appendix B); 

 Annual Investment Strategy 2021/22 (Appendix C); 

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy (Appendix D); 
 
2) note that the Audit Committee agreed the Treasury Management Strategy on 3 

February 2021; 
 

3) note that the cumulative financial impact on the Council of its borrowing activities 
equates to a net credit to the General Fund for the taxpayer of £13.64 per Band D 
equivalent at the end of 2021/22, and that this credit increases to £62.86 at the end of 

40



 

2023/24. 
 
104.6 Medium Term Financial Plan 2021-2024 - Revenue Budget Submission 

2021/22  
It was proposed by John Halsall and seconded by John Kaiser that the Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2021/24 Revenue Budget Submission 2021/22 be approved. 
 
In line with the requirements of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2014, a recorded vote was taken.  
 
Following a request from Andy Croy, recommendation 3 was considered separately. 
 
The voting on recommendations 1 and 2 was as follows: 
 

For Against Abstain 

Parry Batth  Shirley Boyt Keith Baker 

Laura Blumenthal Rachel Burgess Rachel Bishop-Firth 

Chris Bowring Andy Croy Prue Bray 

Jenny Cheng Carl Doran Stephen Conway 

UllaKarin Clark  Gary Cowan 

Richard Dolinski  Lindsay Ferris 

Michael Firmager  Paul Fishwick 

Guy Grandison  Jim Frewin 

Charlotte Haitham Taylor  Maria Gee 

John Halsall  David Hare 

Pauline Helliar-Symons  Clive Jones 

Emma Hobbs  Sarah Kerr 

Graham Howe  Tahir Maher 

Pauline Jorgensen  Adrian Mather 

John Kaiser  Andrew Mickleburgh 

Dianne King  Malcolm Richards 

Abdul Loyes  Imogen Shepherd-Dubey 

Charles Margetts  Rachelle Shepherd-Dubey 

Ken Miall  Caroline Smith 

Stuart Munro   

Gregor Murray   

Barrie Patman   

Angus Ross   

Daniel Sargeant   

Wayne Smith   

Bill Soane   

Alison Swaddle   

Simon Weeks   

 
The voting on recommendation 3 was as follows: 
 

For Against Abstain 

Parry Batth  Keith Baker 

Rachel Bishop-Firth  Malcolm Richards 

Laura Blumenthal   

Chris Bowring   

41



 

Shirley Boyt   

Prue Bray   

Rachel Burgess   

Jenny Cheng   

UllaKarin Clark   

Stephen Conway   

Gary Cowan   

Andy Croy   

Richard Dolinski   

Carl Doran   

Lindsay Ferris   

Michael Firmager   

Paul Fishwick   

Jim Frewin   

Maria Gee   

Guy Grandison   

Charlotte Haitham Taylor   

John Halsall   

David Hare   

Pauline Helliar-Symons   

Emma Hobbs   

Graham Howe   

Clive Jones   

Pauline Jorgensen   

John Kaiser   

Sarah Kerr   

Dianne King   

Abdul Loyes   

Tahir Maher   

Charles Margetts   

Adrian Mather   

Ken Miall   

Andrew Mickleburgh   

Stuart Munro   

Gregor Murray   

Barrie Patman   

Angus Ross   

Daniel Sargeant   

Imogen Shepherd-Dubey   

Rachelle Shepherd-Dubey   

Caroline Smith    

Wayne Smith   

Bill Soane   

Alison Swaddle   

Simon Weeks   

 
Following the votes, the Mayor confirmed that recommendations 1 and 2 and 
recommendation 3 were approved.  
 
RESOLVED: That Council approve: 
 

42



 

1) the Medium term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2021/24, including the Budget submission for 
2021/22; 

 
2) the Statutory Resolution setting out 2021/22 Council Tax levels (Appendix A to the 

report); 
 

3) that, in the event that there are any changes to the provisional precept of the Fire 
Authority or parishes, arising from their precept setting meetings being held before the 
end of February, the Deputy Chief Executive (S151 Officer) is delegated authority to 
enact all relevant changes to the MTFP, Statutory Resolution and Council Tax levels.  

 
Note: The Statutory Resolution is attached as an appendix to the Council Minutes.  

 
105. EXTENSION OF THE MEETING  
At 10.02pm it was proposed by Prue Bray and seconded by Chris Bowring that, in line with 
Rule 4.2.8, the meeting be extended by an extra 30 minutes, up to 11.00pm. 
 
Upon being put to the vote, the proposal was approved.  
 
At 11.50pm it was proposed by Andy Croy and seconded by Chris Bowring that, in line 
with Rule 4.2.25.1, Council Rules of Procedure be suspended to allow the meeting to 
continue for a further hour, up to 12 midnight.  
 
Upon being put to the vote, the proposal was approved. 
 
106. RE-DESIGNATION OF POLLING PLACES  
The Council considered a report, set out at Agenda pages 157 to 166, which gave details 
of proposed alternative Polling Places to those places that were unavailable for elections 
due to be held in 2021. 
 
It was proposed by John Kaiser and seconded by Wayne Smith that the proposals set out 
in the report be approved.  
 
Upon being put to the vote, it was: 
 
RESOLVED: That, for any elections held in 2021 the following be agreed: 
 
1) the Baptist Church Hall, Fairmead Road, Shinfield be designated as the polling place 

for polling district SCW in Shinfield South Ward instead of Shinfield Parish Hall;  
 
2) Wargrave Pavilion be designated as the polling place for polling district RBM in 

Remenham, Wargrave and Ruscombe Ward instead of Hare Hatch Village Hall;  
 
3) St. John’s Church, Woodley be designated as the polling place for polling district KCM 

in Coronation Ward instead of St John’s Ambulance, HQ, Woodley;  
 
4) Hurst Village Hall be designated as the polling place for Polling District HAM in Hurst 

Ward instead of the Mobile Unit at Warren Public House, Hurst;  
 
5) the Cornerstone, Norreys Avenue Wokingham be designated as the polling place for 

polling districts WFW and WGW1 in Norreys Ward instead of Norreys Evangelical 
Church;  

43



 

 
6) the Assistant Director, Governance be delegated authority, in consultation with the 

relevant Ward Member(s), to re-designate any polling place in the Borough which 
becomes unavailable because of issues related to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
107. TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 2020-21  
The Council considered the mid-year Treasury Management report for 2020/21, as set out 
at Agenda pages 147 to 156. 
 
Maria Gee raised a point of order in relation to Paragraphs 4.4.4 and 4.4.4.1 of the 
Constitution and the provisions of the Local Code of Governance. The point of order 
related to the Constitutional role of the Audit Committee vis-a-vis the Executive in relation 
to the submission of Treasury Management reports to Council. 
 
The Mayor confirmed that consideration of the Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 
2020/21 would be deferred to the next meeting to enable investigation of the procedural 
points raised by Councillor Gee. 
 
RESOLVED: That consideration of the Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2020/21 
be deferred to the next meeting of Council in March 2021.  
 
108. CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION  
The Council considered a report, set out at Agenda pages 167 to 190, which gave details 
of proposed changes to the Constitution, as recommended by the Monitoring Officer via 
the Constitution Review Working Group.  
 
It was proposed by Stuart Munro and seconded by John Kaiser that the recommendations 
in the report be approved. 
 
Lindsay Ferris and Andy Croy requested a separate vote on recommendations 1), 2) and 
3). 
 
It was proposed by Pauline Jorgensen and seconded by Guy Grandison that 
recommendations 1), 2) and 3) in the report be referred back to the Constitution Review 
Working Group for further consideration, with recommendations 4), 5) and 6) to be voted 
on at this meeting.  
 
Stuart Munro confirmed that this proposal was acceptable.  
 
Upon being put to the vote, the Mayor confirmed that the proposal was approved, with 
recommendations 1 to 3 being referred back to the Constitution Review Working Group for 
further consideration.   
 
Upon being put to the vote it was: 
 
RESOLVED That: 
 
1) recommendations 1), 2) and 3) in the report be referred back to the Constitution 

Review Working Group for further consideration; 
 

2) the following changes to the Constitution, as recommended by the Constitution Review 
Working Group, be agreed: 

44



 

 

 Section 12 Financial Regulations Appendix A – Statement of Material Decisions, be 
amended as set out in Appendix 1 to the report; 

 

 amendments be made to Section 13 Procurement and Contract Rules and 
Procedures, as set out in Appendix 2 to the report; 

 

 amendments be made to Section 13 Procurement and Contract Rules and 
Procedures, as set out in Appendix 3 to the report.  

 
 
 
 

45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

TITLE Trading Standards, Environmental Health and 
Licensing 

  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Council on Thursday, 18 March 2021 
  
WARD None Specific  
  
LEAD OFFICER Director, Place and Growth - Chris Traill 
  
LEAD MEMBER Executive Member for Environment - Parry Batth 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT (INC STRATEGIC OUTCOMES) 
 
The purpose of this report is to authorise the services delivered by the Public Protection 
Partnership (PPP) to be brought back in-house to Wokingham Borough Council as from 
1st April 2022 and establish the project to achieve this.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that: 
 
1) the Council serves formal notice on the Public Protection Partnership before 31st 

March 2021, which if effected would take place on 31st March 2022; 
 

2) the delegation to PPP in respect to the Executive and Council functions and duties 
(including environmental health, licensing and trading standards) will end and will 
be exercised by the Council directly from 1st April 2022; 

 
3) The Director of Place and Growth and Deputy Chief Executive (and Section 151 

Officer), in consultation with the Lead Member for Environment and Lead Member 
for Finance & Housing, are authorised to commence design of the new services 
structure and any resulting negotiations on an Exit Plan and to address timeframe 
(including earlier dates than stated in recommendation 1 and 2 if agreed by the 
Councils), mitigation of risks and costs, key milestones, ongoing resources and 
staffing implications for a successful departure from the partnership; 

 
4) The Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Place and Growth create and work 

with a task force of Officers and Members to create the new in-house service; 
 
5) it be noted that a special item of £500k, spread over financial years 2021/22 and 

2022/23, was included in the Medium Term Financial Plan to fund a safe and 
effective transition. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this report is to authorise the services delivered by the Public Protection 
Partnership (PPP) to be brought back in-house to Wokingham Borough Council as from 
1st April 2022 and establish the project to achieve this.  
 

47

Agenda Item 104.



 

 

BACKGROUND  
 
The quality of life of residents in the Borough is heavily impacted by the work of 
Environmental Health, Licensing and Trading Standards.  There are a wide range of 
statutory regulatory services (see appendix 1). The most visible are services relating to 
residential nuisance including noise, bonfires, pests, and licensing.  Other important 
services include food chain safety, water safety, pollution, health and safety in 
workplaces, disease control, trading standards, animal and farm welfare, crime, and 
fraud (many of these functions were delivered at the County levels before the Berkshire 
Council’s became unitary).  
 
Prior to 2010, these services were in house as part of Wokingham, after which they 
were delegated to West Berkshire.  
 
In 2017 Wokingham, West Berkshire and Bracknell established a shared service 
partnership (the Public Protection Partnership (PPP)). It has three basic principles, 
prevention, intelligence and enforcement.   
 
The Vision of the PPP is: To protect and support residents and legitimate business 
through the successful use of information and intelligence, delivering safe and healthy 
neighbourhoods. With a fundamental motivation for each partner authority entering the 
shared service was to protect and, where possible, increase professional and technical 
resilience. 
 
1.1 The stated priorities of the PPP are to tackle the following issues and practices:  
 

 E-Crime 

 Organised Crime Groups 

 Vulnerable Adults and Children 

 Modern Day Slavery 

 Doorstep Crime and Mass Marketing 

 Poor Housing Standards in the Private Rented Sector 

 Air Pollution 

 Unsafe Food 

 Childhood Obesity 

 Alcohol and Tobacco Consumption 

 Poor Animal Welfare 

 Risk to the Reputation of UK Export of Food 

 Accidents in the Catering and Hospitality Industries 

 Impact of Noise on Communities 

 Unsafe Consumer Goods 
 
The PPP is Governed by The Joint Public Protection Committee (JPPC) which is made 
up of six Members (2 from each of the 3 partner authorities) and is responsible for the 
key strategy and direction of the service including agreeing the business plan, strategic 
priorities and work plan. The JPPC recommends the budget and fees and charges to 
partner Councils to be set through their normal budget setting process.  
 
 
 
 

48



 

 

1.2. Activity data with regards to Wokingham 
 
In 2019/20 the headline activity that relates to Wokingham was as follows: 
 

 Licensing: There are 430 alcohol licensed premises; 110 premises needing a licence 
for e.g. animal boarding, scrap metal etc; 349 drivers of taxis and private hire 
vehicles.  
 

 Trading Standards: 750 weights and measures taken; 50 investigations on fair 
trading e.g. age-related sales of tobacco and alcohol, knives, fireworks etc. Food 
standards: quality and labelling (on demand).  
 

 Environmental Health: 450 planning applications considered; 250 commercial 
pollution investigations; 672 air quality samples; 600 domestic nuisance complaints; 
617 pest complaints; over 1,000 food premises to inspect; 290 infectious disease 
notifications.  

 
1.3. Operating Model 

The PPP is financed primarily through partner authority contributions from cooperate 
budgets, however, it also generates income through grants, fees and charges and 
through work supplied to other bodies such as Oxfordshire Fire Service. The cost to 
each partner is calculated based on the level of activity attributed to each authority and 
this is monitored annually.  
 
The cost to Wokingham is projected to be £1,326,470 in 21/22, this contribution is 34% 
of the total PPP budget and an increase of £63k to Wokingham from 20/21.  
 
It is a cornerstone of the Council’s strategy to materially improve the delivery of 
customer services. The services falling under the auspices of the PPP are considered to 
be of significant importance to the residents of Wokingham Borough; it is considered 
that these services can be more effectively and responsibly discharged through a 
directly employed in-house service. It will enable greater focus on what is termed ‘low 
level ASB’ incidents and will enable a greater integration with our directly employed 
localites team. Furthermore, it will help overcome some of the inevitable confusions to 
the public arising from a front-line service which is run cross authority as opposed to one 
run solely by WBC. 
 
It should however be recognised that this is not a criticism of the PPP service whose 
work on COVID in terms of enforcement and test and trace has been invaluable to 
support the Council’s COVID response. This proposed in-house approach is about 
recognising the particular needs of Wokingham residents and embracing the 
opportunities of integration within the council. Particularly our Localities team, to 
enhance the effectiveness of the service and its impact on the community. This is set 
out in more detail below.   
 
2.Wokingham In-house Approach  
 
The recommendation is to repatriate the responsibility for PPP management in house 
and to review the service delivery mechanisms for several reasons: 
 

49



 

 

 Integrated service delivery: where pragmatic Wokingham will align and integrate 
services that transfer back with existing Council services on a local level. The 
benefits of that being the service can operate within conditions to better understand 
local issues and are then more effective and responsive (in a joined up approach) to 
address local issues. (The service will be able to work with organisations on a local 
level such as the voluntary and community sectors and Town and Parish Councils.)  
The principal aim is to integrate Wokingham’s services so that it is a single and 
simplified response to residents’ concerns and issues.   

 

 Control and influence: It promotes Councillors, Officers and service users to have 
more democratic control over service provision. There will be greater flexibility on 
how services are delivered and how we respond to priorities. We want to encourage 
innovation in responding to local issues.  

 

 Improved service delivery: The Council will ensure that we continue to deliver our 
statutory responsibilities for public protection, and to exceed residents’ expectations. 
Aligning our public protection to what matters most to Wokingham residents and to 
address the quality of life issues that are key to our Strategic Aims.  

 
In summary, the Council wants to deliver service excellence to its residents, some of 
which is statutory, but tailoring it to Wokingham residents’ dynamic priorities. In taking 
the service in house, the Council has an opportunity to change the management, focus 
and delivery model.  
 
2.1. Benefits and business case for an in-house service for Wokingham 
 
As part of Wokingham Borough’s place shaping approach, the Council aims to tailor 
service delivery at a locality level. This will deliver a clearer cohesive response to issues 
that confront our communities (such as anti-social behaviour, fly tipping, unauthorised 
encampments, noise abatement, bonfires, neighbourhood disputes).  
 
The delivery will be integrated into other Council services, such as Localities, 
Community Safety, Legal, and Children’s and Adults. In so doing, this will make better 
use of the capacity of existing locality officers offering earlier incisive intervention and 
prevention.  
 
It is also anticipated that this will engender effective joined up professional responses 
across the Council’s service specialisms (safety, enforcement, environmental health), 
with swift responses, resulting in increased customer satisfaction, and potentially 
efficiencies. 
 
The benefits and advantages to the Council and the residents of Wokingham Borough, 
in bringing the control of this service in-house include:  
 

 Greater control, in one organisation with direct influence over policy, implementation, 
and accountability 
 

 More visible ownership and flexibility to focus on residents’ priorities. 
 

 An integrated single Council approach to delivery in localities, which crosses 
specialisms, with the efficiencies, in respect to time and outcomes, by tackling issues 
holistically that this approach brings. That is, “do it once’ with joined up and combined 

50



 

 

responses to issues that consider the range of enforcement powers that the Council 
possesses. For example, consideration of anti-social behaviour alongside neighbour 
disputes, planning enforcement, noise and bonfires. 

 

 An improved customer perception and experience due to a less complex customer 
journey, with a greater emphasis upon prevention and proactivity than reactivity 

 

 A service that delivers valued and visible interventions with timely support at the time 
when residents most need it.  

 

 Potential efficiencies and economies of scale (within a wider locality team) can 
increase accessible hours and reduce response times.  

 

 Greater influence and control over preferred suppliers and associated costs. 
 

 It will allow, if the PPP is willing, to retain the services of the PPP when appropriate.  
 
3.Current Resource 
 
It is estimated that the resource within PPP currently deployed to serve Wokingham 
Borough Council is approximately 32.04 FTE. With staff employed in Licensing; 
Nuisance and residential, commercial, trading standards, environmental quality, CDO.   
 
Current cost of PPP to WBC 
 

WBC direct payment to PPP 2021/22 £1,326k 

WBC Licensing Income to PPP £300k  

Total income PPP from WBC £1,626k 

 
The initial hypothesis would be that the cost of a modified service would be no more 
than the current cost for the same service. This will be the strategic focus. However, this 
cannot be confirmed until exit negotiations are concluded which will include negotiations 
in respect to one off costs associated with the termination of the service (if any) and any 
services that will continue to be delivered from the PPP. This will be agreed in the Exit 
Plan and will address timeframe, mitigation of risks and costs, key milestones, ongoing 
resources and staffing implications.   
 
Much of the preparation work will occur in financial year 2021/22. This will be a transition 
year for Wokingham to depart the PPP partnership, and there may be costs to be 
mitigated during that year (staffing, legal; compensatory costs to partners), there will 
also be costs to establish the in-house service that will arise in 2022/23.   
 
It is anticipated that the above one-off expenditure will be incurred over two financial 
years and will be identified both during negotiations with partners and after the formal 
date of transition. Should there be any further revenue and project costs be identified, 
these will be included separately in future Executive approvals as the service integration 
within the Council unfolds.   
 
 
 
 
 

51



 

 

4.Inter-Authority Agreement (IAA) and Timescales 
 
The IAA governs the responsibilities of the partnership and of each of the partner 
councils. The current partnership runs until 2028 and should any partner wish to exit the 
partnership, the following conditions apply: -  
 

 A minimum twelve-month notice period to terminate the agreement is required 
 

 The notice must therefore be given before the 31st March 2021 to exit the 
partnership on 31st March 2022 which is the next opportunity for termination   
 

 Within 6 months, the Council’s sign off an exit plan and the Joint Management 
Team shall cooperate in good faith to agree this  
 

 In terminating the contract, the Council will indemnify the other partners against 
all direct losses (which the other parties must take reasonable steps to mitigate) 
 

If Wokingham elects to serve notice to fully exit the partnership, we can still potentially 
negotiate that some services remain within PPP as part of the Exit Plan and continue 
negotiations during the notice period. This again means that all the partner councils 
must agree to the new proposal as effectively this would be a new contractual 
arrangement in respect to any services that remain with PPP.  Negotiations can begin 
now in advance of any notice to terminate and continue into the notice period. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION 
The Council faces severe funding pressures, particularly in the face of the COVID-19 
crisis.  It is therefore imperative that Council resources are focused on the 
vulnerable and on its highest priorities. 
 

 How much will it 
Cost/ (Save) 

Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall  

Revenue or 
Capital? 

Current Financial 
Year (Year 1) 

£0 Yes  

Next Financial Year 
(Year 2) 

£250k Yes Revenue 

Following Financial 
Year (Year 3) 

£250k Yes Revenue  

 

Other Financial Information 

Given that 2021/22 will be a transition year for Wokingham to depart the PPP 
partnership, there may be costs to be mitigated during that year (e.g. staffing and legal 
costs), there will also be costs to establish the in-house service (e.g. licences, IT)) that 
will arise in 2022/23.  The above special items are identified to fund these potential 
costs, whilst negotiations are ongoing with partners. Should there be any further 
revenue and project costs, these will be dealt with separately in future Executive 
approvals as the service integration within the Council unfolds.   

 

Stakeholder Considerations and Consultation 

Benchmarking of other authority models has taken place, and engagement with PPP 
partner authorities which will continue during the exit process. 

 

52



 

 

Public Sector Equality Duty 

A detailed Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) will be completed once the Exit Plan is 
agreed and the detail known. This will be shared with Councillors. 

 

Climate Emergency – This Council has declared a climate emergency and is 
committed to playing as full a role as possible – leading by example as well as by 
exhortation – in achieving a carbon neutral Wokingham Borough by 2030 

PPP deliver specialist support for areas of the Council’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 
and an in-house service will enable greater integration and focus to deliver the plan 

 

List of Background Papers 

Appendix 1 - Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing functions  

 

Contact  Chris Traill Service Place and Growth  

Telephone 0118 974 6000 Email chris.traill@wokingham.gov.uk 

 

53



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 - PPP Services  

Licensing  

 

 Licensing Act 2003 

 Taxis and Private Hire 

 Animal Welfare Establishments 

 Safety Advisory Groups Licensing committee 
and subcommittee items 

 

Case Management, 

Policy & Governance  

 

 Freedom of Information requests, Member/MP 
enquiries 

 Comms  
 

Environmental Health – 

Residential  

 

 Private Sector Housing Standards 

 Domestic Nuisance (eg Noise, Bonfires) 

 Commercial Nuisance 

 Pests complaints and treatment offered 
through preferred supplier model. 

 Caravan Sites  
 

Specialist   Air Quality  
 

 

Trading Standards  

 

 Metrology 

 Consumer Product Safety 

 Fair Trading- Age 

 Road Traffic  

 Trading Standards Licensing (Highly 
specialised eg Petroleum) 

 Buy/Support with Confidence 

 Public Health Delivery 

 Major / Acquisitive Crime Investigations 
 

 

Case Management, 

Policy & Governance  

 

 Criminal Work 

 Financial Investigations  

 Intelligence  
 

Environmental Health – 

Environmental Quality 

 

 Private Water Supplies 

 Air Quality Scientific advice  

 Planning applications comments  

 Public Pollution Consent Approvals- Pollution   

55



Environmental Health – 

Residential  

 

 Animal Warden 
 

Food Standards, 

Agriculture and Animal 

Health and Welfare 

Health – Commercial  

 

 Food Safety / Hygiene  

 Targeted Health & Safety 

 Investigations 

 Infectious disease notifications 
 

 

 

56



 

 

 
TITLE Equality Plan 
  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Council on Thursday 18 March 2021 
  
WARD None Specific; 
  
LEAD OFFICER Director, Communities, Insight and Change 

Keeley Clements 
  
LEAD MEMBER Leader of the Council - John Halsall 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT (INC STRATEGIC OUTCOMES) 
 
This report sets out the Equality Plan for 2021-2025. The Plan seeks to build on the 
Council’s vision by setting priorities and actions to tackle inequality.   
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Council approves the Equality Plan (2021-2025) and associated Action Plan (2021-
2022).  
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Council has a duty to produce how it meets the Public Sector Equality Duties every 
4 years. This Equality Plan has been developed in line with the Council’s vision and 
Corporate Delivery Plan (2020-2024).  It strengthens how we will enrich the lives of all 
residents in safe and strong communities and outlines our ambition to tackle inequality.  
 
Insight tells us that we serve an increasingly diverse community with different needs, in 
both rural and urban settings.  The impact of the pandemic has been devastating for 
many residents and businesses and brought inequality into sharp focus.  
 
The Equality Plan has been informed by consultation which included an online survey 
and a number of focus sessions with community groups, staff and Members.  The 
qualitative feedback has provided valuable insight to understand what we can do better 
within the internal workings of the council as well as what we can do to ensure that we 
can deliver more inclusive services that will lead to improved outcomes for our 
communities.   
 
The Priorities which will achieve the ambitions of our Equality Plan are set out below. 
These directly reflect the areas identified through insight into evidence and outcomes 
from consultation and engagement.  It is proposed that for the coming 4 years we focus 
on three priorities: 
 
Priority 1 - Listen to and learn from our communities and use this to deliver services that 
work well for everyone. 
Priority 2 – Act on our commitments to equality, diversity and inclusion in the way we 
plan, deliver and shape our services. 
Priority 3 - Build a diverse and engaged workforce, where everyone is respected.  
 

57

Agenda Item 105.



 

 

An action plan has been developed and sets out how we will seek to ensure that there is 
progress against each of the priorities through the first year of the plan period. To 
ensure that we are successful in making a meaningful impact on key measures of 
equality and achieve the ambitions set out in this plan, we have adopted the Local 
Government Association Equality Framework.  This is an established, credible and 
objective performance framework to measure our performance and results. Progress 
and delivery will be monitored to ensure that we progress to the highest levels possible 
for each element of the Framework. At a future point, we will be able to invite peer 
challenge and support to ensure that our assessments of our performance and progress 
are credible and robust. 
 

58



 

 

 
BACKGROUND  
 
The Equality Plan (2021-2025) builds on the Council’s vision for 2020 to 2024; ‘to be a 
great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business’. This includes 
everyone and means tackling inequality together. As a public body we have a legal duty 
to have due regard to the Equality Act 2010. Although we are determined to do more 
than just fulfil our statutory obligations, this Equality Plan also provides the basis for how 
we will address the requirements of the Act. The Equality Act places statutory duties on 
the council to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
The protected characteristics set out in the Equality Act are:  
 

 Age 

 Disability 

 Gender reassignment 

 Marriage and civil partnership 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Race 

 Religion or belief 

 Sex  

 Sexual orientation  
 
These public sector equality duties mean that we need to take actions to minimise 
disadvantage, meet needs and encourage participation for people protected by the Act. 
The Equality Act applies not just to the council’s responsibilities as a direct provider of 
services, but also to our suppliers or anyone working with us. 
 
The impact of the pandemic has been devastating for residents and businesses. It has 
brought inequality into sharper focus, highlighting the importance of reducing risks to our 
most vulnerable residents and staff. Amidst an unprecedented year, we have also 
acknowledged the global commitment to eradicate racism through Black Lives Matter 
Movement. This landscape gives us even more compelling cause to listen, learn and 
lead in the vital fight for equality.  
 
BUSINESS CASE  
 
The development of the Equality Plan and action plan has been informed by insight from 
data, consultation and engagement.  
 
Insight tells us that we serve an increasingly diverse community with different needs, in 
both rural and urban settings. Although the 2011 Census recorded that 11% of the 
Wokingham population were from Ethnic Minority backgrounds, this proportion has 
undoubtedly grown, and will continue to grow, in light of the continuing development in 
the borough: review of schools and education data shows that the percentage of pupils 

59



 

 

in our schools from Ethnic Minority backgrounds has increased from 26% in 2014 to 
34% in 2020 (Schools Census). The 2021 Census is expected to reflect Wokingham’s 
growing diversity. 
 
National research studies (Stonewall, LGBT Foundation) estimate that 5-7% of any 
given local population in the UK will identify as LGBT+. In Wokingham Borough this 
means that around 8,000-10,000 residents could identify as LGBT+. The Wokingham 
JSNA sets out that some members of the LGBT+ community are disproportionately 
more likely to experience discrimination and barriers to good outcomes, including 
challenges around mental health and well-being. According to research by Stonewall 
(2018), 11% of ‘LGBT’ people have faced domestic abuse from a partner.  This 
increases to 17% of Ethnic Minority ‘LGBT+’ people.  
 
We have an ageing population. 18% of our residents are aged 65 and over. Using data 
for England as a guide, the proportion of our residents aged 65+ is expected to increase 
to 20.7% by mid-2028. The fastest growing age group is aged 85 and over, which is 
likely to double by 2041 and treble by 2066 (ONS). There are implications of an ageing 
population in relation to health and wellbeing, the effects of loneliness and isolation, and 
vulnerability to crime. 
 
There are likely to be increasing numbers of residents with disabilities that require 
support. As our population grows older and young people with disabilities live longer, 
forecasts show that Wokingham Borough will experience: a 42% increase in people 
whose day-to-day activities are limited a little or a lot by a disability; a 23% increase in 
people living in care homes, particularly those aged 85 and over, and a 20% increase in 
people who are 65 and over and have dementia (POPPI & PANSI). We also know that 
the number of adults with learning disabilities that we support is higher than in many 
other parts of the country and is the second highest in the South East. 
 
Trend data shows that the demand for SEND support in Wokingham is increasing. Over 
the last few years there has been a significant upward trend in the numbers of children 
and young people with Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) and numbers of 
children and young people requiring SEN support in schools. There have been notable 
increases in demand for support in relation to Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and 
Social and Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) in particular. The numbers of younger 
children (aged 7-11) requiring some form of SEN support has increased significantly 
over the last three years, partly as a result of changing demographics and needs, and 
partly as a result of better assessments and more successful early identification and 
prevention. 
 
The Priorities which will achieve the ambitions of our Equality Plan are set out below. 
These directly reflect the areas identified through insight into evidence and outcomes 
from consultation and engagement, and by delivering against these we are confident we 
will achieve our ambition to ensure that Wokingham is a great place for all our residents; 
that we deliver best practice in terms of fulfilling our duties under the Equality Act; and 
will be a great employer that builds a diverse, inclusive and engaged workforce. 
 
It is proposed that for the coming 4 years we focus on three priorities: 
 
Priority 1 - Listen to and learn from our communities and use this to deliver services that 
work well for everyone. 
 

60



 

 

Priority 2 – Act on our commitments to equality, diversity and inclusion in the way we 
plan, deliver and shape our services. 
 
Priority 3 - Build a diverse and engaged workforce, where everyone is respected.  
 
We know the best outcomes and changes can only be achieved together. That is why 
we asked for everyone to share their views and ideas about the proposals through an 
online survey and we held a number of focus sessions with community groups such as 
the Voluntary Sector, Involved Tenants, Service Providers, CLASP (a charity that 
supports people with learning disabilities) and other residents who wanted to share their 
specific ideas. We also held focus sessions with different staff at different levels within 
the council and our Elected Councillors. This took place through the: Members Equality 
Steering Group, Employee Equality Steering Group, Managers Network, Leadership 
Teams, Commissioning Managers, Ethnically Diverse Staff Network, Adult Social Care 
Staff, Equality Champions and Customer Delivery Managers. We received 563 
consultation responses on key questions relating to the suggested priorities and 
objectives of this Equality Plan. Engagement sessions built on nearly 1800 comments to 
highlight areas of strength to build on, and areas for future improvement. 
 
The qualitative feedback has provided valuable insight to understand what we can do 
better within the internal workings of the council as well as what we can do to ensure 
that we can deliver more inclusive services that will lead to improved outcomes for our 
communities.  The qualitative feedback is summarised within the Equality Plan 
(Enclosure A) and has helped to shape the Action Plan for 2021-2022 (Enclosure B). 
This action plan seeks to ensure that there is progress against each of the priorities and 
it will be a live and iterative document.  
 
To ensure that we are successful in making a meaningful impact on key measures of 
equality and achieve the ambitions set out in this plan, we have adopted an established, 
credible and objective performance framework to measure our performance and results, 
the Local Government Association Equality Framework.   As we implement this plan, we 
will self-assess ourselves against three levels for each part of the Framework. We will 
monitor our progress and delivery to ensure that we progress to the highest levels 
possible for each element of the Framework. At a future point, we will be able to invite 
peer challenge and support to ensure that our assessments of our performance and 
progress are credible and robust. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION 
The Council faces severe funding pressures, particularly in the face of the COVID-19 
crisis.  It is therefore imperative that Council resources are focused on the 
vulnerable and on its highest priorities. 
 

 How much will it 
Cost/ (Save) 

Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall  

Revenue or 
Capital? 

Current Financial 
Year (Year 1) 

See ‘other financial 
information’ 

 Revenue 

Next Financial Year 
(Year 2) 

See ‘other financial 
information’ 

 Revenue 

Following Financial 
Year (Year 3) 

See ‘other financial 
information’ 

 Revenue 

 

61



 

 

Other Financial Information 

The activity set out in this report to strengthen the Council’s initial approach to tackle 
inequality will be picked up within existing resources and activities. Any additional 
budget requirements will be sought from Executive as supplementary estimates. 

 

Stakeholder Considerations and Consultation 

Research guided this Plan, through public consultation as well as several focus 
sessions internally and externally including: Members Equality Steering Group, 
Employee Equality Steering Group, Managers Network, Leadership Teams, 
Commissioning Managers, Ethnically Diverse Staff Network, Adult Social Care Staff, 
Equality Champions and Customer Delivery Managers. Sessions were also held with 
groups in the community, like the Voluntary Sector, Involved Tenants, Service 
Providers, Clasp and other residents who wanted to share more specific ideas. 

 

Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and is attached as Enclosure D.  

 

Climate Emergency – This Council has declared a climate emergency and is 
committed to playing as full a role as possible – leading by example as well as by 
exhortation – in achieving a carbon neutral Wokingham Borough by 2030 

The purpose of this report is to endorse the Councils Equality Plan.  Where cross cutting 
implications are identified the impacts will be given due weight in decision making.  

 

List of Background Papers 

Enclosure A – Draft Equality Plan 2021-2025 
Enclosure B – Appendix 1 Equality Action Plan 2021-2022 
Enclosure C – Appendix 2 Summary of Delivery since 2017 
Enclosure D – Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Contact  Laura Callan Service Strategy and Planning 

Telephone Tel: 0118 974 6000 Email laura.callan@wokingham.gov.uk  

 

62



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

EQUALITY PLAN 2021-25 

Tackling Inequality Together 

 

1. Background and Context 2 

2. Insights from data, consultation and engagement 5 

3. Our Priorities and Objectives 10 

4. Measuring Success 11 

5. Governance 12 

6. Appendices 

 Appendix 1: Equality Plan: Action Plan 2021-22 

 Appendix 2: Summary of delivery since 2017 

14 

 

 

  

63



2 
 

 

1. BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT 

 

Our Community Vision is for Wokingham Borough to be a great place to live, learn, work and 

grow, and a great place to do business. This Vision is delivered through a set of priorities in 

our Corporate Delivery Plan (2020-2024).  

The ambition of this Equality Plan 2021-25 is to ensure that our Community Vision is realised 

for all our residents, irrespective of their background or characteristics. Our ambition is to 

ensure that no-one is left behind, and that unfair and discriminatory barriers are removed.  

This Equality Plan 2021-25 describes how equality, diversity and inclusion are essential to the 

way we operate as a community leader, a service provider and an employer. 

Our Equality Plan 2021-25 will build on what we have already accomplished in relation to 

Equality and Diversity and sets out our priorities and objectives for achieving more in the years 

to come.  

Our objectives set out clearly how we will achieve these results, and we will monitor our 

progress closely to ensure we are on track to achieve our goals and learn as we deliver.  

A range of stakeholders were surveyed and consulted, generating valuable evidence, insight 

and feedback which has directly informed the development of our strategic priorities and 

objectives. Included within this evidence base are nearly 1800 responses to key questions 

about areas of strength we can build on and areas for further improvement. 

Achieving this plan will require commitment, leadership and collaboration over the next four 

years, so that we build a more equal and inclusive borough, where nobody is left behind and 

where all residents are able to prosper and thrive.  

 

Why we need an Equality Plan: three Key Drivers 

There are three key drivers which create the need for a comprehensive and strategic 

Equality Plan:  

1. To ensure our Community Vision is successfully delivered for all our residents; 

2. To fulfil our duties and responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010 as a public body; 

3. To build and support a diverse, included and engaged workforce and meet our 

responsibilities as an employer. 

These Key Drivers are set out in Figure 1 and explained in greater detail below: 

  

64



3 
 

 

Figure 1: Drivers behind the development of the Equality Plan 2021-25 

 

 

Driver #1: Deliver our Community Vision for all our residents 

Our Community Vision for 2020 to 2024, is for Wokingham to be a great place to live, learn, 

work and grow and a great place to do business. Our Community Vision is delivered through 

a set of priorities in our Corporate Delivery Plan (2020-2024). These priorities set out our 

commitment to equality in all that we do and how we will enrich the lives of all members of our 

community. 

The ambition of our Equality Plan is to ensure that our Community Vision is realised for all our 

residents irrespective of their background or characteristics. Our ambition is to ensure that no-

one is left behind, and that unfair and discriminatory barriers are removed.  

Driver #2: Fulfil our duties under the Equality Act 2010 

As a public body we have a legal duty to have due regard to the Equality Act 2010. Although 

we are determined to do more than just fulfil our statutory obligations, this Equality Plan also 

provides the basis for how we will address the requirements of the Act. The Equality Act places 

statutory duties on the council to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not; 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not. 
 

The protected characteristics set out in the Equality Act are: age, disability, gender 

reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 

orientation.  Public authorities also need to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful 

discrimination against someone because of their marriage or civil partnership status. 

These public sector equality duties mean that we need to take actions to minimise 

disadvantage, meet needs and encourage participation for people protected by the Act. The 

Equality Act applies not just to the council’s responsibilities as a direct provider of services, 

but also to our suppliers or anyone working with us. 

Wokingham 
Equality 

Plan

2021-25

Ensure our 
Community Vision 

is successfully 
delivered for all

our residents

Fulfil our duties 
under the Equality 

Act 2010

Build and support 
a diverse, included 

and engaged 
workforce

Responsibilities as a 

Community Leader 

Responsibilities as 

an employer 

Responsibilities as a public body 

65



4 
 

 

Driver #3: Build and support a diverse, included and engaged workforce 

As an employer, we are committed to promoting equality and diversity amongst our workforce. 

We will take action to ensure that we are a great employer that values and welcomes the 

different ideas, skills, behaviours and experiences of our colleagues.  

The Equality Act also relates to the council’s responsibilities as an employer. We have a legal 

duty as a public body to ensure due regard to the need to promote equality of opportunity, 

eliminate unlawful discrimination and foster good relations between our staff. We want to make 

sure that we promote equality and diversity inside our organisation, ensuring that our HR 

policies and procedures reflect good practice in terms of equality and diversity, and that 

anyone who works for the council or applies to work for us feels confident they are treated 

fairly.  

 

Building on success 

Since 2017 the council has already delivered several actions and initiatives designed to have 

a positive impact on promoting equality, diversity and inclusion, in line with the objectives of 

its previous Equality Plan. A summary of these can be found in Appendix 2. 

In addition to responding to current and likely future challenges, and addressing the key points 

which emerge from the analysis of data, evidence and feedback from consultation which 

follows in the next section, our future actions will also build on the most successful aspects of 

our delivery in previous years. 

  

66



5 
 

 

2. INSIGHT FROM DATA, CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT 

 

In the development of this Equality Plan we reviewed some key data from sources including 

the following: 

 Office of National Statistics (ONS), Census and Local Population Estimates 

 Various data sources from the NHS, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 

(NICE) and Public Health England 

 The British Crime Survey 

 Stonewall and LGBT Foundation 

 Wokingham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 

 POPPI & PANSI 

Data from the sources listed above were reviewed and analysed in order to gain insights into 

the Equality needs of our local community and help identity some key priorities for this Equality 

Plan.  

In addition, we have undertaken consultation and engagement with a diverse range of 

stakeholders to ensure that the priorities and objectives within this plan are underpinned by 

evidence.  

Summary of insight from data and research 

 We serve an increasingly diverse community with different needs, in both rural and 

urban settings. Although the 2011 Census recorded that 11% of the Wokingham 

population were from Ethnic Minority backgrounds, this proportion has undoubtedly 

grown: review of schools and education data shows that the percentage of pupils in 

our schools from Ethnic Minority backgrounds has increased from 26% in 2014 to 34% 

in 2020 (Schools Census). The 2021 Census is expected to reflect Wokingham’s 

growing diversity 

 National research studies (Stonewall, LGBT Foundation) estimate that 5-7% of any 

given local population in the UK will identify as LGBT+. In  Wokingham Borough this 

means that around 8,000-10,000 residents could identify as LGBT+. The 

Wokingham JSNA sets out that some members of the LGBT+ community are 

disproportionately more likely to experience discrimination and barriers to good 

outcomes, including challenges around mental health and well-being. According to 

research by Stonewall (2018), 11% of ‘LGBT’ people have faced domestic abuse from 

a partner.  This increases to 17% of Ethnic Minority ‘LGBT’ people.  

 We have an ageing population. 18% of our residents are aged 65 and over. Using 

data for England as a guide, the proportion of our residents aged 65+ is expected to 

increase to 20.7% by mid-2028. The fastest growing age group is aged 85 and over, 

which is likely to double by 2041 and treble by 2066 (ONS). There are implications of 

an ageing population in relation to health and wellbeing, the effects of loneliness and 

isolation, and vulnerability to crime 

 There are likely to be increasing numbers of residents with disabilities that require 

support. As our population grows older and young people with disabilities live longer, 

forecasts show that Wokingham Borough will experience: a 42% increase in people 

whose day-to-day activities are limited a little or a lot by a disability; a 23% increase in 

people living in care homes, particularly those aged 85 and over, and a 20% increase 

in people who are 65 and over and have dementia (POPPI & PANSI). We also know 

67

https://wokingham.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s40577/Appendix%201-%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20Strategy.pdf


6 
 

 

that the number of adults with learning disabilities that we support is higher than in 

many other parts of the country and is the second highest in the South East. 

 Trend data shows that the demand for SEND support in Wokingham is 

increasing. Over the last few years there has been a significant upward trend in the 

numbers of children and young people with Education Health and Care Plans 

(EHCPs) and numbers of children and young people requiring SEN support in 

schools. There have been notable increases in demand for support in relation to 

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and Social and Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) in 

particular. The numbers of younger children (aged 7-11) requiring some form of SEN 

support has increased significantly over the last three years, partly as a result of 

changing demographics and needs, and partly as a result of better assessments and 

more successful early identification and prevention. 

Summary of insight and outcomes from engagement and consultation 

Successful action against inequality requires teamwork and collaboration and is not something 

the council can achieve without the support and engagement of key stakeholders. 

We held focus sessions with staff at different levels. This included our: Members Equality 

Steering Group, Employee Equality Steering Group, Managers Network, Leadership Teams, 

Commissioning Managers, Ethnically Diverse Staff Network, Adult Social Care Staff, Equality 

Champions and Customer Delivery Managers. We also held community sessions with our 

‘Involved Tenants’, service providers, community groups such as CLASP (a charity that 

supports people with learning disabilities) and other residents who wanted to share their 

specific ideas.  

We received 563 consultation responses on key questions relating to the suggested 

priorities and objectives of this Equality Plan. Engagement sessions built on nearly 1800 

comments to highlight areas of strength to build on, and areas for future improvement. 

There were three objectives behind this consultation and engagement: 

a) To temperature check stakeholder views on our current approach to equality 

b) To identify areas of strength in relation to equality, and areas for improvement 

c) To take feedback from stakeholders on suggested priorities for the Equality Plan 

 

a) Temperature check stakeholder views on Wokingham’s current approach to Equality 

Stakeholders were asked whether they agreed or disagreed with the statement that 

Wokingham Borough is a great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do 

business, and with regard to tackling inequality, the Council listens to and learns from the 

community to provide services that work well for everyone. The results are set out in Figure 

2a and 2b below: 

Figure 2a and 2b: Stakeholder responses to questions relating to the Equality Plan 

68



7 
 

 

   

These results show: 

 While most stakeholders agreed that Wokingham Borough is a great place to live, 

learn, work and grow and a great place to do business, a significant proportion (21%) 

were unsure and 8% disagreed. There is opportunity for improvement.  

 We have to do more listening and learning from the community: just under half agreed 

that this is something we do well, over a third were less sure and 15% disagreed. 

 Where data was available, responses from those with protected characteristics were 

analysed. Analysis showed that responses from Ethnic Minority backgrounds did not 

differ significantly from the overall pattern of responses, people with disabilities were 

more likely to disagree with both statements (+3% greater disagreement with 

Wokingham as a great place, +9% greater disagreement with the council listening and 

learning from the community).  

 

b) Identify areas of strength in relation to the current approach to Equality, as well as areas 

for improvement 

Nearly 1800 feedback responses in relation to questions about our priorities for this Plan 

generated useful feedback, which can be grouped into two main areas: 

 Areas of strength we should build on 

 Areas for improvement we should focus on moving forward 

Areas of strength included: 

- The pandemic response and partnership working to help vulnerable people 

- Provision of inclusive events and spaces for children 

- Support for older people and people with disabilities 

- Some communication and surveys 

- Great schools and great place to live for most people 

- Feedback stating that there is a good community spirit in Wokingham, and staff care 

about residents 

Areas for improvement included: 

- The need to take action on inequality, publish it and assess the impact of changes 

- Co-produce and avoid tokenism 

- Could do more to encourage diversity and improve accessibility 

- Greater focus on tackling poverty 

71%

21%

8%

2a. Wokingham Borough is a great place to 
live, learn, work and grow and a great place to 

do business.

Agree Neither Disagree

47%

38%

15%

2b. Thinking about tackling inequality, the 
Council listens to & learns from the 

community to provide services that work well 
for everyone

Agree Neither Disagree

69



8 
 

 

- Deliver a greater focus on racial equity in schools 

- Could do more to give groups with protected characteristics a voice, and improve anti-

discriminatory activity particularly in relation to Ethnic Minority and LGBT+ 

communities 

- Communicate better through “easy read” and translated versions 

- Encourage diversity at all levels of the council 

- Take feedback and monitoring data into account when designing or adapting services 

 

c) Take feedback on suggested priorities for the Equality Plan 

Stakeholders were asked for feedback on some suggested priorities for the Equality Plan. The 

overall responses are set out in Figure 3 below: 

  

70



9 
 

 

Figure 3: Responses from stakeholders to suggested priorities for the Equality Plan 2021-25 

 

Collectively, feedback from the consultation and engagement exercises has helped to shape 

and inform the priorities and objectives set out in the section which follows. 

 

  

87%

87%

91%

9%

9%

6%

4%

4%

3%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%100%

Objective 3. Build a diverse and engaged
workforce, where everyone is respected

Objective 2. Actively champion our commitment to
equality, diversity and inclusion and tackle

inequality together

Objective 1. Listen and learn from our communities
and use this to deliver services that work well for

everyone

"I feel this is an appropriate objective"

Disagree Neither Agree

71



10 
 

 

3. OUR PRIORITIES AND OBJECTIVES 

The Priorities and Objectives which will achieve the ambitions of our Equality Plan are set out 

in Figure 4 below. These directly reflect the areas identified through insight into evidence and 

outcomes from consultation and engagement, and by delivering against these we are 

confident we will achieve our ambition to ensure that Wokingham is a great place for all our 

residents; that we deliver best practice in terms of fulfilling our duties under the Equality Act; 

and will be a great employer that builds a diverse, inclusive and engaged workforce. 

Figure 4: Equality Plan 2021-25: Our Priorities 

Priority 1 - Listen to and learn from our communities and use this to deliver services that 
work well for everyone 

Objective 1 

We will improve the collection of data about our communities, publishing 
it in a transparent manner and acting on this information to improve the way 
we work. This will help enable us to make the greatest possible positive 
impact on tackling inequality and ensure that our delivery meets the needs of 
the communities we serve.  

Objective 2 

We will engage and communicate with our residents to encourage 
participation, learn and adapt so that we build trust, strengthen collaboration 
in delivery, and generate insight and learning to continually strengthen and 
improve our services. We will adapt our methods of communication and 
engagement to the needs of our increasingly diverse population to make sure 
everyone is included.   

Objective 3 
We will use feedback from residents to identify barriers to equality of 
opportunity, and continuously improve our approach and learn from 
mistakes.  

Priority 2 - Act on our commitments to equality, diversity and inclusion in the way we plan, 
deliver and shape our services 

Objective 4 

We will embed our commitments and ambitions to promote equality 
into the way we plan, purchase and deliver. We will assure equality in our 
approaches in a meaningful way that uses feedback and robust performance 
and contract management to ensure we address needs for all our residents, 
and continuously improve. 

Objective 5 

We will model active community leadership by driving commitments to 
tackle inequality in our work with strategic partners, including our local area 
and partnership strategies and plans, and through our collaboration and 
coproduction with the communities and customers we serve 

Objective 6 

We will strengthen and improve our use of Equality Impact 
Assessments to ensure that at the appropriate stages of planning and 
delivery we take account in a timely way of the various potential impacts of 
our decision-making and delivery, have due regard to our duties under the 
Equality Act 2010, and do what we can to promote positive equality impacts 
and minimise negative equality impacts 

Priority 3 - Build a diverse and engaged workforce, where everyone is respected 

Objective 7 
We will support staff at all levels of the organisation, including our 
leadership, to equip them with the right tools to understand how best to tackle 
inequality and meet the needs of our increasingly diverse community 

Objective 8 
We will honour the commitments agreed in our Equality Workforce 
Monitoring Report to help strengthen our approach to equality, diversity and 
inclusion in our workplace  

 

Our priorities will be delivered through a comprehensive Action Plan. This can be found as 

Appendix 1.  

72



11 
 

 

4. MEASURING SUCCESS 

To ensure that we are successful in making a meaningful impact on key measures of equality 

and achieve the ambitions set out in this plan, we have adopted an established, credible and 

objective performance framework to measure our performance and results. 

The Framework selected for this plan is the Local Government Association (LGA) Equality 

Framework. This Framework helps councils, in discussion with local partners and local people, 

to review and improve their performance to advance equality for people with protected 

characteristics. 

This Framework has four parts: 

1. Understanding and working with your communities; 
2. Leadership and organisational commitment; 
3. Responsive services and customer care; 
4. Diverse and engaged workforce. 

 

There are three possible levels of achievement described in the Framework:  

 Developing 

 Achieving 

 Excellent  

As we implement this plan, we will self-assess ourselves against three levels for each part of 

the Framework. We will monitor our progress and delivery to ensure that we progress to the 

highest levels possible for each element of the Framework. 

At a future point, we will be able to invite peer challenge and support to ensure that our 

assessments of our performance and progress are credible and robust. 

Focusing on delivery: Equality Action Plan (2021-22) 

A detailed Action Plan (attached as Appendix 1) has been developed to ensure immediate 

focus on delivery, and that actions are taken in the coming financial year to ensure our 

Priorities and Objectives are achieved. 

The various groups involved in Governance of the Strategy (see the section below) will help 

to monitor progress against delivery of this Action Plan, and ensure that our delivery is having 

the intended impact on Equality outcomes. 

  

73

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/equality-frameworks/equality-framework-local-government
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/equality-frameworks/equality-framework-local-government


12 
 

 

5. GOVERNANCE 

In order to ensure that we take a robust approach to Governing the delivery of this Plan, we 

have put Governance arrangements in place to ensure the right balance of support and 

challenge as we implement the Actions set out in the Action Plan. 

Given the complexity of the Equality agenda, it is appropriate to engage a range of different 

groups in the process of helping to steer delivery of the Equality Plan, and help us assess our 

progress.  

Collectively, these groups will help us to ensure that our commitments and actions set out in 

the Action Plan (Appendix 1) are successfully delivered. 

The Governance arrangements for the Equality Plan 2021-25 are set out in Figure 5 below: 

Figure 5: Governance Arrangements for Delivery of the Equality Plan 2021-25 

 

Equality Steering Groups 

In order to help steer development of this Equality Plan a cross-party Members’ Equality 

Steering Group was established. The group met at key stages to provide oversight, advice 

and feedback and help steer the development of the Plan. This helped to effectively align 

equality activities with our vision and set accountable direction for the Plan. 

Internally, our Employment Equality Steering Group is chaired by the Head of Human 

Resources & Organisation Development and made up of representatives from each 

Directorate in the Council as well as UNISON. The group meets quarterly, and is responsible 

for ensuring that no potential or existing member of staff is excluded from career and training 

opportunities or experiences discrimination.  

Our newly formed Ethnically Diverse Staff Network is agreeing terms of reference so that it 

can support our equality priorities. In addition, multiple workstreams, including Equality 

Champions, have been mobilised to tackle racism in the workplace through a network of more 

than 100 staff volunteers.  

 

Delivery of 
the Equality 

Plan 2021-25

Equality 
Steering 
Groups

Corporate 
Leadership

Community 
Engagement

Overview and 
Scrutiny and 
cross-party 
Committees

74



13 
 

 

Corporate Leadership 

Tackling inequality is a key priority for us and we are committed, at every level of the 

organisation, to take effective and measurable action. The Director for Communities, Insight 

and Change has been appointed as the corporate lead for equality. As an employer, our staff 

and Councillors adhere to our code of conduct and we will continue to make clear our position 

of zero tolerance of harassment and bullying. We embrace constructive challenge at all levels, 

and the Corporate Leadership Team will ensure that we make measurable progress towards 

developing an inclusive culture that strives for excellence in everything we do, for all members 

of our local community. 

Overview and Scrutiny and Cross-Party Committees 

Our Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee, Audit Committee and Personnel Board 

(which all have cross-party membership) are responsible for oversight and scrutiny of progress 

on this Plan, which is included on their forward programmes of work. Their support, advice 

and challenge will help ensure our actions demonstrate results. 

Our Community 

We value and welcome the opportunity to hear from all members of our community about how 

well we are doing against the commitments set out in this Plan, and how we could improve. 

Although members of the public can present questions at Council meetings to actively 

participate in democracy and decision making, we recognise that we must do more to ensure 

that all members of the community have their voice heard in the decision-making process.  

Internal audits and external inspections will also help us to quality assure and help us improve. 

Actions we will take to deliver this Plan include those to continue to strengthen our approach 

to customer complaints, and ensure that we learn from this feedback and address areas of 

concern in a timely and appropriate manner. 

We have many residents, community groups, partners and voluntary organisations that 

provide regular opportunities for active engagement in the decisions and services which affect 

them, including: The Children in Care Council, Wokingham Youth Climate Conference, 

Wokingham Borough Connect, COVID Community Champions, BME Forum, Children’s 

Rights and Advocacy Service, One Front Door, Involved Tenants, CLASP and the Learning 

Disability Partnership Board. We will ensure that we engage with and learn from the work of 

these valuable groups throughout the implementation of this Plan. 

  

75



14 
 

 

6. APPENDICES 

 

Appendix 1: Equality Plan: Action Plan (2021-22) 

Appendix 2: Summary of delivery since 2017 

76



Page 1 of 4 
  

Appendix 1: Equality Action Plan 1 (2021-2022)  
 
We have an action plan so that we can measure progress in achieving our three priorities for 2021-2025. It does not include everything that we hope 
to achieve in the coming years or ‘business as usual’, it focuses on actions that we will work on in the first year to make a difference. Many actions 
require collaboration that will help to embed good practice. We will share, publish and review our Equality Action Plan(s) every year to make progress 
on our 4-year Equality Plan.  
 

 What are we going to do Measurable Outcomes Target date for 
completion 

Equality priority 1 - Listen to and learn from our communities and use this to deliver services that work well for everyone 

Objective 1 We will improve the collection of data about our communities, publishing it in a transparent manner and acting on this 
information to improve the way we work. This will help enable us to make the greatest possible positive impact on tackling 
inequality and ensure that our delivery meets the needs of the communities we serve. 

Action 1 Publish equality and diversity information on 
our website  

Residents can easily access information about equality on our 
website 

Q1 April to June 
2021 and 
ongoing 

Action 2 Review and identify any potential areas of 
change to improve our equality monitoring 
form and monitoring practices 

An updated equality monitoring form, or a record of reasons why 
no changes were made, is available. 
 
An equality monitoring policy or reasons for the absence of one 
is available.  

 
 
Q4 January to 
March 2022 

Action 3 Introduce an ‘easy read’ equality monitoring 
Form. Easy read is a way of making 
information accessible to people with 
learning disabilities. It can also help people 
that find it difficult to read and write, 
younger people, people who have memory 
problems, or are communicating in another 
language 

An easy read equality monitoring form is available  Q4 January to 
March 2022 

Action 4 Conduct service audits to identify any 
potential gaps in equality monitoring data  

All service areas collect equality monitoring data. Those that do 
not, have written reasons why.   

Q4 January to 
March 2022 

Objective 2 We will engage and communicate with our residents to encourage participation, learn and adapt so that we build trust, 
strengthen collaboration in delivery, and generate insight and learning to continually strengthen and improve our services. We will 
adapt our methods of communication and engagement to the needs of our increasingly diverse population to make sure everyone 
is included.   

77



Page 2 of 4 
  

Action 5 Identify an approach to develop a Resident 
Equality Group 

A group has been set up to provide a voice to advance equality 
for people with protected characteristics  

Q3 October to 
December 2021 

Action 6 Support the ‘BME’ Forum to deliver on its 
objectives, purpose and activities  

A representative and independent BME Forum for the Borough Q3 October to 
December 2021 

Action 7 Identify how to improve the experience of 
residents who need to communicate in 
other languages  

A document is available to show measures that could be taken 
to support residents who need additional support.  

Q3 October to 
December 2021 

Action 8 Support staff to offer ‘Easy Read’ for new 
public documents 

More public documents are available in Easy Read Q4 January to 
March 2022 

Objective 3  We will use feedback from residents to identify barriers to equality of opportunity, and continuously improve our approach and 
learn from mistakes.    

Action 9 Introduce Equality Monitoring into our 
complaints process and when gathering 
customer feedback via phone, email and 
online and ensure this is used to shape 
service delivery 

Meaningful equality data is captured via customer touchpoints, 
maximising the reach and quantity received, for improved 
monitoring 

Q3 October to 
December 2021 

Action 10 Listen to a diverse range of community 
groups and partners to gather insights  

Improved channels of engagement with existing groups and new 
groups to improve inclusive participation in decision making  
Feedback is used to make improvements in services.  

Ongoing  

 

 What are we going to do Measurable Outcomes Target date for 
completion 

Equality priority 2 - Act on our commitments to equality, diversity and inclusion in the way we plan, deliver and shape our services. 

Objective 4 We will embed our commitments and ambitions to promote equality into the way we plan, purchase and deliver. We will 
assure equality in our approaches in a meaningful way that uses feedback and robust performance and contract management to 
ensure we address needs for all our residents, and continuously improve. 

Action 11 Review our consideration of modern-day 
slavery in contract and commissioning 
activities 

Activity has been reviewed and opportunities to strengthen our 
approach established 

Q4 January to 
March 2022 

Action 12 Review equality standards for procurement 
activities  

Contract and monitoring clauses have been reviewed  
Needs analysis shows that services to be procured are 
representative, fair and reasonable. 
Equality is built into corporate procurement strategy 

Q4 January to 
March 2022 

Objective 5 We will model active community leadership by driving commitments to tackle inequality in our work with strategic partners, 
including our local area and partnership strategies and plans, and through our collaboration and coproduction with the communities 
and customers we serve. 

78



Page 3 of 4 
  

Action 13 Influence the creation of a wider Councils 
Equality Forum to share best practice with 
other councils 

Terms of reference for a wider group has been created Q1 April to June 
2021 

Action 14 Identify an approach to continue to engage 
and support collaboration with Councillors 

Existing Equalities Members’ Steering Group is reviewed and 
future ways of working agreed, to deliver against objectives 

Q2 July to 
September 2021 

Action 15 Celebrate successes made in tackling 
inequality 

Publish 3 case studies of positive actions taken in 2021-2022 Q4 January to 
March 2022 

Action 16 Support partners in the Borough such as 
schools, Public Health and Community 
Safety Partnership to tackle inequalities 

Actions have been set to collaboratively focus on:  

 Racial equity in schools 

 Hate crime 

 Domestic abuse  

 Approach to poverty 

 Health inequalities 

 Autism Strategy  

Q4 January to 
March 2022  

Action 17 Role model behaviour that promotes, 
encourages and showcases the benefits of 
diversity in our community  

Publish communications that relate to protected groups such as 
Ethnic Minority and LGBT+ communities and people with 
disabilities. Such as celebrating and marking important dates 
throughout the year and promoting health and wellbeing 
Language and images used when we communicate demonstrate 
diversity and inclusion.  

Q4 January to 
March 2022 

Objective 6 We will strengthen and improve our use of Equality Impact Assessments to ensure that at the appropriate stages of planning 
and delivery we take account in a timely way of the various potential impacts of our decision-making and delivery, have due regard 
to our duties under the Equality Act 2010, and do what we can to promote positive equality impacts and minimise negative equality 
impacts 

Action 18 Review equality impact assessments 
training and procedures to ensure they are 
completed at the right time and are robust.  

Changes made to procedures and tools to improve clarity for 
staff. 
Positive feedback from staff feeling more confident with 
assessments.  
Assessments are collated so they can be quality checked. 

Q3 October to 
December 2021 

Action 19 Review progress against actions and carry 
out a self- assessment using LGA Equality 
Framework. Action plan to be reviewed 
annually with an aim to undertake a peer 
review during the lifecycle of this plan to 
inform and strengthen our approach.  

Progress is published and action plan is reviewed annually.  Q4 January to 
March 2022 

 

79

https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/community-and-safety/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/community-and-safety/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/


Page 4 of 4 
  

 What are we going to do Measurable Outcomes Target date for 
completion 

Equality priority 3 – Build a diverse and engaged workforce, where everyone is respected. 

Objective 7 We will support staff at all levels of the organisation, including our leadership, to equip them with the right tools to understand 
how best to tackle inequality and meet the needs of our increasingly diverse community 

Action 20 Deliver against the 5 principles of the Race 
at Work Charter  
 

Share and publish a report about our progress since signing the 
Charter 

Q3 October to 
December 2021 

Action 21 Review equality training offered to staff and 
Councillors and identify gaps  

Training gaps are identified, and plans made to address the gaps.  
Elected Councillors are provided with training and feedback is 
collected to improve future training 

Q3 October to 
December 2021 

Action 22 Equip staff with demographic tools to help 
understand the diversity of the Borough  

Key metrics to measure and report on equality position and 
progress are provided to staff.  

Q3 October to 
December 2021 

Action 23 Create an internal equality page for staff to 
collect and share information to support a 
diverse workforce 

A page is available for staff to access information about equality 
in one area of our intranet 

Q1 April to June 
2021 

Objective 8 We will honour the commitments agreed in our Equality Workforce Monitoring Report to help strengthen our approach to 
equality, diversity and inclusion in our workplace  

Action 24 Review our commitment from the staff 
survey to undertake actions needed for 
protected groups 

Working group on staff survey has equality indicators in its terms 
of reference 

Q2 July to 
September 2021 

Action 25 Promote self-declaration of protected 
characteristics amongst staff 

Increased numbers of staff have declared their diversity 
information compared to figures recorded in the Equality 
Monitoring Report 

Q2 July to 
September 2021 

Action 26 Ensure work is conducted to monitor and 
address any gaps in relation to employees 
with protected characteristics in our 
workforce (excluding schools) 

Progress reviewed against actions in our Workforce Equality 
Monitoring Report for 2020-21.  
A report is produced and published for 2021-22 showing 
improvements made 

Q3 October to 
December 2021 

Action 27 Review the feasibility of actions that will 
support diverse recruitment in senior roles  

Recommendations are available on how to improve diverse 
recruitment in senior roles  

Q4 January to 
March 2022 

Action 28 Review recruitment practices to attract 
underrepresented groups 

Employee Equality Steering Group has recorded actions taken to 
review practices 

Q3 October to 
December 2021 

Action 29 Demonstrate anti-racist practice by 
understanding if there are gaps in what 
support could be offered to staff exposed 
to racism through their work 

Options for solutions presented  Q3 October to 
December 2021  

 

80

https://www.bitc.org.uk/race/
https://www.bitc.org.uk/race/


1 
 

Appendix 2: What we have delivered since 2017 
 
Objective 1:  Services are easily accessible for all our residents and capable of 
responding to changing needs of our communities and how we will look after 
vulnerable individuals and groups. 
 
What we have done:  
 

 Council services that support our most vulnerable individuals have been 
reviewed and transformed to more closely meet the needs of our residents 

 We have adopted a continuous improvement approach to ensuring services 
are accessible and responsive which means we are continually seeking to 
improve the way that we target support.   

 We enable our vulnerable residents to have a voice and influence decisions 
that affect them and the services they receive to shape these to suit individual 
needs.   

 Maximising variety of communication channels and improvements to online 
transactions which can be more convenient for some people with protected 
characteristics, whilst acknowledging that digital transactions may not be 
accessible to all and therefore continuing to offer mediated support either over 
the telephone, within the Council Offices, Libraries and Locality Hubs (prior to 
temporary closure due to the pandemic).  

 Complying with the 2018 Digital Accessibility Regulations to ensure the 
Council’s website can be used by as many people as possible including those 
with impaired vision, motor difficulties, cognitive impairments or learning 
disabilities, deafness or impaired hearing.  

 On-line citizenship ceremonies.  
 Increased online library offer.  
 Support with the EU settlement scheme (free service to residents).  
 Extending blue badge scheme to include those with hidden disabilities as per 

Government legislation and 2,500 people are now registered online users of 
the Blue Badge Scheme  

 The Local Offer and the Community Directory - online key information hub 
supporting disabled or vulnerable older residents/carers/families (continuously 
improved and informed by resident and user feedback). 

 
Objective 2: Vulnerable individuals and groups are supported and looked after  
 
What we have done:  
 
 
2017 

 Berkshire Suicide Prevention Strategy 2017-20. 
 Domestic Violence and Abuse Strategy 2017-20. 
 Childcare Sufficiency Strategy 2017 – securing the right type and amount of 

childcare provision. 
 Children’s Services Recruitment, Retention and Wellbeing Strategy – 

ensuring our workforce is committed to equality. 
 Achieving Permanence for Children Strategy 2017-2019.  
 Adopt Berkshire Sufficiency Strategy (2017) 

81



2 
 

 Engagement Strategy for Children’s Services 2017-2018. 
 

2018 
 Wokingham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-21. 
 Education Strategy for Looked After Children (commitment to improve 

educational outcomes for looked after children). 
 

2019 
 Child Exploitation Strategy 2019-21.  
 Addington Internship Programme 2019. 

 
2020 

 Adult Social Care Strategy 2020-25 – Our ambition for Wokingham Borough 
to be one of the best Boroughs for adults and carers in need of support to live, 
where they feel safe, included and a key part of our community. 

 Voluntary and Community Sector Strategy (co-produced with Involve) – Our 
vision is to have an independent, sustainable and diverse voluntary and 
community sector, working with the community, Council and partners to meet 
the needs of local people. 

 Learning Disability Strategy 2020-25 – we want to support more people to be 
independent and to have the choice of where they live with people they 
choose. Also supporting young people with a learning disability to prepare for 
adult life. 

 Draft Arts and Culture Strategy 2020. 
 The Pledge (promises to children in care and care leavers) 2020. 
 Public Rights of Way (PROW) improvement plan2020 - one of the key aims is 

to improve access for people with visual or mobility impairments. 
 Customer Charter 2020 – sets out how we will adapt to individual customer 

needs.  
 Carers Strategy 2020 was co-produced to meet specific needs for vulnerable 

groups.  
 Autism and Mental Health strategies are emerging, again co-produced and 

driven by vulnerable groups 
 
We have improved the responsiveness and accessibility of our services through:  
Improvement to pathways to care and support for protected and vulnerable groups in 
Children’s and Adults Services, facilitated by operational changes to improve 
outcomes for service users: 

 Children with disabilities. 
 Early help. 
 Edge of care.  
 Youth Offending Service. 
 Adult social care pathway - incorporating lessons learnt from the recent Three 

Conversations pilot.  
 New Adult safeguarding hub 
 Project Joy – tackling social isolation. 
 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) improvement programme 

– improving local placement provision. 
 Community Navigator Scheme – volunteers to introduce people to community 

services that address their needs.  

82



3 
 

 We continue to implement the Wokingham Pledge promise to Children in 
Care and Care Leavers – and encourage feedback through the Children in 
Care Council, through the Children’s Rights and Engagement Officer and we 
monitor our progress every year through questionnaires and telephone 
surveys and feedback through the Children in Care Council. 

 We support Care leavers into permanent accommodation.  
 Pan West Berkshire safeguarding arrangements.  
 We have committed to addressing racial harassment and hate crime in the 

Borough.  
 
Objective 3: Consultation and Engagement are effective and inclusive for all 
our communities  
 
What we have done:  
 
We regularly consult on our policies, strategies and share information on matters 
affecting our communities.  We strive to do this in a variety of ways, involving 
surveys, co-production of strategies, focus groups, forums and through the 
democratic process of public participation in Council meetings or representation on 
partnership boards.  Since 2017 we have been developing our approach to reach out 
to a broader section of the community including through increased social media, 
online and other media presence.  
 

 The Children in Care Council meets monthly and is formed of a group of 
young people who are in care or who are care leavers to act as a second 
voice for all of Wokingham’s children in care and care leavers.  It enables 
lived experiences to be shared with Managers, Councillors and the Corporate 
Parenting Board which checks on the service offered. The feedback is used to 
improve services and strengthen the promises for the future.  

 The Childrens Rights and Advocacy service provides support to around 130 
children subject of a child protection plan as well as children in care to ensure 
that the voice of the child is clearly heard. 

 Strengths Based approach to ensuring we are committed to the wishes, 
feelings and voice of the child or young person. 

 Regularly shared information with our BME Forum. 
 Wokingham Youth Climate Conference set up to encourage climate friendly 

behaviours through school visits and educational projects as well as 
facilitating young people to lead behaviour change across the Borough. 

 We have introduced Wokingham Borough Connect, which has delivered 
important communications throughout Covid-19 to keep our residents safe.  

 We have kept our phone lines open and worked closely with Citizens Advice 
with no “wrong” reason to call.  

 Our community engagement officers have continued to have an active 
presence in our communities, taking care to socially distance and to be there 
to help our most vulnerable residents.  

 Carried out a Survey on Tackling Racism Matters and Community Cohesion 
in the Borough to understand communities and set out actions needed. 

 Support and facilitate the Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) Residents Forum, 
though this is currently paused to consider how best to move forward. 

83



4 
 

 Developed our Community Engagement Team offer – working to support 
residents and communities to lead self-sustaining lifestyles and playing an 
active role in community groups (e.g. Norreys Community Group).  

 Co-produced Tenants Charter for our Council Tenants. 
 150 people with a learning disability contributed to creating the Learning 

Disability Strategy.  
 Ensure that the voice of people with a learning disability is heard through 

facilitation of an active Learning Disability Partnership Board supported by the 
voluntary sector. 

 
Objective 4: The Council’s workforce is committed to equality and reflects the 
communities it serves  
 
What we have done:  
 
We have continuously developed our workforce to ensure we are all committed to 
achieving a fairer and more equal Borough. Since 2017 we: 
 

 Implemented the Guaranteed Interview Scheme for any candidate who 
declares a disability and meets the essential criteria of the role.  

 Advertised all roles on our website and made them accessible to all 
employees, subject to redeployment needs.   

 Prevented staff with protected characteristics being excluded from career or 
training opportunities through our Employment Equality Steering Group.  

 Ensured all new staff have mandatory equality training and refresh it as 
necessary.  

 Continued to include equality learning and unconscious bias training in our 
recruitment training programme. 

 Did full Equality Impact Assessments whenever major changes affected 
employees, such as our 21st Century Change Programme to mitigate risks to 
protected groups. 

 Made reasonable building and equipment adjustments to make offices 
accessible to all. 

 Offer enhanced maternity pay subject to certain conditions on returning to 
work.  

 Met our statutory duties for family care leave, for example: Shared Parental 
Leave, Paternity Leave and Pay, Care Leave, Adoption Leave and Pay, 
Parental Bereavement Leave. 

 Took on 39 apprentices in 2019-2020 through Elevate Wokingham who seek 
Apprenticeships and Work Experience for 16-19 year olds not in education, 
employment or training.  

 Opened our dormant staff café to provide work experience for vulnerable and 
disadvantaged young people from Addington School to enable young people 
to acquire catering skills. 

 Appointed a lead for the Equalities at Director level. 
 Introduced individual Covid-19 Risk Assessments for vulnerable and Ethnic 

Minority staff. 
 Responded to our staff survey on Tackling Racism Matters by setting up 

working groups to review our policy, practices and visible commitment to 
equality.  

84



5 
 

 Established an Ethnically Diverse Staff Network. 
 Started an Equality Champions programme across the organisation to 

improve visibility of commitment and support the development of equality 
objectives, actions and embed equality into procurement and service delivery. 

 Signed Business in the Community’s Race at Work Charter to take action that 
supports Ethnic Minority career progression 
 

Objective 5: The Council is committed to equality through service 
commissioning and delivery, improved procurement and partnership working  
 
What we have done:  
 

 Reviewed and strengthened our approach to procurement of services through 
greater partnership working, co-production of strategies to inform 
commissioning of services.  

 Improved the commissioning and procurement process through consultation 
with customer groups.  

 Ensured tenders from potential suppliers indicate their commitment to equality 
appropriate to the nature of the contract.  

 Shared equality data between the Council and Providers. 
 Fully supported Neighbourhood Plans. 
 Our Community Safety Partnership is well established and strategic 

development of the partnership is underway working with a range of partners 
including the children and young peoples partnership, neighbourhood action 
groups and the Localities Team, to address the targeting of young or 
vulnerable people to facilitate criminal activity.  

 Improved the Council’s Design and Build approval process to ensure equality 
impact assessments are shared with the approval board prior to any proposed 
decision. 

 Co-produced the Tenants Charter with our Council Housing Tenants.  
 Monitored the impact of Covid 19 through Public Health response and 

recovery work. Looking at the impact on Ethnic Minority Communities and 
developing actions to respond. All Covid 19 recovery workstreams have and 
are, being informed by the data and insight held by Public Health so that it can 
be shared with our partners and our communities. 

 

85

https://www.bitc.org.uk/race/


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form: Initial impact assessment  

If an officer is undertaking a project, policy change or service change, then an initial impact assessment must be completed and attached alongside the 

Project initiation document.  

EqIA Titular information: 

Date: January 2021 

Service: Communities, Insight and Change  

Project, policy or service 
EQIA relates to:  

Equality Plan  

Completed by: Karla Inniss 

Has the EQIA been discussed at 
services team meeting: 

Yes 

Signed off by: Laura Callan 

Sign off date: 12th February 2021 

 

1. Policy, Project or service information:  

This section should be used to identify the main purpose of the project, policy or service change, the method of delivery, including who key stakeholders 

are, main beneficiaries and any associated aims.  

What is the purpose of the project, policy change or service change , its expected outcomes and how does it relate to your services corporate 

plan: 

We have an Equality Plan to build on our vision. Our Community Vision for 2020 to 2024, is to be a great place to live, learn, work and grow and a 

great place to do business. This includes everyone and means tackling inequality together. Our community priorities set out our commitment to 

equality in all that we do and how we will meet the needs of our community.  We also think it is important to share how we meet the Equality Act, 

2010. To: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other unlawful conduct  

 Advance equality of opportunity  

 Foster good relations 
Learning from public engagement, looking at the Local Government Association Equality Framework, reflecting on our past actions and building on 

our vision has helped us to think further about what we want to do better and what our priorities should be for the coming years. We have built this 

plan to provide structure to our work but the work itself should change based on what we continue to learn.  

87

https://www.wokingham.gov.uk/council-and-meetings/open-data/community-vision/


2 

 

 

Outline how you are delivering your project, policy change or service change. What governance arrangements are in place, which internal 
stakeholders (Service managers, Assistant Directors, Members ect) have/will be consulted and informed about the project or changes: 

We know the best outcomes and changes can only be achieved together. That’s why we asked for everyone to share their views and ideas about the 
proposals.  We held a number of focus sessions with different staff at different levels. This included our: Members Equality Steering Group, Employee 
Equality Steering Group, Managers Network, Leadership Teams, Commissioning Managers, Ethnically Diverse Staff Network, Adult Social Care Staff, 
Equality Champions and Customer Delivery Managers. We also held sessions with groups in the community too, like the Voluntary Sector, Involved 
Tenants, Service Providers, Clasp and other residents who wanted to share their specific ideas.  
 

 

Outline who are the main beneficiaries of the Project, policy change or service change? 

The equality plan is about tackling inequality together. This affects everyone but we know this is especially important to people directly affected by 

inequality and likely to people with protected characteristics, defined by the Equality Act 2010.  

 

Outline any associated aims attached to the project, policy change or service change: 

The Equality Plan provides structure for the work that needs to be done but the work itself should change based on what the Council continues to 
learn from communities. Work should align with three identified priorities: 

• Priority 1 - Listen and learn from our communities and use this to deliver services that work well for everyone. 
• Priority 2 - Actively champion our commitment to equality, diversity and inclusion and tackle inequality together. 
• Priority 3 - Build a diverse and engaged workforce, where everyone is respected. 

 
An action plan for 2021-2022 is included to make progress in becoming a more inclusive Borough.  
  

 

2. Protected characteristics: 

There are 9 protected characteristics as defined by the legislation: 

 Race 

 Gender 

 Disability 

88



3 

 

 Gender re-assignment  

 Age 

 Religious belief 

 Sexual orientation  

 Pregnancy/Maternity 

 Marriage and civil partnership: 

To find out more about the protected groups, please consult the EQIA guidance.  

3. Initial Impact review: 

In the table below, please indicate whether your project, Policy change or service change will have a positive or negative impact on one of the protected 

characteristics. To assess the level of impact, please assign each group a Positive, No, Low or High impact score: 

For information on how to define No, low or high impact, please consult the EQIA guidance document.  

If your project is to have a positive impact on one of the protected groups, please outline this in the table below. 

For details on what constitutes a positive impact, please consult the EQIA guidance.  

Protected 
characteristics 

Impact 
score 

Please detail what impact will be felt by the protected group: 

Overall People in these protected groups are at the heart of the Equality Plan. The aim of actions is to set tangible goals so 
that progress can be made to improve outcomes for people with protected characteristics. The measures introduced 
will help to advance understanding of people and groups at a disadvantage such as improving equality monitoring 
and creating a residents’ equality group.  
 

  

89



4 

 

Mitigations 

Race: No The action plan specifically identifies the aim to role model behaviour that promotes, encourages and showcases 
the benefits of diversity in our community, particularly in relation to publishing communications that relate to 
Ethnic Minority communities such as celebrating and marking important dates that we haven’t previously   
Further steps to take actions against the 5 principles of the Race at Work Charter are also in the plan. It also 
highlights the commitment to proactively demonstrate anti-racist practice by investigating what additional support 
can be offered to staff exposed to racism through their work. In addition, there are further actions to support 
Racial Equity Work in Schools, collaborative work on Hate Crime and health inequalities and how to improve 
communication to residents who need to communicate in other languages.  

Gender: No None identified 

Disabilities: No  The action plan identifies areas to make improvements in easy read publications and collaboration on the 
upcoming Autism Strategy and health inequalities.  

Age: No Action to progress existing engagement is in the plan.  

Sexual orientation: No The action plan specifically identifies the aim to role model behaviour that promotes, encourages and showcases 
the benefits of diversity in our community, particularly in relation to publishing communications that relate to 
LGBT+ communities such as celebrating and marking important dates that we haven’t previously. Further actions 
include collaboration on Hate Crime. 

Religion/belief: No The action plan specifically identifies the aim to role model behaviour that promotes, encourages and showcases 
the benefits of diversity in our community, particularly in relation to publishing communications that relate to 
Ethnic Minority communities such as celebrating and marking important dates that we haven’t previously   

Gender re-
assignment: 

No The action plan specifically identifies the aim to role model behaviour that promotes, encourages and showcases 
the benefits of diversity in our community, particularly in relation to publishing communications that relate to 
LGBT+ communities such as celebrating and marking important dates that we haven’t previously. Further actions 
include collaboration on Hate Crime.  

Pregnancy and 
Maternity: 

No None identified 

Marriage and civil 
partnership: 

No None identified 

Based on your findings from your initial impact assessment, you must complete a full impact assessment for any groups you have identified as having a low 

of high negative impact. If No impact, or a positive impact has been identified, you do not need to complete a full assessment. However, you must report on 

this initial assessment and it must receive formal approval from the Assistant Director responsible for the project, policy or service change.  

90



TITLE Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2020-21 
  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Council on Thursday,18 March 2021 
  
WARD None Specific; 
  
LEAD OFFICER Monitoring Officer/Deputy Chief Executive and 

Director of Resources & Assets - Andrew 
Moulton/Graham Ebers 

  
  

PURPOSE OF REPORT (INC STRATEGIC OUTCOMES) 
 
Effective borrowing and investments to optimise the resource position for the Council and 
provide strong financial standing. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Council is recommended to note: 
 
1) Appendix A, the Treasury Management Mid-Year report which was agreed at Audit 

Committee on 23rd November 2020; 
 

2) All approved indicators set out in the Treasury Management Strategy have been 
adhered to and that prudent and safe management has been maintained 

 

and; 
 

3) That the Council’s Chief Finance Officer is able to appraise Council of any 
supplementary information considered to be relevant to their consideration  

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report provides a summary of the Treasury Management operations during the first six 
months of 2020/2021. It is presented for the purpose of monitoring and review, in 
accordance with Council’s treasury management practices. The Council adhered to all 
agreed prudential indicators. This includes ensuring the necessary liquidity to deliver on the 
day-to-day operations of the Council.  There are two aspects of treasury performance: debt 
management which relates to the Council’s borrowing and cash investment which relates to 
the investment of cash balances. 
 
Appendix A is the Treasury Management Mid-Year report which was agreed at Audit 
Committee on 23rd November 2020. Key highlights to note from this report are: 
 

 The annual cost of servicing this borrowing that falls to the local taxpayer is £7.52 
per council tax band D property for 2020/21.  

 Net indebtedness after cash balances is £83m at end of September 2020.  

 Realisable asset value of £496m at end of September 2020, meaning an asset to 
net indebtedness ratio cover of 6:1. 

 
 

91

Agenda Item 106.



In passing on the report to Executive in January the Council’s Chief Finance Officer 
provided the Executive with further information in the covering report. This introduced the 
surplus income (above the cost of borrowing) into the calculation of the impact on local 
taxpayers. This had the effect of turning the small deficit of £7.52 per council tax D property 
into a small surplus of £7.20 and thereby further improving the contextual information in 
which the Prudential Indicators had already been noted by Audit Committee.   
 
The report was originally scheduled to be noted at the 18th February Council meeting. 
However, in response to a Member point of order which queried the Constitutional position, 
the Mayor agreed to defer the item to the March meeting. 
 
The report, therefore, provides information from the Council’s Monitoring Officer which sets 
out the Constitutional position and confirms that, through the presentation of this report for 
the Council to note, the Audit Committee has discharged its duties appropriately. 
 
In addition, the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), has provided a statement to explain the 
broader context in terms of the impact of the Council’s borrowing on the Council Taxpayer.  
 
 

92



BACKGROUND (Monitoring Officer) 
 
1. The Treasury Management Mid-Year Report presented to and agreed by the Audit 

Committee at its meeting of 23 November 2020 has led to some concerns being 
raised about the Constitutional remit of the Audit Committee and the involvement of 
the Executive in considering the report of the Audit Committee on its route to 
Council. 

 
2. The purpose of this background note from the Monitoring Officer is to clarify the 

Constitutional position. 
 
GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
 
3. The Audit Committee is a Committee of the Council. Its remit with regard Treasury 

Management is set out in the Constitution, specifically in the following paragraphs:- 
 

4.4.3.1 j  
To agree the Treasury Management Strategy and Policies prior to 
recommendations being made to the Executive and Council. 

 
4.4.3.1 k 
To monitor treasury management decisions to ensure compliance with the 
approved Treasury Management Strategy. 
 

4. In addition, the Council’s Financial Regulations (section 12 of the Constitution) 
state:- 

 
12.1.13.5  
Director Corporate Services (Chief Finance Officer) shall provide a mid-year and 
annual report to the Audit Committee, prior to being approved by Council, on the 
exercise of the treasury management powers delegated, treasury management 
performance and on any material departure from the code of practice. 

 
5. Finally, the Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance (approved by Council in 

November 2020 and included as an annex to Section 9 of the Constitution) states 
under the heading of “robust internal control”:- 

 
Ensure an audit committee which is independent of the executive and accountable 
to the governing body:  

- Provides a further source of effective assurance regarding arrangements 
for managing risk and maintaining an effective control environment; and,  
- That its recommendations are listened to and acted upon. 

 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE RESOLUTION 
 
6. The minutes of the Audit Committee meeting of 23 November 2020 record the 

following:- 
 

RESOLVED: That the Audit Committee:  
1) support this report and recommend it to Executive.  

93



2) note all approved indicators set out in the treasury management strategy have 
been adhered to and that prudent and safe management has been maintained.  
3) note that the net cost per council tax payer for the financing of all borrowing to 
date equates to £7.52 which is 0.4% of the average Band D council tax charge.  
4) note that the total external general fund debt is £324m, which reduces to £83m 
after taking into account cash balances (net indebtedness).  
5) note the Council’s realisable asset value of £496m, of which its commercial 
assets is estimated at £192m. 

 
7. For the purposes of this report, it is emphasised that Council is being asked 

to note the same report (i.e. Appendix A) as was considered and agreed by 
the Audit Committee. Therefore, the Audit Committee has properly 
discharged its duties under the Council’s Constitution.  

 
 
EXECUTIVE RESPONSIBILITY FOR TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
8.       Paragraph 5.1.10f) of the Constitution states that the Executive shall be responsible 

for:  “the implementation and monitoring of Treasury Management Policies and 
practices.” 

 
9.       Also, under “specific responsibilities of Executive Members,” paragraph 5.2.12.10 

states the Executive Member for Finance and Housing is “responsible for 
overseeing and monitoring the Treasury Management Strategy and alerting the 
Executive to issues of concern.” 

 
 
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER (CFO) STATEMENT  
 
10. Paragraphs 1-9 above deal with the Constitutional and Governance issues raised 

by a Member under a point of order at the Council meeting of 18 February 2021. 
The purpose of my comments are to clarify the financial position being presented. 

 
11. The primary purpose of the Treasury Management Mid-Year report is to provide 

assurance that the Prudential Indicators (borrowing limits) have not been breached. 
This assurance was provided to Audit Committee on 23 November 2020 and was 
duly noted. Given the level of interest and commentary around borrowing levels and 
its impact on Council Taxpayers, I thought it was important that I introduced an 
additional schedule to show this. This schedule is therefore put forward to provide a 
useful and reassuring context, it is not a Prudential Indicator that is required to be 
monitored and adhered to. 

 
12. In the report presented to Audit Committee on 23 November 2020, the cost 

of borrowing associated with income generating activities was deducted in arriving 
at the cost falling on the Council Taxpayer. This resulted in a relatively small loss of 
£7.52 per Band D. 

 
13. In passing this report to Executive on 28 January 2021, my covering report showed 

the impact on the Council Taxpayer if the income from the borrowing activities was 
introduced, as opposed to simply taking out the cost of this borrowing. Because the 
income exceeds the associated cost of borrowing (by approximately £1m), the 
impact on the Council Taxpayer improves from a cost of £7.52 per band D, to a 

94



credit of £7.20 (as shown on pages 114-115 of the public reports pack for the 
Executive meeting of 28 January 2021).  

 
14. This supplementary information provided to Executive and subsequently Council 

had no impact on the Prudential Indicators presented and noted by the Audit 
Committee as not being in breach. It did, however, show to Executive that the 
impact on the Council Taxpayer was even better than reported to Audit Committee, 
if the income from borrowing activities 'over and above' the costs of the associated 
borrowing was taken into account. It therefore provided Executive with an even 
greater level of contextual assurance in which to consider the Audit Committee’s 
noting of adherence to the Prudential Indicators. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION 
The Council faces severe funding pressures, particularly in the face of the COVID-19 
crisis.  It is therefore imperative that Council resources are focused on the 
vulnerable and on its highest priorities. 
 

 How much will it 
Cost/ (Save) 

Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall  

Revenue or 
Capital? 

Current Financial 
Year (Year 1) 

See other financial 
implications 

Yes Revenue 

Next Financial Year 
(Year 2) 

Nil Yes Revenue 

Following Financial 
Year (Year 3) 

Nil Yes Revenue 

 

Other Financial Information 

None in addition to that already reported in the main body, including the respective 
calculations for the impact on the Council Taxpayer (Band D)   

 

Stakeholder Considerations and Consultation 

None 

 

Public Sector Equality Duty 

This is a report on the performance of the Treasury service of the Council and is not 
requesting any funding or service changes that would impact on any members of the 
community and thus has no equalities impact. 

 

Climate Emergency – This Council has declared a climate emergency and is 
committed to playing as full a role as possible – leading by example as well as by 
exhortation – in achieving a carbon neutral Wokingham Borough by 2030 

Not applicable 

 

List of Background Papers 

None 

 

Contact  Andrew Moulton  Service Governance Services  

Telephone 07747 77298 Email 
andrew.moulton@wokingham.gov.uk 

 

95



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
 
TITLE Treasury Management Mid - Year Report 2020-21 
  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Audit Committee on 23 November 2020 
  
WARD None Specific; 
  
LEAD OFFICER Deputy Chief Executive - Graham Ebers 

 

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY 
Effective borrowing and investments to optimise the resource position for the Council and 
provide strong financial standing. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

1) Audit Committee to support this report and recommend it to Executive. (Executive will 
then be asked to recommend the report to Council). 
 

2) To note all approved indicators set out in the treasury management strategy have 
been adhered to and that prudent and safe management has been maintained. 
 

3) To note that the net cost per council tax payer for the financing of all borrowing to date 
equates to £7.52 which is 0.4% of the average Band D council tax charge. 
 

4) To note that the total external general fund debt is £324m, which reduces to £83m 
after taking into account cash balances (net indebtedness). 
 

5) To note the Council’s realisable asset value of £496m, of which its commercial assets 
is estimated at £192m.  

 

  

97



SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
This report provides a summary of the Treasury Management operations during the first six 
months of 2020/2021. It is presented for the purpose of monitoring and review, in accordance 
with Council’s treasury management practices. The Council adhered to all agreed prudential 
indicators. This includes ensuring the necessary liquidity to deliver on the day-to-day 
operations of the Council.  There are two aspects of treasury performance: debt management 
which relates to the Council’s borrowing and cash investment which relates to the investment 
of cash balances. 
 
Key highlights to note are: 
 

 The annual cost of servicing this borrowing that falls to the local taxpayer is 
£7.52 per council tax band D property for 2020/21.  

 Net indebtedness after cash balances is £83m at end of September.  

 Realisable asset value of £496m at end of September, meaning an asset to net 
indebtedness ratio cover of 6:1. 

 
A detailed breakdown of the Council’s performance in these areas is summarised below. 
 
Cost of Financing Debt  
 
The table below shows the gross financing costs of servicing the external borrowing. Gross 
financing costs reflect the annual interest costs payable and an amount for Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP). To understand the true cost of this, it is important to take into 
account the income from treasury investments, contributions from ‘invest to save’ schemes, 
income from investment / commercial properties which all contribute to reducing the annual 
cost of this financing. Taking these factors into account, for the general fund the net 
financing costs of servicing this debt that falls to the local taxpayer is £7.52 per 
council tax band D property as set out below. 
 

    £,000 £,000   

  General Fund - Financing Cost (including MRP provision)   £7,784   
          

  Less contributions towards financing costs from following 
areas: 

      

          

  - Treasury investments (£815)     

  - Commercial investments (£2,820)     

  - Town centre regeneration (£2,536)     

  - Housing companies (£568)     

  - Invest to save schemes (£503)     

      (£7,242)   
          

  Net Annual Cost   £542   
     

     

          

     

 Net Annual Cost £,000  £542k  

  Divide by Council Tax Base (no. of band D equivalent 
properties) 

  72,036.5   

          

  Cost per band D property - £   £7.52   

 

98



 
Council’s Net Indebtedness 
 
Net indebtedness represents the underlying debt position the Council holds. The table below 
shows how this is calculated.  
 

    31st Mar '20 
£m 

30th Sept '20 
£m 

  

  General Fund - Capital Financing Requirement £329 £449   

          

  Less Internal funded borrowing  (£125) (£125)   

          

  External Debt Total £204 £324   

          

  Less Cash investment balances (£123) (£241)   

          

  Net Indebtedness Total £81 £83   

 
As at 30th September 2020, total external borrowing for the general fund was £324m 
and treasury investments were £241m resulting in net indebtedness of £83m. The HRA 
borrowing is excluded from this calculation as it is a ringfenced account with external 
borrowing funded from housing tenants.  
 
The increase in both external debt and cash investments represents the differing nature of 
external debt and cash investments, external debt is long term and based on supporting the 
approved capital programme spend as expected. Short term investments which are based 
on cash balances at a point in time. Cash balances have improved during the first six months 
of the year due to government grants being paid upfront to help the impact from Covid-19. In 
addition, capital spend has been slower during the first 6 months of the year with spend 
expected to pick up over the remainder of the year. External borrowing has also been 
increased to take advantage of historically low interest rates and to ensure our internal 
borrowing remains at a prudent level. Internal borrowing is 28% of total capital financing 
requirement which is in-line with the range of 25%-30% benchmark suggested by our 
treasury management advisors. This figure was 38% at 31st March 2020. 
 
Despite historically low interest rates, the Council are expecting to have no material 
variances against budget for debt costs and investment income. The final position and 
performance against prudential indicators will be reported in the outturn report.  
 
External borrowing is within the prudential limits set in the treasury management strategy. 
The Authorised Limit (maximum external borrowing allowed) was set at £533m, the forecast 
year end external borrowing (including HRA) position of £391m represents only 73% of this 
limit.  
 
The council continues to manage its debt in the most financially effective way whilst adhering 
to statutory requirement including the CIPFA’s Prudential Code. 
 
Asset Value 
 
Whilst it is important to understand the net borrowing for the Council, it is also essential to 
consider the asset value that this borrowing generates as part of the Council’s capital 
programme.  Using the value of assets from our annual accounts plus estimated asset spend 

99



this year to date, the asset value for the council is £974m at 30th September 2020. Realisable 
asset value is based on annual accounts valuation and any actual disposal would seek to 
maximise the individual receipt to the Council at the time of sale (land and buildings).    
 

    £m £m   

  Asset Value as per balance sheet*   £974   
          

  Less:       

  Highways & Transport assets (£176)     

  Schools assets  (£285)     

  Other non-realisable assets  (£17)     

      £478   
          

  Value of Realisable Assets   £496   

          

  Of which are;       

  Operational Assets   £304    

  Commercial Assets   £192    

  - Wokingham Town Centre Regeneration £76    

  - Property Investment Group  £70    

  - Housing Company  £47    
  

 
      

          

 
Asset Ratios 
 
Taking the value of realisable assets and dividing by the external borrowing or net 
indebtedness gives a good indication of the debt cover our assets provide.  
 

 Value of Realisable Assets ratio to External Borrowing – 1.53:1    

 Value of Realisable Assets ratio to Net Indebtedness – 5.98:1 
 
Investment of Cash Balances 
 
Cash flow balances vary significantly throughout the year due to differences in timing of 
income (council tax, developer contributions, grants, etc.) and timing of expenditure (running 
costs - revenue, and investment in assets and services – capital). During times when the 
council holds cash balances, investments will be made based on security, liquidity, and yield 
(in this order). Due to the uncertainty around Covid-19, whilst the council have been fortunate 
with the cashflow support from central government (e.g. grants paid earlier than planned) we 
have kept more investments on a short term and secure basis across the first 6 months of 
year and will continue over the coming months. This has ensured the liquidity is available to 
meet Covid-19 pressures however has meant returns on investments are lower due to the 
duration of the investment and lower risk counterparties (e.g. lending to other local 
authorities). 
 

 
 
 
 
 

100



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION 
The Council faces severe funding pressures, particularly in the face of the COVID-19 
crisis.  It is therefore imperative that Council resources are focused on the 
vulnerable and on its highest priorities. 
 

 How much will it 
Cost/ (Save) 

Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall  

Revenue or 
Capital? 

Current Financial 
Year (Year 1) 

See other financial 
information. 

Yes Revenue 

Next Financial Year 
(Year 2) 

Not applicable Yes Revenue 

Following Financial 
Year (Year 3) 

Not applicable Yes Revenue 

 

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision 

 the net cost per council tax payer for the financing of all borrowing to date equates 
£7.52 which is 0.4% of the average Band D council tax charge. 
 

 total external general fund debt is £324m and the Councils net indebtedness after 
cash balances is £83 million. 
 

 the Council’s realisable asset value of £496m, of which its commercial assets is 
estimated at £192m.  

 

 

Cross-Council Implications  

None 

 

Public Sector Equality Duty 

This is a report on the performance of the Treasury service of the Council and is not 
requesting any funding or service changes that would impact on any members of the 
community and thus has no equalities impact. 

 

Reasons for considering the report in Part 2 

Not applicable 

 

List of Background Papers 

None 

 

Contact  Bob Watson – Head of Finance Service  Business Services 

Telephone No  Tel: 0118 974 6151 
   07801 664389 

Email  bob.watson@wokingham.gov.uk 

 

101



This page is intentionally left blank



 
TITLE Officer Response to the Recommendations from 

the Overview and Scrutiny Report - WBC's 
Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic 

  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Council on 18 March 2021 
  
WARD None Specific; 
  
LEAD OFFICER Chief Executive - Susan Parsonage 
  
LEAD MEMBER Leader of the Council - John Halsall 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT (INC STRATEGIC OUTCOMES) 
 
This report sets out the Officer response to the 10 recommendations set out in the 
report of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee – Wokingham Borough 
Council’s Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic (November 2020) which was considered 
by the Executive at its meeting held on 25 February 2021. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Council: 
 
1) note the Officers’ responses and the recommendations as set out in the Overview 

and Scrutiny report and contained within this report and as agreed by the Executive; 
 

2) note the Officers’ responses to the two additional recommendations submitted by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee at its meeting on 20 January 2021 
and as agreed by the Executive. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
At its meeting on 24 June 2020, the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
considered a report from the Chief Executive which gave details of the Council’s initial 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The report set out a timeline of key events relating 
to the pandemic and the Council’s response, summarised the Council’s emergency 
planning arrangements and detailed the way the Council mobilised resources in 
conjunction with other key players such as health, police, community and voluntary 
sector and the Town and Parish Councils. 
 
Having considered the Chief Executive’s report, the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee agreed the framework for Scrutiny reviews to be undertaken by each of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees. Over the following four months the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees considered reports and received evidence from a range of 
stakeholders on issues such as care homes, health partnerships, schools and Children’s 
Services, mental health, finance and business, community response, communication 
Test and Trace and the impact of the pandemic on the most vulnerable groups in the 
Borough.  
 

103

Agenda Item 107.



The overall findings of the Overview and Scrutiny process was that the Council’s 
response to the pandemic had been very positive, with effective decision making, good 
communications and outstanding partnership working. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee made a number of recommendations to the Executive which 
are set out in this report, together with the Officer responses.    
 
Since the completion of the Overview and Scrutiny report, in November 2020, the 
Council has continued to respond to the pandemic as the Borough has moved into new 
lockdown arrangements. Officers have continued to work proactively in areas such as 
the One Front Door (led by Wokingham Citizens’ Advice), Test and Trace, support to 
care homes, schools and businesses and supporting local GPs in the roll-out of the 
vaccination programme. 
 
At its meeting on 20 January 2021, The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
agreed two additional recommendations for submission to the Executive alongside the 
10 recommendations in its original report.  
 
The Executive considered the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee’s report 
and recommendations at its meeting held on 25 February 2021.  The Executive agreed 
all the recommendations set out in the Overview and Scrutiny report, including the two 
additional recommendations. 
 

104



BACKGROUND  
 
At its meeting on 24 June 2020, the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
considered a report from the Chief Executive which gave details of the Council’s initial 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The report stated that the Council had played a key 
role, working in partnership, to support and implement the Government’s response to 
the pandemic in areas such as health and social care, children’s services, community 
safety and support for local businesses. 
 
The report set out a timeline of key events relating to the pandemic and the Council’s 
response, summarised the Council’s emergency planning arrangements and detailed 
the way the Council mobilised resources in conjunction with other key players such as 
health, police, community and voluntary sector and the Town and Parish Councils. 
 
Having considered the Chief Executive’s report, the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee agreed the framework for reviews to be undertaken by each of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees. Over the following four months the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees considered reports and received evidence from a range of stakeholders on 
the following issues: 
 

 Care Homes; 

 Effectiveness of Health Partnerships; 

 Schools and Children’s Services; 

 Impact on Mental Health; 

 Finance and Business; 

 Community Response; 

 Community Safety/Localities; 

 Communication and Engagement; 

 Recovery; 

 Test and Trace; 

 Poverty – impact on the poorest, the unemployed and the homeless; 

 Maintaining Democracy.  
 
Following the completion of the reviews, evidence from each of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees was compiled into the composite report at Annex A.  
 
The overall findings of the Scrutiny process were that the Council’s response to the 
pandemic had been very positive. Emergency planning systems and communications 
were effective and the Council’s partnership approach had been outstanding. Scrutiny 
Members also commended the Council’s constructive work with the Borough’s MPs and 
the way in which it challenged the Government on issues such as the discharge of 
patients into care homes without effective testing for Covid-19. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committees commended Council staff for their dedication 
and flexibility and noted the outstanding contributions from voluntary sector partners and 
the large number of community volunteers across the Borough. In addition to the 
decisive response to the pandemic, the Council maintained key universal services and 
developed new methods of service delivery.  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee report made a number of 
recommendations which are set out below, together with the Officer response, for 
consideration by the Executive. 

105



At its meeting on 20 January 2021, The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
agreed two additional recommendations for submission to the Executive alongside the 
10 recommendations in its original report. The additional recommendations, with Officer 
comments, are set out in the table as new recommendations 11 and 12.  
   
O&S Recommendations with Officer Responses 
 

Recommendation Officer Response 

1    That the Executive notes 
the outstanding response to 
the Covid-19 pandemic in 
the Borough to date and 
commends the efforts of 
staff, Members, partners and 
community volunteers. 
  

Noted. The Covid-19 pandemic has delivered a huge 
challenge to the Council in relation to its leadership, 
systems, partnerships and the resilience of its staff. 
We are pleased to note that the challenge has been 
met. The dedication and professionalism of our staff 
has been matched by the generosity and enthusiasm 
of our residents and the hard work of our partner 
organisations across the Borough.  
 
We have worked in partnership to safeguard the most 
vulnerable whilst ensuring that key universal services 
are delivered and local democracy continues to 
function. Much has been achieved, but we recognise 
the ongoing challenges as we work through the latest 
lockdown and support the vaccination programme 
which offers hope in the months ahead.  

  

2     That the Executive 
advise local care homes to 
review risk assessments and 
ensure, for the duration of 
the pandemic that: 
 

 Staff do not work in more 
than one setting, with the 
exception of workers with 
specific skill sets, such as 
prescribing or issuing 
medication; 

 

 Appropriate social 
distancing applies for 
people who work in or 
visit their homes. 

 

Care homes have a vital role to play in Wokingham, 
especially during the response to the COVID-19 
pandemic. Wokingham Borough Council actively 
support our providers to manage the outbreak of 
COVID-19 to ensure the best outcomes for our 
residents. 
 
Care Home in Wokingham are usually run by private 
or voluntary sector service providers. Wokingham 
Borough Council has a responsibility to support the 
needs of the individual and maintain the financial 
sustainability of the social care market. It does not 
have a direct responsibility to manage an outbreak 
within a Wokingham Care Home but has continued to 
support providers to manage outbreaks during the 
pandemic.     
 
From the start of the pandemic the Council has 
worked proactively to deliver support and advice to 
the care homes and other care settings in the 
Borough. Adult Social Care has provided support to 
care homes, through its Care Home Task Force, 
providing guidance on infection control, support with 
PPE, distribution of Government grant funding and 
immediate, targeted support in the event of Covid-19 
outbreaks.  
 

106



A key aspect of our successful approach has been a 
focus on partnership and risk management. We will 
continue to work with care homes to identify and 
mitigate risks, including the specific risks identified in 
the Overview and Scrutiny report.  
 
The Council is also supporting the roll-out of the 
vaccination programme, organised by the West 
Berkshire CCG. By mid-January 2021, vaccinations 
had been delivered to 60% of the over 80s and to a 
significant number of the care home staff in the 
Borough. 

  

3. That the Executive 
highlight the importance of 
supporting all aspects of 
WBC staff welfare as the 
Council enters into the next 
phase of the pandemic. 
 

Agreed.  Staff welfare has been a key priority 
throughout the pandemic. For example, in relation to 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), health and 
safety and risk assessments. There is a dedicated 
section on the staff intranet with information and tools 
to support welfare.  Staff can also access the 
Employee Assistance Programme which has a 24/7 
helpline and we are currently training 45 employees 
to become mental health first aiders. We also 
produce a daily staff update which highlights the 
latest developments relating to Covid-19 and 
signposts staff to the key welfare resources available. 
The Chief Executive has met with UNISON on a 
regular basis to share information and receive 
feedback on issues affecting staff.  

  

4     That the Executive 
address the relative sparsity 
of data on domestic violence 
and abuse and emphasise 
the need for explicit 
recognition and action in 
response to reported rising 
levels during the pandemic. 
 

Agreed. The Council recognises the “hidden harm” 
caused by domestic abuse and its impact on adults 
and children across the Borough. At its meeting on, 
28 January 2021, the Executive considered plans to 
procure a new domestic abuse support contract and 
noted a MTFP growth bid to fund the response to 
increasing demand for domestic abuse services. 
These measures will make the service more resilient 
and enable compliance with the new statutory 
responsibilities set out in the Domestic Abuse Bill 
which is currently progressing through Parliament. 
One of the requirements in the Bill is the 
establishment of a multi-agency Domestic Abuse 
Local Partnership Board. The Council has also 
established a dedicated Domestic Abuse Coordinator 
role to increase coordination and joint working across 
the organisation.  

  

5     That the Council, in view 
of the multi-dimensional 
nature of “poverty”, in all 
discussions, data, policy and 
action, focus on all who are 

Agreed. The Council is working to strengthen its 
strategic approach to addressing poverty. This body 
of work will include mapping the pathways into, 
through and out of poverty in order to understand the 
different types and levels of hardship. This analysis 

107



suffering different types of 
rising and significant levels 
of hardship. 

will help to inform policy development and the 
Council’s future response to tackling poverty across 
the Borough.  

  

6     That the Executive 
urgently re-examines the 
issue of 21 to 25 year old 
care leavers paying Council 
Tax, for the remainder of this 
financial year. 
    

Agreed. The issue of 21 to 25 year old care leavers 
paying Council Tax has been reviewed. At the 
Council meeting on 19 November 2020, the 
Executive Member for Finance and Housing 
announced that it had been agreed that an exemption 
would be applied to this cohort of care leavers. Due 
to Budget constraints, the new arrangement will 
come into effect in 2021/22. 

  

7     That the Council 
commits to co-produce an 
anti-poverty strategy.  

 

Agreed. As set out in 5, above, the Council is working 
to strengthen its strategic approach to addressing 
poverty in the Borough. This includes the 
development of an anti-poverty strategy. In 
developing the strategy we will involve our partners in 
the community and voluntary sectors and will seek 
the views of our residents.  

  

8     That the Council limit the 
use of comparative data and 
benchmarking narrative, 
such as being ranked the 
least deprived upper tier 
authority, when talking about 
poverty, to avoid minimising 
the difficulties faced by 
residents. 

The Council recognises that, given the complex and 
multi-dimensional nature of poverty, it is important to 
consider a range of indicators in order to gain a full 
understanding which can inform future actions. Data 
and benchmarking information should be set in 
appropriate context, including communicating with 
compassion and understanding the range and 
complexity of the challenges faced by residents. 

  

9   That the Council 
continues to focus on the 
specific impacts of Covid-19 
on different community 
groups and to tailor its 
communication and 
engagement activities 
accordingly. 
 

Agreed. The Council continues to focus on the 
specific impacts of Covid-19 on different community 
groups. In addition to the communication and 

engagement channels previously deployed to reach 
residents (social media, email bulletins, news 
releases, website and regular updates to community / 
voluntary groups including those representing the 
BAME community – all of which are continuing) – 
WBC has developed methods for improved targeting 
of messages at specific groups affected by the 
pandemic: 
 

 Geographic targeting: Case data showed higher 
Covid prevalence in specific, largely urban areas 
and those areas bordering Reading Borough. 
Communication has been sent to town and parish 
councils, ward members and community groups, 
highlighting the higher numbers in those areas. 
 

 Translations: In order to support engagement with 
all residents, translations on all Covid-19 advice is 

108



available on the WBC website and is promoted in 
social media and e-bulletin communications 

 

 Covid Community Information Champions: This 
scheme has been set up in order to help target 
messages in to all community groups. Community 
champions are provided with information to 
disseminate through their communities. Anybody 
can sign up to be a champion, however WBC has 
targeted specific community groups (such as 
those at greater risk) to encourage sign-up. 

 

 Specific messaging for younger people: With the 
rise in the number of cases among younger 
people, Public Health commissioned research into 
what messages would be important to them. An 
example message that came from this research 
was a clearer explanation on self-isolation, as a 
gap in understanding had been highlighted. 

 
Although targeted messaging is being used to 
communicate on Covid-19, it is important that WBC’s 
key message remains that all residents are at risk 
and the rules and guidance apply to everybody 
equally. 

  

10  That the Executive notes 
the results of the Covid-
19 Residents’ Survey 
which indicated that 96% 
of residents were either 
very satisfied, satisfied or 
had no opinion on the 
Council’s response and 
set out residents’ views 
on future priorities for the 
Council: 

 

 Supporting local 
businesses and 
employment; 

 Supporting mental 
health; 

 Reducing social 
isolation and 
loneliness in 
vulnerable people.  

 

Noted. The positive feedback from the survey on the 
Council’s response to the pandemic is noted. 
Residents’ views on future priorities will be used to 
inform current service delivery and the Council’s 
longer term response.  
 
In relation to the future priorities identified in the 
survey: 
 

 The Council continues to provide support and 
guidance to local businesses through the 
distribution of Government discretionary grants 
and business rate relief. We have also joined the 
Government’s Kickstart scheme which means that 
we will be creating new job opportunities for young 
people on Universal Credit who are at risk of long-
term unemployment. 
 

 In relation to mental health we have concluded an 
arrangement with Oxfordshire Mind who will 
provide a new mental health service in the near 
future for residents. We have also recognised the 
impact of the pandemic on Council staff and are 
currently training a group of in-house mental 
health first aiders. 

 

109



 We have focussed on social isolation and 
loneliness through our One Front Door approach 
(led by Wokingham Citizens’ Advice) and making 
contact with vulnerable residents to discuss their 
individual situation and any outstanding needs.  

  

Additional Recommendations agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee at its meeting on 20 January 2021 

11 That the Executive 
ensures that the 
improved partnership 
working between the 
Council and external 
organisations not only 
continues, but is further 
developed. 

 

Agreed. As noted in the Overview and Scrutiny 
report, the Council’s successful response to the 
pandemic was underpinned by a strong partnership 
approach. This involved working with the community 
and voluntary sector, health, police, schools, Town 
and Parish Councils and neighbouring authorities. 
Our approach has resulted in improved 
communications and the shared understanding of the 
benefits of working together across the Borough.  
 
We aim to build on these improved relationships in 
order to deliver better outcomes for all our residents. 
This is already a core theme of our existing 
Community Vision 2020-2024 which will continue to 
inform our forthcoming actions, and a key theme of 
our existing key strategies e.g. the Voluntary and 
Community Sector Strategy 2020-25 and the Adult 
Social Care Strategy 2020-25.  

  

12  That the Executive 
ensures that the lessons 
learnt from operationally 
managing the pandemic 
are not only continued, 
but are further developed 
and supported. 

 

Agreed. The Council’s response to the pandemic has 
required both agility and innovation. We have 
continued to deliver essential frontline services whilst, 
at the same time, developing new ways of working 
within the constraints imposed by the pandemic. Our 
staff have embraced home working and have 
continued to support the most vulnerable members of 
the community.  
 
Where face-to-face service delivery was constrained, 
we have explored the potential for on-line delivery 
whilst recognising that some residents require 
additional support. As a learning organisation we are 
committed to building on these new ways of working 
to ensure that we deliver excellent value for money 
combined with excellent customer service.  
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

110



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION 
The Council faces severe funding pressures, particularly in the face of the COVID-19 
crisis.  It is therefore imperative that Council resources are focused on the 
vulnerable and on its highest priorities. 
 

 How much will it 
Cost/ (Save) 

Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall  

Revenue or 
Capital? 

Current Financial 
Year (Year 1) 

£0 N/A N/A 

Next Financial Year 
(Year 2) 

£0 N/A N/A 

Following Financial 
Year (Year 3) 

£0 N/A N/A 

 

Other Financial Information 

There are no specific financial implications relating to this report. The Executive will 
continue to tackle the pandemic and take appropriate measures. The financial impact of 
these measures will be reported via the regular Budget Monitoring reports submitted to 
the Executive. Impacts on the Medium Term Financial Plan will be agreed at the Budget 
Council meeting in February 2021.  

 

Stakeholder Considerations and Consultation 

Further Resident Surveys will be undertaken in due course. 

 

Public Sector Equality Duty 

Due regard to Public Sector Equality Duty is given and equality impact assessments are 
undertaken in relation to specific elements of the Council’s response to the pandemic. 

 

Climate Emergency – This Council has declared a climate emergency and is 
committed to playing as full a role as possible – leading by example as well as by 
exhortation – in achieving a carbon neutral Wokingham Borough by 2030 

The Council’s response to the pandemic has included reference to the Climate 
Emergency Action Plan. 

 

List of Background Papers 

Overview and Scrutiny Report and Recommendations – November 2020 

 

Contact  Andrew Moulton Service  Resources and Assets 

Telephone 0118 974 6000 Email andrew.moulton@wokingham.gov.uk  
 

 

111



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL’S RESPONSE TO THE 
COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

 
 

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 

NOVEMBER 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Committee Members: 
 
Councillor Pauline Helliar-Symons (Chairman) 
Councillors Jenny Cheng, Andy Croy, Paul Fishwick, Jim Frewin, Guy Grandison, Emma 
Hobbs, Sarah Kerr, Abdul Loyes, Ken Miall, Andrew Mickleburgh, Rachelle Shepherd-
Dubey and Alison Swaddle 

 
  
  
  
  

113



  

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That:  
 
1) the Executive notes the outstanding response to the Covid-19 pandemic in the 

Borough to date and commends the efforts of staff, Members, partners and 
community volunteers; 
 

2) the Executive advise local care homes to review risk assessments and ensure, for 
the duration of the pandemic that: 

 

 staff do not work in more than one setting, with the exception of workers with 
specific skill sets, such as prescribing or issuing medication; 

 appropriate social distancing applies for people who work in or visit their homes; 
 

3) the Executive highlight the importance of supporting all aspects of WBC staff 
welfare as the Council enters into the next phase of the pandemic; 

 
4) the Executive address the relative sparsity of data on domestic violence and abuse 

and emphasise the need for explicit recognition and action in response to reported 
rising levels during the pandemic; 

 
5) the Council, in view of the multi-dimensional nature of “poverty”, in all discussions, 

data, policy and action, focus on all who are suffering different types of rising and 
significant levels of hardship; 

 
6) the Executive urgently re-examines the issue of 21 to 25 year old care leavers 

paying Council Tax, for the remainder of this financial year; 
 

7) the Council commits to co-produce an anti-poverty strategy; 
 

8) the Council limit the use of comparative data and benchmarking narrative, such as 
being ranked the least deprived upper tier authority, when talking about poverty, to 
avoid minimising the difficulties faced by residents; 

 
9) the Council continues to focus on the specific impacts of Covid-19 on different 

community groups and to tailor its communication and engagement activities 
accordingly; 

 
10) the Executive notes the results of the Covid-19 Residents’ Survey which indicated 

that 96% of residents were either very satisfied, satisfied or had no opinion on the 
Council’s response and set out residents’ views on future priorities for the Council: 

 

 supporting local businesses and employment; 

 supporting mental health; 

 reducing social isolation and loneliness in vulnerable people. 
 

 

 

114



Background 
 
At its meeting on 24 June 2020, the Committee considered a report which gave details 
of the Council’s initial response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The report stated that the 
Covid-19 pandemic had had a huge impact on the lives of every resident in the 
Borough. The Council had played a key role in supporting and implementing the 
Government’s response to the pandemic in areas such as health and social care, 
children’s services, community safety and support and advice for local businesses. 
 
Whilst the Council’s response to the pandemic continued with significant workload for 
Officers, the reduction in community transmission and loosening of some lockdown 
measures provided an opportunity to take stock, assess the scale of the challenge and 
the way in which the Council had worked with a range of partners to respond.  
 
The report set out a brief timeline of key events relating to the pandemic and the 
Council’s strategic response, summarised the Council’s emergency planning 
arrangements and detailed the way the Council mobilised resources in conjunction with 
other key players such as health, police, community and voluntary sector and the Town 
and Parish Councils. 
 
In section 2, the report set out details of actions relating to key service areas and the 
data/feedback available to measure the effectiveness of the Council’s plans and 
subsequent actions.  
 
Finally, the report considered some of the initial learning from the handling of the 
pandemic and suggested how the Committee may choose to scrutinise key aspects of 
the response in detail, over an agreed timeline. 
 
Susan Parsonage (WBC Chief Executive) highlighted the way in which the Council had 
responded quickly and flexibly in line with its emergency plans. Key areas of focus 
included: 
 

 Support for local care homes, including development of the infection control Task 
Force and provision of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE);  

 Support and advice for local schools during lockdown and the reopening process;  

 Rapid deployment of the Community Hub/Food Bank; 

 The Talking Buddies programme which supported vulnerable residents; 

 Support and advice for the local business community. 
 
In addition to this work the Council had continued to provide universal services such as 
waste collection and had developed an improved on-line service, such as the on-line 
libraries offer. It had also continued to work on providing financial information for the 
Government and closing down the 2019/20 financial accounts.  
 

Scrutiny Programme 
 
Having considered the Chief Executive’s report, the Committee agreed the framework 
for its Scrutiny review. It was agreed that each of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees would review a number of themes relating to the pandemic. Feedback from 
the three Committees would then be fed back to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee. As well as considering a number of themes itself, the 

115



Management Committee would then produce a composite report for submission to the 
Council’s Executive. The Scrutiny programme for each of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees is set out below. 
 

Theme 
 

O&S Committee 

Care Homes Health O&S (HOSC) 

Effectiveness of Health Partnerships HOSC 
  

Schools & Children’s Services Children’s Services O&S 

Impact on Mental Health Children’s Services (with HOSC) 

  

Finance & Business Community & Corporate O&S 

Community Response Community & Corporate 

Community Safety/Localities Community & Corporate 

Communication & Engagement Community & Corporate 
  

Recovery O&S Management Committee 

Test & Trace Management Committee 

Poverty – impact on the poorest, the 
unemployed and the homeless 

Management Committee 

Maintaining Democracy Management Committee 

 
The Management Committee also approved Key Lines of Enquiry for each theme as 
follows: 
 

Theme Key Line of Enquiry O&S 
Committee 

Care Homes  Timeliness of response 

 Funding and financial stability 

 Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 

 How will the sector hold up going forwards; 

what support is needed and what will the 

sector look like? 

HOSC 

Effectiveness of 
Health 
Partnerships 

 Joint working between WBC, Public Health 

England and the Clinical Commissioning 

Group, etc. 

 Impact on NHS provision and waiting lists 

 Royal Berkshire Hospital response 

HOSC 

   

Schools & 
Children’s 
Services 

 What is WBC doing to help disadvantaged 

students catch up academically? 

 More generally, how are schools being 

supported?  What is the near future looking 

like for the education of the Borough’s 

children? 

 Connectivity provision for remote working for 

children (laptops, internet, etc.) 

 Impact on children’s future qualifications 

Children’s 
Services 

116



 Will this change how schools are measured? 

 Differences with LA and academy schools 

 Safeguarding – As schools and other 

services increase the number of children 

they come into contact with, how is 

Children’s Services preparing for a spike in 

demand? 

 Impact Covid-19 has had on foster carer 

retention and recruitment and are there likely 

to be gaps in resource in this regard that 

need to be addressed   

Impact on 
Mental Health 

 How have services coped? 

 What do services require going forward 

Children’s 
Services + 
HOSC 

   

Finance & 
Business 

 Impact on the capital programme and  

regeneration 

 MTFP impact 

 Effects of extra spending and support from 

government now and in future 

 Impact on 2020/21 budget and planning for 

2021/22 

 Impact on revenue streams (including PIG 

and business rates) 

 Impact on reserves and investments 

 Where has extra spending happened 

 Risk audit 

 How the furlough scheme has worked, for 

local businesses and how the ending of the 

scheme will have an impact 

 Unemployment levels 

 Emerging jobs 

 Businesses that have and haven’t been 

supported 

Community & 
Corporate 

Community 
Response 

 How this ties in with the new voluntary sector 

strategy? 

 How is WBC going to retain the community 

aspect of this? 

  What has the one front door identified as 

being a priority for WBC going forward – i.e. 

what issues have been raised by the 

community  

Community & 
Corporate 

Community 
Safety/Localities 
 

 Anti-social behaviour 

 Crime 

 Domestic Abuse 

 Effects on housing quotas 

 Impact on the Local Plan Update 

Community & 
Corporate 

117



 Planning concerns - i.e. more office 

conversions? 

 Service continuity  

 Fly tipping 

 Waste 

Communication 
& Engagement 
 

 How have communications reached specific 

demographics 

 How are we communicating with people not 

online? 

 Communication with elected Members 

Community & 
Corporate 

   

Recovery  Green recovery (carbon emissions and air 

pollution) 

 Outbreak Control Plan 

 Recovery plans for each department 

(children’s, adult, localities, corporate)     

 Changing shape of the Council’s services 

and workforce  

 How the organisational structure is changing.   

Management 
Committee 

Test & Trace  How is the council involved? 

 What additional resources are required? 

Management 
Committee 
 

Poverty – impact 
on the poorest, 
the unemployed 
and the 
homeless 

 Impact Covid-19 has had on poorest 

 How Covid-19/lockdown has shaped poverty 

levels (increases?) 

 Unemployment level analysis and predicted 

with furlough scheme ending 

 How WBC and partner organisations will 

work to support those in poverty and help 

them out of poverty 

 Homelessness 

 People that have come to the council/CAB 

for financial assistance – Council Tax issues, 

housing issues, universal credit 

Management 
Committee 

Maintaining 
Democracy 
 

 How has moving Council meetings online 

worked/not worked?   

 Involvement of elected Members in the 

decision-making process during the crisis 

 Involvement of the public in the democratic 

process and emergency response 

Management 
Committee 

 

 
 
 
 

118



Structure of the Overview & Scrutiny Review 
 
In carrying out the Scrutiny review, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees received a 
number of reports and briefings. In addition, feedback was sought from a range of 
stakeholders including Town and Parish Councils, the Borough’s four M.P.s, health 
providers, care homes and voluntary sector organisations. The Council also carried out 
a public consultation exercise which asked residents for feedback on key elements of 
the Council’s response. 
 
In considering the evidence submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, 
Members addressed a number of overarching questions, including: 
 

 Were the Council’s emergency plans effective in its initial response? 

 How did partners work together to deliver better outcomes? 

 How did the Council identify, assess and mitigate risk? 

 Which residents and groups were worst affected and why? 

 How effective was the Council in identifying and communicating key messages? 

 How have services been adapted to meet ongoing and future challenges? 

 How effective was the Council’s decision making process? 

 How successful has the Council been in its response? 

 How has the Council dealt with the financial challenges relating to the pandemic? 

 How well is the Council placed in terms of response to future spikes or a second 
wave of Covid-19, including local/national lockdowns? 

 What does the “new normal” look like for residents, businesses, the community and 
voluntary sector and other stakeholders across the Borough? 

 
 

National Context 
 
Covid-19 reached the UK in January 2020 with the Government imposing a national 
lockdown on 23 March which lasted for three months. On June 29, Leicester became 
the first city to impose a local lockdown following a significant rise in infections. Having 
negotiated the first wave of the pandemic, the UK has seen a resurgence of cases 
culminating in further national lockdowns. The current lockdown in England will run until 
2 December 2020. The Government’s current intention is that local areas will return to 
the three tier level or restrictions (medium, high and very high) in use prior to the 
national lockdown. 
 
The Government’s initial aim was to prevent the NHS from being overrun, as had 
happened in parts of Italy. From the start of the pandemic the NHS faced a number of 
critical issues which also impacted on the WBC response. These included shortages of 
personal protective equipment (PPE), protection for residents in care homes and the 
delivery of an effective testing and contact tracing programme.  
 
There are three main ways in which the Covid-19 R number (R = reproduction) can be 
reduced. Lockdowns can slow the spread of the disease but can only remain in place 
for a limited amount of time without causing significant damage to the economy and to 
residents’ mental health and wellbeing. Secondly, the use of social distancing 
measures, hygiene measures and barriers to transmission (the current Government 
“Hands – Face – Space” messaging). The third measure is an effective process to 
identify new cases and prevent the spread through a quick and thorough test and trace 

119



system. A number of countries have managed to combine extensive testing 
programmes, providing rapid results, with speedy contact tracing and follow up action. 
Delivering an effective test and trace programme will be a major challenge for the 
Government and local authorities over the next six months.  
 
The announcement, on 9 November 2020, of positive results from a final stage vaccine 
trial run by Pfizer and BioNTech offers hope that a return to something like “normal” 
may be possible in 2021. Early data from the trial indicated that the vaccine could 
deliver 90%+ efficacy which may offer at least some protection to all age groups. A 
further 320 potential vaccines are in development, several of them in advanced trials. 
Once a safe vaccine is available, every Government will face significant logistical 
challenges. The Pfizer vaccine, for example requires two doses and needs to be stored 
at -70 degrees C. However, the positive news on vaccine development offers a potential 
light at the end of the winter tunnel ahead of us.  
 

Local Context 
 
In relation to the Borough, as at 11 November 2020, 1,635 Wokingham Borough 
residents had tested positive for Covid-19 since the beginning of the outbreak (lab-
confirmed cases), although it is expected that the true number is higher as many 
asymptomatic cases are undiagnosed. Up to 30 October 2020, there were a total of 164 
deaths in the Borough relating to Covid-19. Of these, 75 occurred in hospital and 78 
occurred in care homes.  
 
In some respects, the Council should have been well placed to provide a positive 
response to the pandemic. Information from the Borough’s Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment indicates that, in general, the Borough is affluent and healthy. The Borough 
is the second least deprived borough in England and its residents enjoy among the 
highest life expectancy and years lived in full health in the country. In 2018, less than 
5% of working age adults were claiming benefits and nearly 80% of houses were owned 
by the occupants (outright or mortgaged) compared to 11% privately rented and 7% 
socially rented. In addition, the Council is one of the most financially stable local 
authorities in the country and the Borough has a strong community and voluntary 
sector. 
 
As the Borough is relatively healthy and wealthy, it is important that the Council has a 
clear understanding of the impact of Covid-19 on various forms of inequality as 
economic and social conditions have played an important role in determining which 
groups were hit hardest. The Institute for Fiscal Studies has provided analysis on the 
impact of the pandemic on different economic, ethnic and social groups, as follows: 
 

 Generally, in the years leading up to the pandemic, lack of pay growth and the 
impact of austerity had left poorer households in a precarious position and reduced 
the capability of the state to act as an insurer against future shocks; 

 

 The economic shock delivered by Covid-19 interacted with many old inequalities. 
Excluding key workers, most people in the lowest tenth of earnings distribution 
were in sectors forced to shut down. 80% of workers were either in a shut-down 
sector or were unlikely to be able to do their jobs from home, compared to 25% in 
the highest earning tenth. Young people and those of Black, Pakistani or 
Bangladeshi ethnicity were affected more than other groups; 

 

120



 Around 30% of low-income households, pre-pandemic, stated that they could not 
manage a month if they were to lose their main source of household income. 
Wealthier people were affected in a different way. Being unable to spend on the 
recreational activities which accounted for a relatively large share of their budgets 
actually forced them to save money; 

 

 At the start of the pandemic female employment was at record highs, but school 
and nursery closures removed the childcare provision which made that possible. 
Additional childcare and housework during the pandemic has fallen more on 
mothers than fathers, especially among working parents. This may inhibit work and 
career progression when progress in closing the gender wage gap has already 
stalled; 

 

 School shutdowns for the vast majority of pupils are likely to have accentuated the 
socio-economic divide in educational attainment. Children from better-off families 
are more likely to have received active engagement and more effective on-line 
support than children from the most deprived families.  

 

 There have been significant differences in deaths from Covid-19 in the most 
deprived areas compared to the most affluent areas. Those on lower incomes are 
more likely to have underlying medical conditions which make them vulnerable to 
Covid-19. Some ethnic minority groups have had significantly higher death rates 
than the white British population.  

 

 The pandemic is likely to leave a number of challenging legacies for inequality, 
especially as the Government’s capacity to act will be constrained by record 
peacetime levels of debt. However, it may also bring opportunities, for example 
through the move to greater home working. We may also see changes in attitudes 
to the welfare system, the value to society of key workers and greater focus on 
inequalities such as those between ethnic groups. 

 

The Council’s Approach 
 
The Council’s strategic response to the pandemic can be summarised as follows: 
 

 Utilising the Council’s existing emergency planning processes to enact a 
coordinated, managed, and timely response to the crisis; 

 Seeking to protect residents in care homes by taking action locally; 

 Maintaining critical services for the most vulnerable residents, including children and  
young people and the wider community; 

 Maintaining universal services such as waste collection, recycling, and highways; 

 Providing financial support to local businesses and the local economy; 

 Redeployment of WBC staff to those services and activities of greatest need to the 
community – during the first lockdown 107 staff were redeployed; 

 Maintaining local democracy through “virtual” Council meetings, accessible by the 
public; 

 Communicating regularly and clearly with residents, businesses, partners, elected 
Members and staff; 

 Considering the impacts on particular parts of the community e.g. ethnic minority 
groups, vulnerable residents and young people; 

121



 Identifying opportunities to positively impact the Council’s Climate Emergency Action 
Plan; 

 Identifying and monitoring the financial impacts of Covid-19; 

 Using a risk based approach to decision-making; 

 Planning ahead for the “Restart” and “Recovery” phases of the emergency. 
 

Themes 
 
As set out above, each of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees has scrutinised a 
number of themes relating to the Council’s response to the pandemic. The following 
sections summarise the Committees’ findings on each theme.  
 

Care Homes 
 
There are 52 registered care home settings in the Borough, including residential, 
nursing and learning disability care homes. The majority of care homes in the Borough 
were run by private or voluntary sector providers.  
 
The Government’s initial strategy to protect the NHS led to elderly people being 
discharged from hospitals into care homes, to clear space in hospitals, without being 
tested for Covid-19. The Council became increasingly concerned about the lack of 
testing for residents moved into care homes and lobbied hard for this to be addressed. 
The Council lobbied the four local MPs, the Local Resilience Forum, Public Health 
England and the NHS. On 21 April 2020 the Council took the decision to suspend 
discharges from hospital into local care homes unless the patient had been tested or the 
home had appropriate infection control procedures in place and could isolate the new 
resident if necessary.  
 
As part of the Council’s proactive response it developed a protocol and set up a Task 
Force with input from health and social care. The Task Force aimed to work with care 
homes to minimise the risk of infection and ensure that they received all the support 
required, including adequate supplies of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE). The 
Council also delivered improved funding to care homes with prepayments to support 
cash flow and access to additional temporary funding.  
 
The Council carried out a survey of care homes to gain an understanding of their 
experiences and the level of support provided by WBC. The responses received were 
generally very positive about the Council’s role and the level of support provided. As 
part of the national response to the pandemic, a care homes tracker had been 
developed. This indicated that WBC was a consistently high performer.  
 
Clearly, the decisive action taken by the Council and the high level of support provided 
to local care homes is an example of best practice which, undoubtedly, helped to save 
the lives of some of our most vulnerable residents. Furthermore, the Council is carrying 
the learning from the past eight months into its ongoing support for local care homes, in 
so doing it is putting concern for care home residents at the centre of the decision 
making process.  
 
We discussed the latest position relating to care homes at our meeting in October 2020. 
Meradin Peachey (Director of Public Health, Berkshire West) advised us that an 
ongoing risk related to the movement of individuals (especially young people) between 

122



care homes and care settings. We agreed that it was vital that appropriate risk 
assessments and preventative measures were in place to ensure that residents and 
staff members were protected as the rate of infection increased over the winter months.  
 

Effectiveness of Health Partnerships 
 
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) published its annual assessment of the state of 
health and social care in England in October 2020. CQC reported that, pre-Covid-19, 
care was generally good but with little overall improvement and some specific areas of 
concern, including emergency care, maternity and mental health. The social care sector 
was fragile as a result of the lack of a long-term funding solution and needed more 
investment and workforce planning.  
 
Over the summer, CQC reviewed the way health, social care and other services worked 
together in 11 areas of the country. They found evidence that the areas with established 
working relationships and a shared understanding of need were better able to care for 
the local population during the crisis. In relation to social care, CQC highlighted the 
need for a new deal for the care workforce, with clear career progression, upskilling and 
training and a greater recognition of the value of key workers.  
 
HOSC members received evidence from Dom Hardy, Chief Operating Officer at the 
Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust (RBH). On behalf of the Trust, Dom offered 
thanks to all the residents, community groups and partners who had supported the 
hospital through the pandemic to date. This included making donations of money and 
food and the provision of services at no cost. The RBH had three main aims over the 
winter months: 
 

 Dealing with Covid-19 activity – the impact of the second wave had not, so far, 
been as challenging as the first wave in March/April; 

 Continuing to provide urgent care to patients who needed it, e.g. heart attacks, 
strokes and other emergencies; 

 Continuing to treat patients who have been waiting for “routine care” – reducing the 
backlog by meeting targets set by the regulator. 

 
In addition to challenges outlined above, the RBH had been able to sustain other pieces 
of work such as working on the strategic outline case for a new hospital development, 
either at the current site or at a new site.  
 
Dom informed us that the RBH had strong working relationships with partners, including 
WBC. This had enabled the hospital to reach agreement with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group on new funding arrangements for local authorities. There was 
regular, positive contact and key plans were aligned.  
 
We noted that the House of Commons Health and Social Care Committee had 
published a report in September 2020 entitled “Delivering core NHS and care services 
during the pandemic and beyond”. The report addressed a number of issues, some of 
which are relevant to the Scrutiny review of the WBC response. The issues considered 
include: 
 

 Communication with patients – relating to delays, cancellations and access to 
medical services and potentially confusing medical guidance, such as that relating 
to “shielding”; 

123



 Managing waiting times and the backlog of appointments – while the NHS 
prioritised urgent Covid-19 related care, there has been a substantial increase in 
the number of missed, delayed and cancelled appointments across critical non-
Covid-19 services; 

 Issues facing NHS and care staff – relating to access to PPE and routine testing of 
staff. We noted that WBC had procured additional supplies of PPE and Covid-19 
tests to ensure that care homes and staff working in front-line settings would be 
able to access supplies and tests as necessary; 

 Issues affecting NHS and care staff relating to “burnout” – ensuring that measures 
are in place to tackle workforce stress and fatigue and to provide mental health 
support to staff; 

 Lessons to be learned for the future – including the introduction of an expanded 
111 dial service to support A&E departments, investigating how technology 
(telemedicine) can be used without digitally excluding those already disadvantaged 
and retaining capacity and resources from the independent sector in the long term. 

 

Schools and Children’s Services 
 
In response to the Covid-19 pandemic the Council’s Children’s Services team amended 
its service delivery to ensure that children and staff were safe, schools and settings 
were supported, risks were mitigated and statutory duties were met. The changes were 
informed by Government guidance and changes to legislation as well as advice from 
Public Health.  
 
During the first lockdown in March 2020, staff were able to move quickly into new ways 
of working, predominantly working from home. Government guidance and changes to 
legislation enabled services to be delivered differently. So, for example, the Targeted 
Early Help offer moved to virtual delivery as Children Centres were closed.  
 
Services were delivered in line with six underlying principles set out by the Government: 
 

 Child-centred – promoting children’s best interests; 

 Risk-based – prioritising support and resources for children at greatest risk; 

 Family focussed – harnessing the strengths in families and their communities; 

 Evidence-informed – ensuring that decisions were proportionate and justified; 

 Collaborative – working in partnership with parents and other professionals; 

 Transparent – providing clarity and maintaining professional curiosity about a 
child’s wellbeing. 

 
We were informed that the majority of child protection visits remained face-to-face (97% 
in June 2020). We were also pleased to hear that the Bridges Resource Centre has 
remained open throughout the year. Bridges offers respite care for children with 
disabilities and was able to carry on delivering this vital service following consultation 
with Public Health England about changes to practice and the effective use of PPE.  
 
We were also pleased to hear that the recruitment of foster carers continued, with the 
Fostering Panel meetings held virtually. There was an increased use of social media in 
the recruitment process, supported by the Council’s Communications team. The key 
message was that the recruitment of foster carers was ongoing in spite of the pandemic. 
This resulted in a continuous flow of enquiries. For example, in June 2020 there were 
11 enquiries compared to eight in June 2019.  

124



 
In order to assess the quality of services being delivered an audit tool was developed. 
This tool assessed areas such as risk assessment, visiting and the level of child-centred 
focus. 33 cases were reviewed including children in need, looked after children and care 
leavers. In parallel, parent/carer views and a child’s voice audit were also undertaken. 
The analysis indicated a number of positive outcomes: 
 

 Arrangements for social care visits and meetings were clearly recorded in the 
majority of cases (76%); 

 Multi-agency meetings were continuing to take place within statutory timescales 
(78%); 

 Quality of direct work was considered to be good in most cases (82%); 

 All children in care were being supported appropriately to have meaningful contact 
with birth families; 

 Reasons for children not attending school were recorded clearly, with evidence of 
social workers actively promoting school attendance where possible.  

 
In order to measure learning and progress from the first audit, a second audit took place 
in June 2020. The audit tool from the previous project was adjusted accordingly to 
reflect updated practice standards, and was then used to audit a further 23 cases during 
a period from March until mid-June. Again the tool focused in particular on the approach 
to risk assessment, visiting, ensuring child centred work and was accompanied by 
parent/carer views and a child’s voice audit. 
 
The findings from the second audit provided some important assurances about the 
strength of practice as the pandemic continued: 
 

 Almost all cases reviewed (96%) had a Covid-19 risk assessment placed on the 
child’s file by the required date; 

 Relevant health information to inform our Covid-19 risk assessments was clearly 
recorded in the majority of the cases reviewed (83%) - indicating a clear 
improvement from the previous audit; 

 Almost all children (87%) were seen within statutory timescales, compared to 61% 
in April 2020, again indicating a clear improvement in practice; 

 The audit report authors felt that in 82% of cases families had received a high 
level of practical support and appropriate advice, including signposting to and 
liaison with key external agencies or services. 

 
The second audit report also evidenced an evolving approach to visiting children as the 
national lockdown restrictions had begun to ease, with 65% of children being last seen 
face-to-face, in comparison to 45% in April 2020. 
 
In line with the first audit, a service-wide action plan was developed in order to seek 
further improvements in practice and outcomes. A further audit is being planned for 
January 2021 in order to maintain focus and provide quality assurance for the service 
as the pandemic continues.  
 
In relation to schools, we were aware of the national research about poorer outcomes 
for children from disadvantaged families and were keen to hear the approach taken to 
support schools across the Borough.  
 

125



We were informed that preparation for the reopening of schools to the wider pupil 
population in September 2020 commenced in the summer term. School leaders were 
supported with round table sessions to help understand the requirements of the DfE 
guidance including the Public Health requirements for safe operation of schools from 
September onwards. This work continued over the summer holiday period with work 
undertaken on home to school transport arrangements to ensure that pupils could make 
the safest possible journey to school and for these journeys to reflect the revised 
operating times and entrance and departure arrangements being made by individual 
schools. 
 
As schools recommenced fully from September attendance has been high at around 
90%, which is better than the national picture, but comparable with the South East 
attendance ranges. Schools provide a daily return to the DfE detailing attendances, 
which is then shared with the local authority to assist in our planning and support. We 
noted that, currently, the attendance data could not be broken down into specific groups 
such as gender, ethnic minority, etc. which made it more difficult to analyse the impact 
on inequalities in the Borough.   
 
Schools have been able to remain open throughout the pandemic period and no 
Wokingham Borough school has closed. Whilst there have been Covid-19 cases in local 
schools, the systems in place have prevented onward transmission.  
 
We noted that a Children’s Services Taskforce had been set up to bring together staff 
who were able to proactively plan and take action to mitigate the impact of further 
Covid-19 cases, but also continue to ensure responses where necessary (either to 
positive case notifications or general queries from schools and settings). 
 
The Taskforce would undertake a range of activity including: 
 

 Monitoring of Covid-19 prevalence and attendances within schools and settings; 

 Ensuring contact with all schools, settings, and provider services (children’s 
      residential homes, independent schools, further education provision, etc.); 

 Providing call handling and risk related support for settings; 

 Working with commissioned services on responding to Covid-19 related incidents; 

 Ensuring that services were operating, and supporting others to operate, within 
the context of national guidance and local intelligence; 

 Managing communications to schools and settings (in liaison with the Council’s 
Communications team); 

 Setting up and co-ordinating IMT (communication) activity as required; 

 Providing daily updates to schools and settings. 
 

Impact on Mental Health  
 
We noted the findings of national research into the impact of Covid-19 on mental health. 
Good mental health is an asset and is also linked to good physical health, both of which 
support positive social and economic outcomes for individuals and society as a whole. 
Mental health disorders account for almost a quarter of the total burden of ill health in 
the UK. Poor mental health is strongly associated with social and economic 
circumstances including living in poverty, low quality work, unemployment and poor 
quality housing. There is also a well-documented burden of mental health disorders 
following disasters, including evidence from previous viral outbreaks. One impact of the 

126



pandemic has been to reduce access to coping mechanisms and to mental health 
treatment.  
 
We were informed that 15% of the Borough’s residents had a formal diagnosis of 
depression with more than 40% of GP consultations relating in some way to mental 
health issues. A key aim of the Borough’s community response had been to reach out to 
isolated and vulnerable residents. The Council’s Adult Social Care team had carried out 
over 6,000 initial welfare checks with a further 16,000 follow up welfare calls via the Link 
Visiting Scheme. There were also 4,000 calls to the One Front Door service.  
 
In response to the increasing mental health challenges facing residents the Council had 
launched a pilot mental health programme in partnership with Earley Plus PCN and 
Citizens Advice. The programme encouraged residents to contact the One Front Door if 
they were concerned about deteriorating mental health or wellbeing. Citizens Advice 
would try to resolve underlying issues causing depression and anxiety such as 
relationship problems or financial hardship. They could also signpost other specialist 
mental health services or other voluntary organisations. The Council had set up a 
mental health recovery college which helped residents to understand mental health 
issues and manage mental health in a positive way. The Council also worked with the 
Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust to deliver community mental health 
services, with specific provision for residents from ethnic minority and LBGTQ+ groups.  
 
In relation to the mental health of children and young people, it was reported that there 
had been a period of suppressed demand during the first lockdown (March-June 2020). 
Demand began to increase again once the lockdown ended. In September 2020, for 
example, the CAMHs rapid response team received 70% more referrals compared to 
September 2019. There was also concern about an increase in eating disorder patients 
presenting at community and acute settings both locally and across the South East.  
 
The Council had worked with health partners to review the way in which emotional 
health and wellbeing support was provided to children and young people. The new 
model of support included: 
 

 Access to emotional health assessment, triage, advice and referral via a single 
“front door”; 

 A central point of contact (hub) for individuals, families and professionals to access 
services and/or discuss concerns; 

 Evidence-based direct support and stepped care interventions; 

 Evidence-based training; 

 Professional consultation; 

 Access to evidence-based self-help information; 

 Access to the Wokingham Mental Health Support Team service offer. 
 
An improved training offer was also being rolled out for schools and Children’s Services 
staff. The aim was to provide enhanced support for professionals who worked with 
children and young people. The identification of mental health needs at an early stage 
would help to facilitate early interventions thereby leading to better outcomes and a 
more effective use of resources in the system.  
 
We welcomed the introduction of Kooth, the on-line youth counselling service which was 
already achieving good results. In August 2020, for example, there were 87 new 
registrations. Kooth had been jointly commissioned by the Berkshire West CCG and the 

127



three local authority partners. Kooth offered a self-service area along with a chat 
function enabling young people to talk to a professional about issues or concerns. The 
new service helped to address some of the challenges faced by young people as a 
result of the Covid-19 pandemic – interruption of schooling, separation from friends, 
health issues, social isolation and being at home with family members who may be 
worried about work, finance and other relatives. We noted that Kooth had already been 
successful in other parts of the country, supporting over 130,000 children and young 
people in 2019/20.  
 
In relation to the impact of the pandemic on the mental health and wellbeing of Council 
staff, we noted that a number of positive initiatives had been put in place. These 
included: 
 

 The employee assistance programme (EAP) – providing access to confidential 
advice and support 24/7. EAP provides short-term, solution-focussed counselling 
and information services; 

 Exercise and body – NHS exercise programmes, healthy eating tips and NHS 
guidance on how to live well during the winter; 

 Mindfulness and meditation – guidance, podcasts and SoundCloud tracks; 

 My Learning and WBC eLibrary – eLearning modules and eBooks on subjects such 
as stress awareness, emotional intelligence, personal resilience and healthy 
lifestyles.  

 

Finance and Business  
 
Members considered a briefing which outlined WBC’s business and economic recovery 
response to the pandemic. WBC was part of the Berkshire Recovery Group, which was 
developing a strategic recovery plan across the Berkshire area. This would allow for a 
more pro-active approach to be carried out. WBC had engaged in a range of dialogue 
streams with its partners which would be maintained and expanded going forwards. In 
addition, a Business Taskforce had been set up to work alongside businesses within the 
Borough.  
 
At the Executive meeting in October 2020, it was reported that the net financial impact 
of the Covid-19 pandemic to date had been £2.629m. This was an improvement on the 
figure of £5.732m reported to the Executive in June 2020. The improved financial 
position had arisen from additional emergency Government funding and reimbursement 
of lost income. The second national lockdown will generate additional costs and see a 
further reduction in income from services such as leisure and car parking. Many 
Councils were experiencing serious financial challenges as a result of the pandemic. 
WBC also faced a number challenges, but, depending on the severity of further 
lockdowns was reasonably placed to set a realistic, safe Budget for 2021/22.  
 
In relation to the Business Health Check offer, 159 responses had been received, of 
which 80 had received a direct follow up from WBC officers. The low response rate 
could be due to a number of reasons, including a fatigue of survey completion 
considering how many surveys were in circulation for businesses to complete. WBC had 
seen a similar response rate to neighbouring authorities. The main group of businesses 
responding were within the retail and hospitality sectors. 

 
Members noted that the Borough was predicted to have a higher unemployment rate 
than other neighbouring authorities. It was predicted that there would be higher levels of 

128



unemployment across the Berkshire area due to several major business redundancy 
programmes. WBC was working alongside the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) to 
ascertain why unemployment was predicted to be higher in these areas. Officers were 
watching closely as the initial furlough scheme (now extended to March 2021) came to 
a close over the coming months and would look to see what factors were driving 
unemployment in the area. 
 
Government data published in October 2020 indicated that 9% of the Borough’s 
workforce had been furloughed during the first wave of the pandemic. The data related 
to the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) and the Self-Employment Income 
Support Scheme SEISS) up to 31 August 2020. The data indicated that there were 
85,800 eligible employments in the Borough, with 8,100 of these being furloughed (9%). 
There were also 7,700 people eligible for SEISS with a total of 4,900 claims made. 
Nationally, by mid-October, there had been 9.6m jobs furloughed. The 9% furlough rate 
was similar to Bracknell Forest, Reading and West Berkshire. Windsor and Maidenhead 
had a 12% furlough rate.  

 
Members congratulated officers on the support provided to the local business 
community and achieving the payment of the business and discretionary grants so 
quickly and efficiently. 

 
We also noted that the business growth hub offered one to one conversations with 
businesses to cover a range of needs and requirements. Enabling businesses to 
embrace technology was a priority for both WBC and the LEP. Many businesses within 
the Borough now had a strong social media presence. 
 
Members received a further briefing on the operation of the Council’s Property 
Investment Fund and the Property Investment Group (PIG). Whilst the pandemic had 
had an immediate impact across property markets, this had not caused the Council to 
deviate from the fundamentals of its investment strategy which was based on: 
 

 Careful selection of resilient buildings and locations; 

 Length and quality of the income stream; 

 Strength of tenant covenant/commitment; 

 Prospects for tenant renewal/replacement; 

 Alternative asset strategies to underpin capital value; 

 In-Borough opportunities to deliver multiple policy objectives. 
 
The Council had built its investment portfolio on a number of early key purchases of 
high quality institutional calibre stock let to strong covenants. In relation to the additional 
risks generated by the pandemic, we were informed that the WBC investment fund 
exposure to capital risk was low as there was no need or intention to sell any assets, its 
debt was comfortably serviced by long term rental income and the rental income was 
secured from a range of strong tenants with long leases.  
 
In relation to revenue, approximately 60% of the investment fund’s income was secured 
on leases with unexpired terms of at least 10 years. 75% of the fund’s income was 
delivered by institutional calibre tenants such as Stapletons, Waitrose, Wickes and 
Tesco. A small number of tenants had found themselves in challenging circumstances 
and the Council had been able to support them in the short term whilst maximising 
income in the longer term.  
 

129



Community Response 
 
Members considered a report which outlined WBC’s the community response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic. The report outlined that the ambition was to support vital 
community services and deliver public health advice through a well signposted and 
consistent response. The Council met with voluntary sector groups in March 2020 and 
agreed the following aims: 
 
• To provide Wokingham Borough residents with the support, help and guidance 

they need during the Covid-19 pandemic; 
• To ensure that all residents have access to food, essential supplies and medication; 
• To proactively identify and contact the most vulnerable residents in the Borough to 

check on their welfare and understand their needs; 
• To work in partnership with the voluntary and community sector to effectively deliver 
   the services residents need during the pandemic. 
 
The Council worked with a wide range of partners including Citizens Advice, the Link 
Visiting Scheme, Age UK, Involve, First Days, Wokingham Volunteer Centre, 
Wokingham Foodbank, Churches Together, Just Around the Corner, Norreys Church 
food hub, Home Start and the Borough’s Town and Parish Councils. As local community 
groups were established across the Borough they were contacted and became part of 
the community response.  
 
Communications were critical in enabling an effective response throughout the 
lockdown, whilst supporting the Borough’s vulnerable residents. WBC staff proactively 
telephoned the most vulnerable residents within the Borough as a welfare check, to 
make sure they had access to services and resources. 
 
The community hub provided access to food for residents in need. PPE was also 
provided to the voluntary sector as and when required. All aspects of the community 
response were regularly reviewed and adjusted. 
 
We were pleased to hear about the mobility project run during the summer aimed at 
rebuilding the confidence (both physical and mental) of older vulnerable residents 
across the Borough. The scheme was a joint project between the WBC sport and 
leisure and adult social care teams and groups such as the Link Visiting Scheme and 
Age UK Berkshire. It supported more than 130 residents in their homes with a range of 
exercise sessions as sessions run by organisations such as day centres had to be 
cancelled during the first lockdown.  
 
Citizens Advice Wokingham confirmed that a large part of the response was supported 
by assistance from WBC officers. The One Front Door system helped over 3,200 clients 
access a range of services and support. Citizens Advice received a 180% increase in 
employment related inquiries throughout the lockdown period. Calls were received for 
help with food, prescriptions and social contact. Other issues, such as housing, benefits 
and debt advice were identified during these calls. 
 
The evidence confirmed that the overall community response had been very good. The 
One Front Door system worked very well as it allowed residents’ needs to be addressed 
in a central location. Members were keen to ensure that Citizens Advice was properly 
funded to allow for the same level of service to be delivered, as necessary, in the future. 
 

130



We noted that the food hub would not necessarily be required again as there were now 
better avenues to distribute food to those in need. If a food hub was required, the 
Borough leisure centres would need to be closed and volunteers would need to be 
sought. It was noted that the national food parcel scheme was not particularly effective, 
and this could be better delivered on a local level. WBC was prepared to deliver this 
service within the Borough if required. 

 
Jake Morrison (Chief Executive, Citizens Advice Wokingham) confirmed that Citizens 
Advice wanted to see if the One Front Door system could offer additional help, by 
tracing whether the wellbeing of service users had improved after three to four weeks 
from the first point of contact. This would allow Citizens Advice to view the bigger 
picture and thereby achieve better outcomes for clients. There were studies which 
showed a number of links between a range of other issues and mental health, and this 
was, therefore, a priority. 
 
In October 2020, as Covid-19 cases began to increase significantly, the Council 
launched the “In It Together” campaign in order to remind residents of the Government 
guidance and help to slow the spread of the infection. Officers wrote to the residents 
who “shielded” in the Spring to remind them of the latest Government guidance. The 
Council also worked with partners to ensure that there were locally accessible testing 
sites, with units visiting Cantley Park and Prospect Park in Reading.  
 
Feedback on WBC’s response to the pandemic was sought from the Borough’s 17 
Town and Parish Councils. The feedback included the following points: 

 Jan Nowecki (Town Clerk at Wokingham Town Council) attended the daily WBC 
community response meetings and was able to provide a daily briefing to each of 
the Town and Parish Councils – this was well received; 

 Redeployed WBC staff working within various charities was very positive; 
 The voluntary and community sector felt that, through the pandemic, the sector had 

been treated as a partner, with a genuine dialogue; 
 The Wokingham Borough Community Response had been recognised as very 

good way to work through the crisis; 
 There was a recognition that the speed of the response was helped by the existing 

strong relationships between WBC and the voluntary and community sector; 
 WBC should consider the possibility of organisational shadowing in the future to 

promote the continued understanding of the different sectors involved in our 
communities; 

 There was some frustration around the understanding of the position of the Food 
Bank – this would be the subject of further discussions and clarification; 

 Covid-19 Community/Neighbourhood groups were new to the landscape. They 
were diverse and it was hoped that some would remain and continue to offer 
expertise and support back to the community; 

 The Citizens Advice One Front Door was a great strength. It was recognised that 
Wokingham Borough stepped forward in a way other local authority areas did not; 

 Gaps had been identified and addressed, mental health capacity in particular; 
 There was a recognition that the management of data was challenging, particularly 

the interface with national data; 
 Going forwards, we should ensure that BME groups are actively involved together 

with representatives of young people in the area; 
 Cooperation on the opening up of local centres went well, with help being offered to 

those Towns and Parishes with shopping areas; 

131



 Meetings with WBC officers about the re-opening of local businesses were 
productive and support was well received; 

 Generally, communications were felt to be good. It was appreciated that getting the 
message out was not always easy; 

 One parish gave an example of challenges with anti-social behaviour and 
commented that it would have appreciated greater support from WBC in facilitating 
a more effective police response; 

 As the majority of WBC staff were working from home, there were some difficulties 
around contacting the relevant officers for advice and support on specific issues; 

 Overall, it was felt that the recognition of the local Covid-19 response efforts in the 
towns and parishes was welcome, and bodes well for future co-operation. 

Community Safety/Localities 
 
Members received a briefing which outlined the impact of the pandemic on a range of 
issues, including recorded crime, domestic abuse, anti-social behaviour, parks and 
open spaces, play areas, fly tipping, and bonfires. 
 
We noted that the first national lockdown had a significant impact on certain types of 
crime. Burglaries and thefts from vehicle reduced significantly as residents remained at 
home and the restrictions on travel reduced the activities of organised groups travelling 
into the Borough. The briefing explained that the national lockdown had presented a 
range of new and unexpected challenges, in addition to exacerbating issues traditionally 
seen within holiday periods. WBC would therefore continue to work with its partners on 
the range of challenges in order to deliver key services to residents. 
 
There had clearly been some frustrations regarding the understanding of what powers a 
Local Authority had to deal with some of the issues outlined within the briefing. It was 
felt that there needed to be a level of expectation management with regards to these 
issues as many of them had to be dealt with by the police. 

  
Members noted the national research about the growth in domestic abuse cases linked 
to the first lockdown, with a 40% increase in calls to the National Domestic Violence 
Helpline. Data from other European countries indicated a spike in reported incidents 
once lockdown measures were relaxed. We were informed that a home refuge service 
was available in the Borough which supported victims who lived separately from the 
abusers. WBC worked closely with Berkshire Women’s Aid to reach out to victims. The 
key was to build confidence in individuals to be able to refer themselves and access 
appropriate support. We welcomed the steps taken to raise awareness and provide 
training for front line staff such as social workers and housing officers. We felt that this 
was an issue requiring close monitoring over the months ahead and supported the 
proposal to seek additional resources within the current Budget setting process.  
 
At the full Council meeting on 19 November 2020, Members received a presentation 
from John Campbell, Chief Constable of Thames Valley Police and Felicity Parker, 
Local Police Area Commander for Bracknell and Wokingham. The presentation gave 
details of recent developments including additional funding for the force of £8.4m and 
specific areas of investment including local policing and investigations and contact 
management. A restructured local policing model and increased patrol numbers had 
resulted in a 13% increase in arrests and a 58% increase in Stop and Search, which 
was felt to be effective if used appropriately.  
 

132



The presentation gave details of specific operations carried out over the past year 
including protests and demonstrations (including Black Lives Matter), HS2 – Extinction 
Rebellion, Operation Venetic (serious organised crime) and the Forbury Gardens 
murders. In responding to the Covid-19 pandemic, the policing approach had been 
based on the four E’s – Engage, Explain, Encourage and Enforce. In relation to Covid-
19 offences in the Borough, there had been 73 crimes, 539 incidents and 8 fixed-term 
penalty notices. There had also been 10 Covid-19 related assaults on police officers in 
the Borough. Felicity Parker stated that she chaired the Wokingham Borough 
Community Safety Partnership and felt that there were strong, positive working 
relationships between the partners.  

 
In relation to other community issues, we noted that the management of play areas was 
handled very well throughout the lockdown closure and reopening phases. We thanked 
the police and WBC officers for their hard work, support and positive engagement with 
the public.  

 
We applauded the efforts made to contain increased incidents of fly tipping within the 
Borough, noting that this had been a particular challenge over the summer, especially 
as the civic waste and recycling sites had been closed. Despite these efforts, the most 
recent data projected a doubling of fly-tipping incidents during 2020/21 compared to 
2019/20. The majority of fly-tipping related to household waste arising from domestic 
clear-outs and DIY projects. The inspection and clearance of fly-tips continued during 
the lockdown and was supplemented by awareness campaigns on social media. Since 
April 2020, over 70 Fixed Penalty notices have been issued. The reopening of the waste 
and recycling centres had been welcomed by residents. The new booking system 
meant that there was no longer queuing at the sites.  
 
There had also been a large increase in the number of bonfires throughout lockdown 
period, which had generated a number of complaints. We were informed that, should 
black smoke be present at a bonfire, then an environmental notice could be served. 
With regard to commercial bonfires, these could often release toxic fumes into the 
environment. WBC were in the process of strict enforcement relating to commercial 
sites using bonfires to get rid of their waste. Fines of up to £5,000 could be issued on 
the second offence. 
 

Communication and Engagement 
 
The Council implemented a comprehensive communications programme throughout the 
first lockdown. This included social media, printed flyers and direct contact with 
voluntary and community organisations.  
 
We heard about the ways in which the Council tried to gain greater insight into the 
impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on local communities. This included an online survey 
for residents, workshops for external and internal partners and interviews aimed at 
gaining deeper insights into delivery of the Council’s services.  
 
The on-line survey generated 1,477 responses. Key findings included: 
 

 67% satisfaction with the Council’s overall response to the pandemic and the 
delivery of universal services; 

 Top three issues people struggled with during the first lockdown – ability to connect 
with family, friends and community; stress and anxiety; diet/eating habits; 

133



 Highest future priorities for the Council: supporting local businesses/employment; 
mental health; reducing social isolation and loneliness in vulnerable people; 

 The biggest positive impacts arising out of Covid-19: the environmental impact; 
time spent outdoors; sense of community and willingness to help each other; time 
spent with immediate family; work-life balance.  

 
These findings would be used to shape corporate recovery priorities and to inform 
planning for future outbreaks and potential lockdowns.  
 
One area explored by Members was the effectiveness of targeted communications on 
specific groups such as young people, more vulnerable residents and ethnic minority 
communities. As an example, public health research highlighted the increased exposure 
of ethnic minority communities to the virus. This reflected a range of factors including an 
over-representation in front line care settings and in jobs that could not be undertaken at 
home, multi-generational housing and the prevalence of pre-existing medical conditions 
such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes and obesity. It was recognised that, initially, 
there was a lack of culturally appropriate messaging, both nationally and locally.  
 
We welcomed the work being undertaken to develop greater understanding of need 
amongst our ethnic minority communities and to target communications more 
effectively. This included a specific focus on targeted mental health support and a 
recognition of the importance of language. So, for example, the definition of a 
household” was different within different communities and phrases such as “household 
mixing” therefore required careful consideration and messaging. 
 

Recovery 
 
Members received a briefing which stated that the Council’s Covid-19 recovery activity 
was a co-ordinated programme of work which supported Council services and the 
community in reconstruction of economic infrastructure and restoration of emotional, 
social and physical wellbeing for residents across the Borough. In addition, the process 
had identified strategic opportunities which went beyond traditional ways of working, 
aiming to achieve longer term benefits for the community.  
 
The Corporate Recovery Programme (CRP) was initiated by the Council’s Corporate 
Leadership Team (CLT) in May 2020. The programme aimed to address four key 
themes: 
 

 Impact – to ensure that WBC understood the impact of Covid-19 on the community 
and the Council (services, staff, budgets); 

 Options – to identify options to harness the innovation which arose during the 
initial response phase; 

 Co-ordination – co-ordinating services and the community in the reconstruction of 
economic infrastructure and restoration of emotional and physical wellbeing; 

 Restoration – establishing a framework of support for businesses and any affected 
areas in the Borough. 

 
The CRP initially comprised ten workstreams which aligned with individual service 
recovery activity, with CLT having overall responsibility for the Recovery Co-ordinating 
Group. The ten workstreams included community engagement, community wellbeing, 
test and trace, communications, business and economy, staff and accommodation and 
contracts and finance. By working alongside partners such as Town and Parish 

134



Councils, the voluntary sector and other community groups, the Council was able to 
ensure a community voice in the recovery planning process. 
 

Test and Trace 
 
We were informed that Test and Trace at the local level had two main components – 
outbreak management and case tracing. These areas, led by the local Public Health 
team, connected to the national response to Covid-19. Governance of Outbreak 
Management consisted of: 
 

 Gold Command – comprising CLT and Public Health; 

 The Local Outbreak Engagement Board (LOEB) chaired by the Council Leader; 

 The Outbreak Management Group – led by WBC Public Health and including WBC 
Assistant Directors; 

 The Incident Control Team – led by Public Health England – attended by local 
Public Health Teams and WBC senior managers. 

 
The report gave details of the recent launch of local contact tracing which aimed to 
supplement the NHS Test and Trace system. Where contact could not be made through 
the national system (around 20% of cases), resident data was provided to the Council. 
The Council would then use local intelligence to contact those residents with positive 
test results. A team of contact tracers had been developed. The team could be flexed as 
required, depending on the number of positive cases in the Borough. In October 2020, 
the Council was the first authority in Berkshire to volunteer to take on the delivery of 
local contact tracing in support of the NHS Test and Trace service.  
 
The Outbreak Management Plan aimed to establish a clear process for controlling any 
further Covid-19 outbreaks and to minimise any impacts on the Borough’s residents. 
Achieving this aim would require a whole system approach across local and national 
government, the NHS, businesses, the voluntary sector, community partners and 
residents.  
 
The Outbreak Management Plan focussed on settings and population groups where 
there were particular risks relating to Covid-19. The plan focussed on a number of key 
themes, viz: 
 

 Care settings and schools; 

 High risk workplaces, communities and locations; 

 Mobile testing units and local testing approaches; 

 Contact tracing in complex settings – led by Public Health England; 

 Data integration – used to identify hotspots and target responses; 

 Vulnerable people – support for diverse communities; 

 Local Boards – managing outbreaks through Incident Control teams.  
 
In the event of a Covid-19 outbreak, a range of measures could be implemented, 
including: 
 

 Specific advice on PPE, infection prevention, control measures and contact tracing; 

 Testing of people with and without symptoms; 

 Restricting attendance at an outbreak site; 

 Cancelling events; 

135



 Closing community facilities and other premises, if required; 

 Alert messaging.  
 
The Outbreak Management Plan confirmed that the Director of Public Health retained 
primary responsibility for the health of the local community, working closely with other 
professional and organisations such as WBC. The Plan would be triggered when there 
were suspected or confirmed Covid-19 outbreaks in any setting type, or significant 
community spread. Public Health England would work with partners, including the 
Council, to gather intelligence via the national Test and Trace service, laboratory results 
and local partner feedback. Public Health England would conduct a risk assessment 
with the setting, provide infection control and advice on testing as appropriate. The 
Council would provide support to the outbreak setting and additional capacity for contact 
tracing, as necessary. 
 

Poverty – impact on the poorest, the unemployed and the homeless 
 
As outlined above, national research indicated how the pandemic exacerbated existing 
inequalities relating, for example, to wages, employment, health, gender, ethnicity, and 
education. It also opened up and widened new issues such as access to home working, 
home schooling and reliance on public transport.  
 
Although the Borough is one of the healthiest and wealthiest in the country, it does 
contain pockets of relative deprivation and residents in these areas will have felt the 
additional impacts caused by the pandemic. The pandemic had a significant impact with 
the shut-down of large sections of the local economy. The impacts included: 
 

 A 223% increase in claims for out of work benefits between February and August 
2020; 

 A disproportionate impact on workers from the ethnic minority community, women, 
young workers, disabled workers and the low paid; 

 120 young people at risk of not being in education, employment or training (NEET), 
which was a significant increase on previous years; 

 A significant increase in demand for support from Citizens Advice; 

 A 220% increase in people accessing the Wokingham Foodbank during March-
August 2020, compared to 2019. 

 
We heard that the Council had worked with partners to understand the change in local 
needs and had delivered a number of interventions, including: 
 

 Operation of the Citizens Advice One Front Door; 

 The “All In” policy which supported rough sleepers into accommodation; 

 Financial support to providers in the community and voluntary sector; 

 Flexible repayment plans for Council Tax and the Council Tax Hardship Fund; 

 Support to residents through the Community Engagement Team; 

 Support for Council tenants delivered by the Tenancy Sustainment Team. 
 
The Council’s response to the pandemic was based on strengthening key partnerships 
including the Town and Parish Councils and the voluntary and community sector. We 
heard from representatives of Citizens Advice Wokingham, First Days (a children’s 
charity) and the Wokingham Foodbank.  
 

136



Jake Morrison (Citizens Advice) commented that joint working through the pandemic 
had taken partnership working to a new level. As an example, Citizens Advice were 
providing training for front-line WBC staff on issues such as mental health. 
 
Emma Cantrell (First Days) was keen to work in partnership with the Council and other 
stakeholders. Emma commented that effective partnership working was not always 
about funding. Working together may drive innovation which could actually make 
services more targeted and efficient, thereby saving money. 
 
Annette Medhurst (Wokingham Foodbank) stated that, although the number of people 
accessing the foodbank had returned to close to pre-pandemic levels, there was likely 
to be an increase as Government support reduced and unemployment increased in the 
Borough. Annette was now in a regular dialogue with senior leaders at the Council 
which was a positive development.  
 
We noted the Council’s positive approach to tackling the impact of the pandemic on the 
poorest members of the community. This included the operation of the One Front Door 
via Citizen’s Advice and the increase in joined up working with a range of community 
and voluntary organisations. Other initiatives included the delivery of more affordable 
housing and the work to tackle homelessness and rough sleeping.  
 
In relation to housing, we were informed that 13 additional properties had been taken 
over during the pandemic and a number of hotels had been used for emergency 
accommodation. 28 rough sleepers, or those at risk of becoming rough sleepers, had 
been housed within 48 hours of WBC becoming aware of their situation. Four 
individuals had lost contact with WBC, but there was no indication of harm and it was 
assumed that these individuals had moved on. Two rough sleepers had not taken up 
WBC’s offer of accommodation and WBC officers were in contact with these individuals 
to try and meet their needs and maintain a dialogue. The ‘Housing First’ strategy was 
starting imminently, which would help with WBC’s long term policy on tackling rough 
sleeping within the Borough. 
 
We were heartened by the commitment given by Susan Parsonage to work in 
partnership and to develop more detailed local intelligence and insight. The Council 
wanted to work with key stakeholders to understand the experience of individuals and 
families in the Borough. Improved knowledge about local needs would inform the 
Council’s strategic direction, for example through the co-production of an anti-poverty 
strategy.  
 
Susan stated that Covid-19 had led to a greater focus on the impact of the pandemic on 
the poorest members of the community. However, the Council was committed to 
working in partnership to tackle this issue over the long term. Ongoing initiatives 
included: 
 

 A full-time Debt Management Worker, in partnership with Citizens Advice 
Wokingham and the voluntary sector; 

 Providing temporary accommodation for rough sleepers up to March 2021; 

 Provision of a private rented sector access fund; 

 A rough sleeper co-ordinator post at WBC; 

 Delivery of Housing First units – homes designed with wraparound support to help 
rough sleepers; 

 Enhanced mental health support in partnership with the voluntary sector; 

137



 Supporting economic recovery through then Economic Renewal recovery 
workstream and Business Taskforce. 

 
We made several recommendations relating to the impact of the pandemic on poverty in 
the Borough. These recommendations will help to maintain focus on this key issue and, 
specifically, aim to bring immediate attention and help to our young care leavers. 
 

Maintaining Democracy 
 
In April 2020, the Government implemented new regulations which enabled local 
authority meetings to be held remotely, including allowing remote access by members 
of the public.  
 
The Democratic Services, People Development and IT teams enabled a remote 
meeting solution using Microsoft Teams to allow the normal Council meeting calendar to 
continue. IT focussed on technical implementation, whilst People Development focused 
on training Members and Officers to use the new technology. Democratic Services 
focussed on producing a practical meeting template whilst adhering to government 
legislation and the practicalities of running a Council meeting. In addition, remote 
streaming software was enabled to allow simultaneous broadcasting of the meeting for 
public viewing whilst maintaining a good level of security for each meeting to take place. 
 
We also heard that additional briefings on Covid-19 were provided for the opposition 
groups on the Council. This helped to ensure that all Members were up to speed on 
new developments and were better equipped to provide information and support to their 
constituents.  
 

Conclusions 
 
The Scrutiny reviews have indicated that the Council’s response to the Covid-19 
pandemic has been very positive. The Council’s emergency planning systems were 
effective, enabling decisive and speedy action on specific issues such as PPE, the risks 
to residents of local care homes and the establishment of the One Front Door 
community response.  
 
The Council’s willingness to work in partnership has been outstanding, as has the 
response from community and voluntary organisations across the Borough, along with 
hundreds of community volunteers. This strengthened partnership approach provides a 
strong base upon which to build relationships and respond to future challenges, during 
and after the pandemic. We also commend the Council’s willingness to work 
constructively with the Borough’s MPs and to stand up to the Government over issues 
such as the discharge of untested residents into care homes. 
 
The Council’s workforce has also been exemplary in its response to the pandemic, 
through its willingness to redeploy into new service areas and its commitment to 
maintain key universal services. Overview and Scrutiny Members have already sent a 
message to staff thanking them for their dedication and hard work and recognising the 
huge contribution from the many community volunteers across the Borough. We are 
pleased to note the Council’s focus on the health and wellbeing of staff, especially staff 
at higher risk, as we move through the second wave of the pandemic.  
 

138



In relation to specific service areas, we welcomed the speed with which new forms of 
service delivery were implemented as a result of the move to home working and the 
way in which vulnerable residents and service users were placed at the centre of key 
decisions which affected them. We noted the results of the Residents’ Survey which 
indicated a 67% satisfaction rating with the Council’s response and highlighted areas of 
challenge and opportunity as we move forwards. 
 
We also noted the outcome of national research on the impacts of the Covid-19 
pandemic on specific groups such as ethnic minorities, young people, people with 
disabilities and the poorest residents in the community. We made a number of 
recommendations asking the Council to continue to work closely with partners to identify 
specific needs and to target services and communications to achieve better outcomes 
for these individuals and families. We also welcome the focus on mental health and 
wellbeing as a key issue facing all sections of the community.  
 
In relation to the new “normal”, the experience of the past eight months has road-tested 
a number of new ways of working and living. For example, the Council had adapted 
quickly to the majority of staff working from home and delivering the democratic process 
on line. A number of services, such as libraries, quickly adapted to lockdown and 
delivered a more extensive on-line offer.  
 
The significant reductions in traffic and increased levels of walking and cycling during 
lockdown periods have provided positive examples for the Council’s work on Climate 
Emergency and the delivery of a “green” recovery. The strengthening of partnerships 
with the voluntary sector and Town and Parish Councils and increased focus on the 
needs of specific community groups provides a template for greater community 
cohesion and inclusion.  
 
Finally, we recognise the huge challenges faced and overcome by the Council and its 
partners over the past eight months and hope that our recommendations will help to 
deliver an even stronger response as we move through the next phase of the pandemic 
and address the additional challenges of the winter period.  
 
 

139



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee and  
Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

 
 
 
 

Annual Reports 
2020/21 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Produced: February 2021 
Received by Council: 18 March 2021  

141

Agenda Item 108.



2 

 

 
 
 
 

Contents           Page No 

 
 
 
 
Foreword by Councillor Pauline Helliar-Symons, Chairman of the Overview  3 
and Scrutiny Management Committee 
 
 
Section 1 –  What is Overview and Scrutiny?      4 
 
 
Section 2 –  Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee  6 
 
 
Section 3 –  Report of the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny   9 
  Committee 
 
Section 4 - Report of the Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny  12 
  Committee 
 
Section 5 –  Report of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee   15 
 
 
Section 6 - Getting Involved in Overview and Scrutiny     18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

142



3 

 

 

 
Foreword by Councillor  Pauline Helliar-Symons, 

Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny  
Management Committee 

 

Welcome to the Annual Reports of Wokingham Borough Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees for 2020/21.  
 
The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees is to hold decision makers to account, both 
inside and outside the Council. The Committees also play a role in developing and reviewing 
policy and ensuring that the Council and its partners are working effectively to improve services 
for residents, businesses and visitors to the Borough.  
 
The 2019/20 Annual Reports highlighted a number of major challenges facing the Borough 
including financial uncertainty, demand and cost pressures, the funding of social care, housing 
numbers, traffic congestion and the Climate Emergency. Since then, the impact of the Covid-
19 pandemic has changed everything. The Council has spent much of the past year in 
responding to the pandemic. The response, to date, has been very positive and has 
demonstrated the dedication and commitment of Council staff, partner organisations and the 
hundreds of community volunteers across the Borough. 
 
In carrying out the role of “critical friend” the Overview and Scrutiny Committees carried out a 
major review of the Council’s response to the pandemic. This covered a wide range of issues 
including support to care homes, schools and early years’ settings, health partnerships, 
communications and engagement with “at risk” groups in the community. We also looked at the 
impact of the pandemic on the poorest residents of the Borough and its effect on mental health. 
We noted that the Council’s financial stability had enabled it to respond quickly and effectively, 
in contrast to many other local authorities. Our overall findings were reported to the Executive 
in February 2021.  
 
We recognise that the impact of Covid-19 will continue for the next few years, at least. Its 
financial impact will force the Council to seek new ways of working and new ways of delivering 
services. To date the signs are positive that the Council will be able to maintain key front-line 
services allied to innovation and continuous improvement. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees will continue to ensure that decisions are effective and transparent and that public 
services deliver value for money for Council Tax payers.  
 
The Annual Reports also demonstrate the wide range of other issues considered during the 
year. They reflect the hard work and commitment of residents, community stakeholders, 
Members and officers who contributed to the work of the Committees.  
 
 
        Pauline Helliar-Symons, 
         February 2021 

143



4 

 

  
SECTION 1 – WHAT IS OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY? 
 
Wokingham Borough Council is a large, complex organisation with a thousand employees and 
an annual budget in excess of £130m. The Borough’s Community Vision (February 2020) is to 
make the Borough “a great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business”. 
The Council makes major strategic decisions which affect the long-term future of the area and 
its communities. It also makes decisions on a daily basis which affect the lives of some of the 
Borough’s most vulnerable residents. Other public service providers such as the NHS, Thames 
Valley Police and the Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service also make key decisions which 
affect the residents of the Borough. In order to ensure that the Council and other service 
providers spend public money wisely and make well informed decisions about key services it 
is essential that an effective system of checks and balances is in place.  
 
A distinction is drawn between “Overview” which focuses on the development of policy and 
“Scrutiny” which looks at decisions that have been made, or are about to be made, to ensure 
that they are fit for purpose. In this document “Scrutiny” refers to both Overview and Scrutiny.  
 
The Council’s Executive takes decisions within the financial and policy framework set by the 
full Council. Non-Executive Members of the Council (representing each of the political groups) 
are appointed to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees to review those decisions 
and the performance of key services. The relationship between Council, Executive and 
Overview and Scrutiny is illustrated in the diagram below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
In order to deliver the Overview and Scrutiny function the Council has established the following 
Committees: 
 

 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee – responsible for overseeing the Scrutiny 
function and developing an annual work programme for each of the Committees. 

COUNCIL 
All 54 Members of the full Council meet 
six times each year. Full Council agrees 
the Budget and the Policy Framework for 
the year ahead 

EXECUTIVE 
The Leader of the Council appoints 
up to nine Executive Members. The 
Executive is empowered to take all 
executive decisions (collectively or 
individually) within the Budget and 
Policy Framework agreed by the full 
Council 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
Non-Executive Members from the 
different political groups are 
appointed by the full Council to 
provide checks and balances on the 
decisions taken by the Executive, 
review service performance and 
advise the Executive on policy issues 

144



5 

 

 Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee – responsible for scrutiny of services 
relating to schools, safeguarding and child protection, looked after children and children 
with special educational needs and disabilities.  

 Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee - responsible for scrutiny of 
Council services, crime reduction and community safety and flood risk management. 

 Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee – responsible for scrutiny of local NHS bodies, 
public health arrangements and the work of the Local Healthwatch service. 

 
The Committees consider issues at their regular meetings or by setting up time-limited Task 
and Finish Groups. The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny structure is illustrated below: 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Four Principles of Effective Scrutiny 

 Constructive “critical friend” challenge to the Executive and external service providers; 

 Channelling the “voice” of the public and representing all the Borough’s residents; 

 Members reaching bipartisan conclusions based on the weight of evidence; 

 Driving continuous improvement which promotes community wellbeing and quality of life. 
 
Limitations 
Overview and Scrutiny is not about the investigation of minor matters or individual complaints. 
The Council has a separate corporate complaints procedure which is used to investigate 
individual complaints about services. Similarly, Overview and Scrutiny does not look at quasi-
judicial matters such planning or licensing issues. Finally, Overview and Scrutiny is not used 
for raising issues of a party political nature as these matters can be addressed through debate 
at full Council meetings. 

 
 
 

Children’s 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

Task and Finish Groups 

Community and 
Corporate 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee 

Health 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

145



6 

 

 
SECTION 2 
 
REPORT OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE  

 

 

Pauline Helliar-Symons, Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee has three principal roles. Firstly, to 
develop and oversee the work programmes of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. Secondly to investigate specific issues of concern raised by local residents and 
community stakeholders. Thirdly, to ensure that Scrutiny Members receive training and support 
to enable them to carry out their work effectively.  
 
As mentioned above, a significant part of the Committee’s focus over the past year was on the 
Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic. We scrutinised (virtually) a number of issues 
including the Borough’s Outbreak Management Plan, changes to the organisational structure, 
the local Test and Trace programme and the impact of the pandemic on the poorest residents, 
the unemployed and the homeless.  
 
The Committee considered a number of other issues during the year including the quarterly 
performance management report on key services, unauthorised encampments, waste and 
recycling, street cleansing and grounds maintenance. We also held a “Call-In” meeting to 
review the decision making process relating to the purchase of reusable dry sacks for dry 
recycling, to replace the existing black boxes.  
 
The Committee also established a Climate Emergency Task and Finish Group which met seven 
times between May and September 2020. The Group reviewed the Council’s Climate 
Emergency Action Plan, heard from expert witnesses and made a number of recommendations 
for improvement to the Executive. The Group will continue its work in 2021/22.  
 
The Management Committee will continue to focus on initiatives to strengthen the Overview 
and Scrutiny process. This will include greater emphasis on pre-decision scrutiny, additional 
training and support for Members, greater involvement from residents and community groups 
and closer liaison with the Executive and the Council’s Corporate Leadership Team.  
 
Finally, I would like to thank the Members, officers, residents and partner organisations who 
contributed their time, effort and insights during this challenging period.  
 

Pauline Helliar-Symons 

            

146



7 

 

 
Remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee oversees the Council’s Scrutiny function 
and is responsible for developing and co-ordinating the work programmes and support for the 
three Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
 
Membership 
Councillor Pauline Helliar-Symons (Chairman). 
Councillors Alison Swaddle (Vice-Chairman), Jenny Cheng (part year), Andy Croy, Paul 
Fishwick, Jim Frewin, Guy Grandison, Emma Hobbs (part year), Sarah Kerr, Abdul Loyes, Ken 
Miall, Andrew Mickleburgh, Malcolm Richards (part year), Rachelle Shepherd-Dubey and Oliver 
Whittle (part year).  
 
Substitute Members: Councillors Laura Blumenthal, Shirley Boyt, Chris Bowring, Prue Bray, 
Jenny Cheng, Stephen Conway, Carl Doran, Lindsay Ferris, Michael Firmager, Graham 
Howe, Clive Jones, Barrie Patman and Simon Weeks.  
 
Officer contact: Neil Carr  neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk 

 

Highlights from the Year 
 
Covid-19 Pandemic 
The Committee coordinated a major review of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 
pandemic. The review considered a wide range of issues including maintenance of key 
Council services, coordination of the community response through the “One Front Door”, 
effectiveness of emergency plans and the impact of Covid-19 on the most vulnerable groups 
in the community. The other Overview and Scrutiny Committees reviewed key issues relating 
to their remit. The Management Committee’s final report was submitted to the Executive in 
February 2021. The report’s recommendations highlighted the outstanding response 
delivered by the Council and its partners. They also focussed on the importance of issues 
such as domestic violence, poverty, health inequalities, partnership working, continuous 
organisational improvement and effective communication and engagement with “at risk” 
groups in the community. 
 
Performance Management 
The Committee received quarterly Performance Management reports setting out details of the 
Council’s performance against a number of financial, staffing and operational indicators. 
Members used the quarterly data to probe on areas of underperformance and select issues for 
more in-depth scrutiny. This included requesting that relevant officers attend future meetings in 
order to provide more information and context on specific indicators.  
 
Climate Emergency 
The Committee established the Climate Emergency Task and Finish Group involving 
Councillors Alison Swaddle (Chairman), Keith Baker (to be replaced by Pauline Helliar-Symons 
in 2021/22), Andy Croy, Andrew Mickleburgh and Malcolm Richards. The Group met virtually 
during the summer of 2020. The Group received evidence from WBC officers, the Executive 
Member, the Local Enterprise Partnership and Professor Paul Chatterton from the University 

147



8 

 

of Leeds. The Group’s report was submitted to the Executive in November 2020. It concluded 
that the Climate Emergency Action Plan was an ambitious document, in line with best practice. 
However, more work was required in a number of areas to strengthen the Action Plan and to 
ensure that the governance structure delivered rigorous challenge and effective public scrutiny.  
  
Unauthorised Encampments 
The Committee considered a report on the Council’s powers, policies and procedures relating 
to unauthorised encampments. The report outlined the measures being taken to minimise any 
detrimental impact on local communities and the measures being taken to protect potentially 
vulnerable sites across the Borough. It also considered proposals to meet future needs of the 
Gypsy, Romany and Traveller communities through additional site provision. Members asked 
about the ways in which information and support was provided to residents, landowners, 
elected Members and travellers. We welcomed the provision of additional information for 
residents, improvements to the information on the Council website and the introduction of 
annual Member training sessions.  
 
Member Training 
The Committee recognises the importance of ongoing training and development to ensure that 
Members’ skills and knowledge are constantly upgraded. Training sessions have been held on 
key elements of effective Overview and Scrutiny including preparing for meetings, questioning 
techniques and the development of key lines of enquiry. We will deliver further training for 
Members in 2021 and will work with the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny to ensure that our 
policies and procedures are in line with best practice.  
 

Scrutiny Impacts 
Assessing the impact of Overview and Scrutiny is not easy. An effective Scrutiny function 
influences decision making and policy development in a variety of ways. The development of 
robust challenge, questioning and examination of the issues helps to drive better decision 
making with greater transparency and accountability. Effective Scrutiny should have a defined 
impact on the ground, with the Committees making recommendations that make a tangible 
difference to the work of the Council and other public service providers. 
 
Over the past year the following impacts are highlighted: 
 

 Covid-19 Pandemic – the Committee received evidence from a number of partner 
organisations and considered the findings from a Residents’ Survey. The Committee’s 
recommendations increased the level of focus on vulnerable groups in the local community.  

 

 Climate Emergency Task and Finish Group – the Task and Finish Group highlighted the 
importance of working with schools, businesses and community stakeholders to develop a 
Vision for Net Zero. It also stressed the importance of SMART targets to enable effective 
monitoring of progress against the priorities in the Council’s Action Plan.  

  

 Unauthorised Encampments – the Committee recognised that this was a serious and 
emotive issue for residents. Members stressed the importance of clear, timely information 
for residents and landowners. We welcomed the proposals to review future site provision 
and to deliver training for Members which would enable them to inform and support 
residents more effectively.  

148



9 

 

SECTION 3 
REPORT OF THE CHILDREN’S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Committee’s work is split almost equally between children’s social work and educational 
attainment. As well as monitoring all the recommendations put in place by earlier Committees 
and Task and Finish Groups, the new work that has come its way is outlined below. This is in 
addition to the normal performance monitoring that we do at each meeting. This keeps the 
Committee in touch with how the Service and schools, especially the ones that have had 
Ofsted inspections, are performing. 
 
We also monitor what the Service is doing to help schools requiring improvement, or schools 
causing concern, to improve. This year there was a particular focus on the local authority’s 
response to the pandemic in supporting our schools and school leaders. 
 
The Committee invites the Regional Schools Commissioner to attend once a year to 
scrutinise the performance of academy schools in the Borough. 
 
All members of the Committee and their substitutes are invited to attend training at the start of 
the first meeting each year as Children’s Services is an area that is constantly changing and 
we are keen to keep up-to-date with new legislation and service developments. Training is 
also arranged during the year if specific needs arise.  
 
I would like to thank all members of the Committee, and the substitutes for their commitment 
to and interest in the work that we do, and for all the positive and genuinely useful 
contributions that they have made. 
 

         Alison Swaddle 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Alison Swaddle, Chairman of the Children’s 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

149



10 

 

 

Remit of the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
The Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for scrutiny and 
policy development in relation to services for children and young people. This includes 
schools, early years’ settings and children’s centres, safeguarding and child protection, 
children in care and services for children with special educational needs and disabilities. 
 
Membership: 
Councillors: Alison Swaddle (Chairman), Jenny Cheng (Vice-Chairman), Prue Bray, Andy 
Croy, Pauline Helliar-Symons, Ken Miall, Andrew Mickleburgh, Malcolm Richards. In 
December 2020 the membership changed to Councillors: Alison Swaddle (Chairman), 
Malcolm Richards (Vice-Chairman), Prue Bray, Andy Croy, Pauline Helliar-Symons, Ken 
Miall, Laura Blumenthal and Andrew Mickleburgh. 
 
Parent Governor: two vacancies. 
 
Substitute Members:  
Councillors: Michael Firmager, Emma Hobbs, Abdul Loyes Barrie Patman, David Hare, Sarah 
Kerr, Shirley Boyt and Carl Doran. 
 
Representatives of the Church of England Diocese and the Roman Catholic Diocese are also 
able to attend meetings of the Committee when Education issues are being considered.  At 
the moment these posts are vacant.  
 
Officer contact: Luciane Bowker  luciane.bowker@wokingham.gov.uk 
 

Highlights from the Year 
 
Performance Management 
At each meeting the Committee reviewed the performance of Children’s Services in relation to 
Key Performance Indicators. Members challenged the Service, asking for relevant information 
and context in relation to Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s). The report format continues to 
evolve in response to the Committee’s requests. Of particular interest is the improvement in 
the timeliness and quality of Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP). 
 
Schools’ Performance/ Coronavirus Response 
The Committee received regular updates in relation to how the local authority has been 
supporting schools during the Coronavirus pandemic.  Ofsted inspections were suspended 
and the national exams did not take place. Therefore, it has not been possible to assess 
schools’ performance against national indicators for the 2020 year.  The Committee 
scrutinised the 2019 results.  This situation is being monitored and the Committee will seek to 
continue to receive schools’ performance indicators once inspections and exams start again. 
The Committee also challenged the service to demonstrate efforts to address the educational 
gap which will result from the disturbed learning during this difficult year. 
 
Virtual School 
The Committee received a comprehensive report from the Virtual School and was pleased to 
note that the Virtual School service is being extended from 5-16 year olds to 0-25 year olds.  

150

mailto:luciane.bowker@wokingham.gov.uk


11 

 

The Committee was informed that all Children In Care (CIC) are being offered online tutoring 
to help with their learning during the pandemic.  The Committee challenged the service to 
provide evidence of the impact of the online tutoring programme to CIC’s education. This will 
continue to be monitored. 
 
Regional Schools Commissioner (RSC) 
The Committed received a representative from the RSC to review academy schools’ 
performance.  It was reassuring that the RSC did not raise any concerns over the Borough’s 
academy schools.  The RSC’s relationship with the local authority is strong and it was 
strengthened during the pandemic.  The Committee was also updated on the process of 
choosing a trust for the Northern House School, now the Chiltern Way Academy (part of the 
Chiltern Trust). 
 
CAMHS Review 
The Committee received an update about mental health services being provided for children 
and young people in the Borough.  The Committee asked for more information around various 
issues which caused concern during discussions of this item and, as a result, a joint meeting 
of the Children’s Services and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees is being organised 
to continue the scrutiny of the offer of mental health services in the Borough. 
 
Children’s Services Response to Covid-19 
The Committee received a review of how the service has been operating since the lockdown 
in March 2020 and how services have been able to adapt and continue to be delivered.  It 
was reassuring to learn that the service was able to carry on offering sustained respite care 
during this time, undertake a children’s social care audit for quality assurance, as well as the 
usual activities. 
 
School Placements Sufficiency 
The Committee considered the offer of school places and the planning of future provision for 
each phase of education, as well as SEND provision.  The Committee recommended the 
retention of sixth form provision at schools in the Borough and encouraged broadening of the 
offer of subjects and apprenticeship opportunities.  
 
SEND Strategy 
The Committee received a comprehensive review of the new SEND Strategy.  The new 
strategy is much more ambitious than the previous one and was co-produced with all 
stakeholders. The Committee will continue to review its development and implementation.  
 
The Committee also reviewed the following items: Child Exploitation, the development of the 
Compass Team and measures taken to reduce the need for children to return to a child 
protection plan. 
 
Scrutiny Impacts 

 Performance management – improved layout and content to provide more up-to-date 
information, trends and service narratives.  Improved transparency and accountability. 
 

 Response to the Coronavirus pandemic – encouraging the service to help schools and 
school leaders to deal with the challenges arising as a result of the current pandemic. 

151



12 

 

 

SECTION 4    
 
REPORT OF THE COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 

Guy Grandison, Chairman of the  
Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 
During the past year, the Committee has continued its focus on the delivery of Council services 
to ensure that they provide value for money for the Borough’s Council Tax payers. Executive 
Members and Officers were invited to attend meetings of the Committee to give evidence and 
answer questions on priorities and performance. Conducting Committee meetings in a virtual 
environment has allowed greater access and convenience for the public to engage with the 
Overview and Scrutiny process, in addition to reducing travelling requirements for Members, 
officers, and participating members of the public. 
 
This year marked the second consecutive year that Overview and Scrutiny have looked at the 
proposed Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) in detail, prior to its journey through the 
February 2021 Executive and Budget Council meetings. This exercise has continued to add 
value to the Budget setting process by challenging Executive Members and Directors to explain 
the rationale for spending proposals in a clear and understandable way. 
 
The Committee considered a range of other issues during the year including flood prevention, 
burial ground provision, and the Highways Maintenance Strategy. The Committee also 
undertook a detailed review of the Council’s business, community, and charity response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic. Both the Committee and I wish to thank all those individuals who came 
together to meet the needs of the community during these very difficult times. 
 
In developing its work programme the Committee is keen to ensure that the “voice” of local 
residents and community groups plays a bigger part in its deliberations. The Committee 
recognises that involving residents, community groups and local “experts” in Overview and 
Scrutiny reduces the risk of a partisan approach as Members are able to hear directly from 
those stakeholders whose interests they are representing. The Committee will continue to 
promote greater public involvement in Overview and Scrutiny over the coming year and will 
share any relevant learning with the other Overview and Scrutiny Committees.  
 
I thank the Members of the Committee, Officers, residents and other stakeholders who took 
part in our meetings for their valuable contributions during what has been a difficult year. 
           

Guy Grandison 

152



13 

 

 

Remit of the Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for the scrutiny 
of internal Council operations and partnership working across the Borough. It also has 
responsibilities under the Police and Justice Act 2006 which involves oversight of the operation 
of the Borough’s Community Safety Partnership. The Committee is also responsible for the 
scrutiny of flood risk management.  
 
Membership 
Councillor Guy Grandison (Chairman). 
Councillors Emma Hobbs (Vice-Chairman), Shirley Boyt, Paul Fishwick, Clive Jones, Graham 
Howe, Abdul Loyes and Alison Swaddle. 
 
Substitute Members: Councillors Chris Bowring, Andy Croy, Carl Doran, Michael Firmager, 
Pauline Helliar-Symons, Ken Miall, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey, Malcolm Richards and 
Caroline Smith. 
 
Officer contact: Callum Wernham: callum.wernham@wokingham.gov.uk 
 

Highlights from the Year         
 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2021-24 
The Committee undertook a detailed overview of the proposed 2021-24 MTFP. Executive 
Members and Directors were invited to attend the meetings to present their bids and explain in 
detail how the requested funding would be used to deliver key services. Members welcomed 
the inclusion of ‘plain English’ detailed bid sheets which provided key figures and descriptive 
narratives in a format that Members and members of the public could understand and interpret. 
The Committee probed bids within key service areas, including agency worker staffing within 
Children’s Services, care and support within Adult Social Care, income generation within 
Resources and Assets, substantial capital bids within Customer and Localities, and the 
Continuous Improvement Programme within Communities, Insight and Change. The role of the 
Committee was to challenge assumptions within the budget setting process and to encourage 
key decision makers think about their proposals from a different perspective. The Committee 
appreciated this continued level of transparency on the proposed MTFP and budget setting 
process, and looked forward to this process continuing and improving in future years.  
 
Business, Community and Charity Initial Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic 
The Committee engaged with Council officers and staff from within the voluntary sector in order 
to assess how Wokingham Borough Council had helped to manage the initial business, 
community and charity response to the Covid-19 pandemic. Members received presentations 
from Directors and senior staff from various Council departments, in addition to hearing from 
the Chief Executive of Wokingham Citizen’s Advice. A selection of topics considered by the 
Committee included the community and voluntary sector response (including the Wokingham 
‘one front door’ approach), the housing response (including offering accommodation to all those 
who were considered as homeless within the Borough), the community safety response, and 
communications and engagement response. Members were grateful for the hard work and 
effort that went into enabling every aspect of the initial response to the pandemic, and thanked 

153



14 

 

officers for giving up their time to present examples of the outstanding work that had been going 
on across the Borough. 
 
Burial Ground Capacity 
The Committee considered an update on burial ground capacity within the Borough. The 
Committee initially had concerns regarding the overall capacity across the Borough, and 
capacity for specific religious burials such as Muslim burial plots. The Committee considered 
several updates, and during this period Council officers and staff at sites across the Borough 
undertook research to calculate the total amount of available plots, and identify areas of 
possible expansion. The Committee was pleased to hear that there was currently provision for 
between 17 and 20 years of burials within Wokingham Borough. A number of sites across the 
Borough were identified as potential areas for expansion, including Earley Town Council’s plans 
to expand their existing provision at May’s Lane. Members were pleased that burials of specific 
faith were being provided for within the Borough, including burials for followers of the Baha’i 
faith. The Committee were delighted that many, if not all, of the concerns originally raised had 
been mitigated. The Committee praised all involved for doing a sterling job. The Committee 
identified this as an example of Overview and Scrutiny working particularly well. 
 
Highways Maintenance Strategy 
The Committee reviewed WBC’s Highways Maintenance Strategy. Members were advised how 
roads were selected for maintenance, and the different processes that were carried out in order 
to maintain roads and highways. The Committee asked that Highways officers and the 
Executive Member for Highways and Transport seek to formally engage with Town and Parish 
Council’s when developing the three year programme for surface maintenance. 
 

Scrutiny Impacts 
 
 Budget and Budget setting process transparency – information regarding the Budget and 

the Budget setting process has been thoroughly reviewed by the Committee, and made 
publically available in an easy to read ‘plain English’ format. Transparency around crucial 
issues such as the Budget forms an essential part of the checks and balances that 
Overview and Scrutiny provides.   

 Close working relationship with Executive Members and Directors – Executive Members 
and Directors were invited to, and attended, a number of Committee meetings. Answers 
to Member queries were frank and detailed, providing a solid foundation for transparent 
Overview and Scrutiny.   

 Oversight of delivery of key Council Services – continued monitoring of key Council 
Services to ensure that they are delivering value for money for residents. Probing 
Services to think about service delivery and value for money is key in delivering cost 
effective services for residents. Services showed their resilience and expertise via their 
initial response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 Proposed that Highways officers and the Executive Member for Highways and Transport 
seek to formally engage with Town and Parish Council’s when developing the three year 
programme for highways surface maintenance. 

 

154



15 

 

 
SECTION 5 
 
REPORT OF THE HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

 

Ken Miall, Chairman of the  
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

  
The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee has concentrated on health and social care 
matters that affect residents.   
 
Throughout the year the Committee has heard from the Council’s Adult Social Care team and 
the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust regarding the response to the Covid-19 pandemic.   
Briefings were also received from a number of other bodies including the Thames Valley 
Local Pharmacy Committee and NHS Berkshire West Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
The Committee has kept informed of significant developments within the local health and care 
system, such as the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation’s Building Berkshire Together 
development programme. 
 
Members continue to work with Healthwatch Wokingham Borough, the independent 
consumer champion created to gather and represent the views of Wokingham Borough 
residents, receiving updates on their work at most meetings. 
 
Finally, I would like to thank the members of the Committee, Officers, residents and other 
stakeholders who took part in meetings for their contribution throughout the year. 
 
             
         Ken Miall 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

155



16 

 

 
Remit of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) scrutinises issues relating to the 
planning, provision and operation of health and wellbeing services in the Borough.  This 
includes acute and community health services, adult social care services, family and public 
health services and health related services commissioned jointly by the Council, health bodies 
and the voluntary sector.  The Committee exercises powers conferred to it through the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 and the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.   
 
Membership  
Councillor Ken Miall (Chairman). 
Councillors Abdul Loyes (Vice Chairman), Rachel Bishop-Firth, Jenny Cheng, Jim Frewin, 
Guy Grandison, Clive Jones, Adrian Mather, Bill Soane and Michael Firmager (from October 
2020), Alison Swaddle (until October 2020). 
 
Substitute Members: Chris Bowring, Gary Cowan, David Hare, Pauline Helliar-Symons, 
Emma Hobbs, Graham Howe, Tahir Maher, Malcolm Richards, Caroline Smith and Simon 
Weeks. 
 
All attendees at HOSC meetings, including members of the public, may ask questions after 
each report or presentation is presented. 
 
Officer contact: Madeleine Shopland madeleine.shopland@wokingham.gov.uk 
    

Highlights from the Year 
 
Council’s Response to Covid-19 – Care Homes 
The Committee scrutinised the Council’s response to the pandemic with regards to care 
homes, thus far, receiving a briefing in July 2020.  They noted that Adult Social Care had 
proactively supported the care sector and had worked with the care homes to facilitate mutual 
aid across the sector.  Support provided included, an improved funding deal for care homes 
the Council contracted with, helping to source Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) and the 
provision of advice and guidance.  Members commended the decision taken to refuse to take 
residents back into care homes from hospital, unless they had been tested for Covid-19, prior 
to Government guidance on this matter being issued. 
 
The Committee received a further briefing with regards to the provision of PPE and financial 
support.  The Committee concluded that the Council’s response to the pandemic in relation to 
care homes had ultimately been very positive, based on strong partnership working, effective 
decision-making and communications. 
 
Pharmacy Services 
The Committee was updated on pharmacy services in the Borough at the Committee’s 
September meeting, by Kevin Barnes and David Dean, Thames Valley Local Pharmacy 
Committee.  Members sought information regarding pharmacy service provision during the 
pandemic and were pleased to note that 95% of pharmacies had been open consistently 

156



17 

 

throughout the pandemic.  Whilst there had initially been some issues around staffing and 
ensuring staff safety and that customers queued safely, these had mostly been addressed.   
 
Building Berkshire Together 
The Committee was briefed on the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust’s Building 
Berkshire Together development programme at its September meeting.  Under the 
Government Health Infrastructure Plan, funding would be provided for 40 new hospital 
projects over the next ten years.  It was a major opportunity for the Trust, the local 
communities, and staff to improve services, patient experience and the environment.  The 
Trust was one of 21 NHS Trusts to receive seed funding of £2million to develop ideas.  All 
possibilities would be considered including refurbishment and rebuilding the existing site, 
substantial refurbishment and rebuild, completely new hospital on the current site and 
completely new hospital on a new greenfield or brownfield site. 
 
Members received a further briefing on the progress of the development programme and the 
different possible options available, at the January 2021 Committee meeting.  
 
Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust 
The Committee received an update from the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust at its 
November 2020 meeting.  Members sought information on issues such as whether the Trust 
would be able to maintain stroke, heart attack and cancer services during the pandemic, 
escalation plans, testing of staff and clearing any backlog in service provision.  
 
Future commissioning of NHS hydrotherapy services in Berkshire West 
The Committee monitored the NHS Berkshire West CCG consultation on the future 
commissioning of NHS hydrotherapy services in Berkshire West and received a briefing on 
the outcome of this consultation, in January 2021.  Based on the clinical effectiveness, value 
for money and analysis of the consultation, the CCG had agreed to not routinely fund NHS 
hydrotherapy services apart from on an exceptional basis via an Individual Funding Request.  
Members were pleased that the service would remain available for those with a particular 
clinical need.  
 
Healthwatch  
The Committee have continued to receive frequent updates on the work of Healthwatch 
Wokingham Borough, including on the following: 
 
 GP surgery website accessibility; 
 Accessing health services during the pandemic and in particular, dental services; 
 Perinatal services; 
 Deaf or hard of hearing patients accessing virtual GP appointments.  
 

Scrutiny Impacts 
 

 Ensuring that residents’ needs are considered as part of the commissioning and delivery 
of local health services and continuing to work with Healthwatch Wokingham Borough to 
raise the profile of matters raised by local service users. 
 

 Developing an overview of key health and social care services that served the Borough. 

157



18 

 

 
SECTION 6 
 
GETTING INVOLVED IN OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The Council is committed to making Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings accessible to 
all residents of the Borough. A key aim is to increase public involvement in the process and to 
remove barriers to participation.  
 
Residents can get involved in Overview and Scrutiny by attending meetings - all Overview and 
Scrutiny meetings are open to the public and are held in the early evening to make attendance 
easier. In addition, copies of Agendas including reports to be considered are published five 
working days before each meeting and can be accessed on the Council’s website: 
 
www.wokingham.gov.uk/council-and-meetings 
 
During the Covid-19 pandemic, meetings have been held virtually using Microsoft Teams. 
These meetings are accessed via a You Tube link set out on the meeting Agenda.  
 
Residents can also elect to receive automatic notification when new Overview and Scrutiny 
Agenda and Minutes are published. 
 
Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting (including virtual meetings) includes a Public 
Question Time session which allows residents to raise issues of general interest and/or specific 
issues relating to the items under consideration. 
 
Members of the public are also able to contribute to Scrutiny reviews by giving evidence either 
as an individual or as part of a community group. Residents can also request that a specific 
item is considered by Overview and Scrutiny as a review item. Residents can complete an 
online Scrutiny review suggestion form at: 
 
www.wokingham.gov.uk/council-and-meetings/decisions/ask-for-a-scrutiny-review 
 
During 2021/22 the Council will continue to use local and social media to raise awareness of 
issues coming before the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and to allow residents to provide 
comments and feedback. 
 
The Council’s Twitter feed is accessible here:  WokinghamBorough@WokinghamBC 
 
If you want to learn more about Overview and Scrutiny or want to discuss a specific issue, 
please contact Neil Carr, the Council’s Scrutiny Officer: 
 
by telephone: 0118 974 6000, or  
by email: neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk or by post: 
Democratic Services, Wokingham Borough Council, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN. 
 
 

 

158

http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/council-and-meetings
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/council-and-meetings/decisions/ask-for-a-scrutiny-review
mailto:neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Standards Committee  
 

Annual Report  
 

2020/21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Submitted to the Council – March 2021  

159

Agenda Item 109.



 
 
 

  
       Introduction by John Kaiser,  
Vice-Chairman of the Standards Committee 

 
 
I am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Standards Committee for 2020/21.  
 
The main aim of the Standards Committee is to promote and maintain the highest standards 
of conduct by elected Members representing the Borough, Town and Parish Councils. Local 
government impacts the lives of residents every day, providing essential services to those it 
serves. High standards are required in order to demonstrate that key decisions are taken in 
the public interest and to maintain public confidence.  
 
Members’ conduct should be underpinned by the seven principles of public life, also known 
as the Nolan Principles - selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, 
honesty and leadership. 
 
The Standards Committee met four times during the year and focussed on ensuring that the 
Borough Council’s policies, as set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct, were up-to-date, 
understood and underpinned by best practice.  
 
During the year the Committee considered trends arising out of complaints data and 
arrangements to ensure that Members were aware of their responsibilities under the Code 
of Conduct. The Committee also carried out a public consultation exercise relating to 
potential changes to the Code of Conduct and considered the Local Government 
Association new Model Code of Conduct. The Committee also considered social media 
guidance.  The Committee is especially keen to ensure that newly elected Members are 
aware of their responsibilities and the standards of behaviour expected of them.  
 
During 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic resulted in the introduction of virtual meetings and 
much greater on-line activity for Members. Bearing in mind the significant challenges facing 
the Borough, Town and Parish Councils over the year, I am pleased to report that the level 
of Code of Conduct complaint activity in 2020/21 remained at a relatively low level compared 
to previous years.  
 
Finally, I would like to record my thanks to the Borough, Town and Parish Members, Officers 
and Independent Persons who contributed to the work of the Committee during the year.  
 
 
 

John Kaiser 
 March 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 160



 
 
 
 
1.0 What does the Standards Committee Do? 
 

The role of the Standards Committee is to promote, monitor and enforce probity and 
ethical standards amongst elected Members within the Wokingham Borough,  
including Town and Parish Councillors. The Localism Act 2011 removed the 
requirement for a national code of conduct and statutory Standards Committees. The 
Act introduced a locally focussed “light touch” framework for the adoption of a 
Member Code of Conduct, and processes for the receipt and consideration of 
complaints. Although not obliged to do so under the terms of the Localism Act, 
Wokingham Borough Council decided to maintain a dedicated Standards Committee.   
 
In addition to maintaining an overview of Code of Conduct complaints against 
Wokingham Borough Council Members, the Committee is also responsible for 
overseeing complaints against Town and Parish Councillors. The Committee 
discharges this duty through regular consideration of update reports from the 
Monitoring Officer who is responsible for deciding on and dealing with complaints, 
except for those which are required to be referred to a Hearing Panel of the 
Standards Committee. If the complaints process determines that a Town/Parish 
Councillor is in breach of the Code of Conduct, recommendations will be submitted 
to the relevant Town/Parish Council as to the appropriate sanction. However it is for 
the Town/Parish Council to decide what action is to be taken.  
 
Role and Functions 
 
The Standards Committee has the following role and functions: 

 
a) promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, co-opted 

members, including church and parent governor representatives; 
 
b) assisting the Councillors, co-opted members, including church and parent 

governor representatives, to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
 
c) advising the Council on the adoption or revision of its Members’ Code of 

Conduct; 
 
d) monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct, the Officers’ Code 

of Conduct and the Council’s Whistleblowing policy and any other appropriate 
codes of conduct and procedures; 

 
e) advising, training or arranging to train Councillors, co-opted members and 

church and parent governor representatives on matters relating to the Members’ 
Code of Conduct; 

 
f) the exercise of (a) to (e) above in relation to the Parish/Town Councils wholly or 

mainly in its area and the members of those Parish/Town Councils; 
 
g) the presentation of an annual report by the Chairman of the Standards 

Committee to Council. 
 
 
 
 161



 
 
 
 

2.0 The Nolan Principles of Public Life 
 

As mentioned earlier, elected Members should seek to carry out their duties in line 
with a set of principles known as the Nolan Principles. In 1994, Prime Minister John 
Major established the Committee on Standards in Public Life, chaired by Lord 
Nolan. The Committee’s first report established a set of seven guiding principles for 
conduct in public life.  
 
The Principles of Public Life apply to anyone elected or appointed to public office, 
nationally and locally, and everyone appointed to work in local government, the Civil 
Service, police, courts and probation service, etc. All public office-holders are both 
servants of the public and stewards of public resources.  
 
The seven Nolan principles are: 
 
Selflessness 
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.  
 
Integrity 
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family or their friends. They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships.  
 
Objectivity  
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 
 
Accountability  
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.  
 
Openness  
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 
 
Honesty  
Holders of public office should be truthful. 
 
Leadership 
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to 
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 162



 
 
 
 
3.0 Who Sits on the Standards Committee? 
 

The Committee is made up of seven Wokingham Borough Council Members. These 
Members are voting members of the Committee and are appointed on the basis of 
political proportionality. An elected Member from Wokingham Borough Council chairs 
the Committee. John Halsall was Chairman of the Committee until January 2021. A 
new Chairman will be appointed at Annual Council in May 2021.  
 
The Committee also includes three, non-voting, Town and Parish Council 
representatives. The 2020/21 membership of the Committee was: 
 
o John Halsall (Chairman) – until January 2021. 
o John Kaiser (Vice-Chairman) 
o Prue Bray 
o Gary Cowan 
o Graham Howe 
o Abdul Loyes – from January 2021.  
o Daniel Sargeant – from January 2021. 
o Imogen Shepherd-Dubey 
o Wayne Smith – until January 2021. 
 
o Sally Gurney (Wokingham Town Council) 
o Roy Mantel (Twyford Parish Council) 
o Vacancy 

 
Steps are being taken to fill the vacancy for a Town/Parish representative.  

 
At the Committee meeting on 11 January 2021, a question was raised regarding the 
composition of the membership of th Committee. As a result of the point raised, the 
meeting was adjourned to allow the matter to be reviewed. A review was 
undertaken, which included obtaining legal advice on the issue, and the Chief 
Executive summarised the position in a letter to all Members. It was acknowledged 
that the appointments did depart from the Council’s locally agreed rules. However, 
the appointments had been made by full Council and, therefore, the Committee 
members had been properly appointed. It was determined that the Committee’s 
composition and any decisions made by the Committee were not unconstitutional or 
unlawful. However, immediate action had already been taken following the meeting 
on 11 January in which two Members stepped down from their membership of the 
Committee with immediate effect and were subsequently replaced by two new 
Members, as detailed above.  

 
 
4.0 Independent Persons 

 
Under the terms of the Localism Act 2011, Wokingham Borough Council is required 
to appoint an Independent Person (a member of the public, not a Council Officer or 
elected Member) whose views must be sought before a Hearing Panel of the 
Standards Committee takes a decision on an allegation. The Independent Person’s 
views may also be sought on an allegation prior to that stage. In addition, a Member 
who is subject of an allegation may seek the views of an Independent Person. Three 
people are currently acting in the Independent Person role: 
 163



 
 
 
 
o David Comben 
o Paddy Haycocks 
o Nick Oxborough 
 
An Independent Person cannot sit as a member of the Standards Committee, but 
may attend meetings with the same rights as a member of the public. 

 
 
5.0 Who Supports the Standards Committee? 

 
The Committee is supported by: 
 
o Andrew Moulton, Assistant Director, Governance and Monitoring Officer; 
o Jennifer Lee, Senior Solicitor and Deputy Monitoring Officer;  
o Neil Carr, Democratic and Electoral Services Specialist. 

 
 
6.0 Standards Committee Activity in 2020/21 
 

During the 2020/21 Municipal Year eight Code of Conduct complaints were received. 
The Standards Committee considered an update report on the complaints and 
investigations at each of its meetings. The complaints related to: 

 

 the alleged disclosure of confidential information; 
 

 the breach of social distancing rules relating to Covid-19; 
 

 the inappropriate use of social media by Members;  
 

 the conduct and behaviour of a Member at a Council meeting; 
 

 the wording of a Council press release. 
 
The complaints were considered initially by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with 
the Chairman/Vice-Chairman of the Standards Committee and the Independent 
Person. In order to improve transparency, the Committee agreed previously that, in 
cases where no action was taken, the complainant and other interested parties would 
receive a more detailed explanation of the reasoning behind the decision.  

 
It is worth reiterating that the number of complaints received should be seen in the 
context of there being 54 Borough Council Members and over 200 Members of Town 
and Parish Councils across the Borough. Whilst recognising that the level of 
complaint activity in 2020/21 was relatively low, the Committee continues to 
recognise the importance of dealing with every complaint seriously and expeditiously.  
 
It is also worth noting that the Covid-19 pandemic resulted in new types of complaint, 
including the alleged failure to maintain social distancing in line with the Government 
guidance. The pandemic also resulted in much more activity taking place on line, 
which changed the dynamic between elected Members, their Councils and their 
constituents.  
 

164



As mentioned earlier, the Committee carried out a public consultation exercise 
relating to potential changes to the Code of Conduct. The proposed changes 
included: 
 

 Inclusion of guidance on use and misuse of social media within the Code of 
Conduct; 
 

 Increasing the value of declarable gifts; 
 

 Publishing the outcome of all complaints – including complaints resolved 
informally; 

 

 Strengthening the process for supporting Town/Parish Council Clerks in submitting 
complaints. 

 
The Committee considered the LGA’s Model Code of Conduct in addition to feedback 
from the public consultation at its meeting on 8  March 2021.  

 
 
7.0 Committee on Standards in Public Life 
 

As mentioned earlier, during 2018/19 the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
(CSPL) carried out a review of ethical standards in local government. The 
Committee’s final report was published in January 2019.  
 
The CSPL concluded that the vast majority of Councillors and Officers wanted to 
maintain the highest standards of conduct in their own authority. However, nationally 
there were some examples of poor behaviour often relating to bullying or harassment 
and disruptive behaviour. The CSPL also identified a number of risks around conflicts 
of interest, gifts and hospitality and the increasing complexity of local government 
decision making.  
 
The CSPL felt that local control of the standards system should be retained, via a 
Standards Committee, but with more robust safeguards and guidance on developing 
an organisational culture which supported the implementation of high ethical 
standards. Key recommendations in the CSPL report included: 
 

 A new power for local authorities to suspend Members without allowances for up 
to six months; 

 

 Revised rules on the declaration of interests, gifts and hospitality; 
 

 Local authorities to manage their own Codes of Conduct; 
 

 A right of appeal for suspended Members to the Local Government Ombudsman; 
 

 A strengthened role for the Independent Person; 
 

 Greater transparency about the number and nature of Code of Conduct 
complaints.  

 
The CSPL also felt that the current criminal offences relating to Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests were disproportionate in principle and ineffective in practice and, therefore, 
should be abolished.  
 

165



In relation to organisational culture, the CSPL noted that an ethical culture required 
leadership from the Standards Committee, the political group leaders, the Mayor and 
the Chief Executive. It was recognised that there would always be robust 
disagreement in a political arena. However, the tone of engagement should be civil 
and constructive. Political Groups should set clear expectations of behaviour and 
senior Officers should work informally with the Groups to resolve standards issues 
where appropriate.  
 
Implementation of the CSPL’s recommendations would require changes to primary 
and secondary legislation and the Local Government Transparency Code. In the 
meantime, as outlined above, the Standards Committee reviewed the existing WBC 
Code of Conduct against the best practice principles set out in the CSPL report at its 
meetings in 2020/21. In line with CSPL guidance, a public consultation was held on 
proposed changes to the WBC Code of Conduct.  
 

 
8.0  Standards Committee – Future Actions 
 

The Standards Committee will continue to make further improvements to the Code of 
Conduct and supporting processes to ensure continuous improvement in line with 
best practice. In so doing it will seek to maintain the credibility and good governance 
of the Borough, Town and Parish Councils. 
 
The Committee will commission further training and support, as necessary, to 
underpin high standards of ethical behaviour by elected Members and Officers across 
the Borough. As outlined in the report, in 2021/22 the Committee will focus on 
guidance relating to the use and misuse of social media and other impacts relating to 
the Covid-19 pandemic. The Committee is keenly aware that high standards of 
behaviour help to build trust in elected representatives which is crucial to the 
democratic process.  
 
An assessment of the best practice recommendations in the CSPL report indicates 
that the Council is already broadly in line. Following the public consultation on 
proposed changes to the WBC Code, the Committee will make recommendations for 
improvement to the Council during 2021/22. It will also monitor progress relating to 
the Government’s response the CSPL report and consider any implications for the 
Borough.  
 
Finally, the Committee will endeavour to fill the existing vacancy for a Town/Parish 
representative on the Committee.  
 

 

166



1 

 

 

 

NAME OF ORGANISATION REP(s) Page Number 

Age Concern Twyford & District Lindsay Ferris 3 

Age UK Berkshire 
(No meetings due to Covid-19) 

Pauline Helliar-
Symons 

N/A 

Atomic Weapons Establishment – 
Local Liaison Committee 

Barrie Patman 4 

Berkshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Jenny Cheng 5 

Berkshire Maestros Chris Bowring 6 

Berkshire Museum of Aviation Trust Malcolm Richards 7 

Berkshire Pension Fund Advisory 
Panel 

John Kaiser 8 

Citizens Advice Wokingham Emma Hobbs 9 

Finchampstead Baptist Church 
Advisory Board 

Simon Weeks 10-12 

Keep Mobile Sarah Kerr 13 

Local Government Association 
General Assembly 

Charlotte Haitham 
Taylor, John Halsall, 
Stuart Munro and 
Rachelle Shepherd-
DuBey 

14-17 

Mid & West Berks Local Access 
Forum 

Angus Ross 18 

Royal Berkshire Fire Authority  Pauline Helliar-
Symons, Graham 
Howe, Rachelle 
Shepherd-DuBey and 
Angus Ross 

19-21 

Sonning & District Welfare and 
Educational Trust 

Michael Firmager 22 

South East Employers John Kaiser, Stuart 
Munro 

23-24 

South East Reserve Forces and 
Cadets’ Association (SERFCA) 

Angus Ross 25 

Standing Conference on Archives Pauline Jorgensen 26 

Strategic Aviation Special Interest 
Group of the LGA (SASIG) 

Malcolm Richards 27 

Thames Basin Heaths Joint Strategic 
Partnership 

Angus Ross 28 

The Piggott Trust Graham Howe 29 

The Poors Land Charity Abdul Loyes 30-31 

White Waltham Airfield Consultative 
Committee 

Graham Howe 32 

Wokingham and District Association 
for the Elderly (WADE) 
(No meetings due to Covid-19) 

Dianne King  N/A 

167

Agenda Item 110.



2 

 

 

 

Wokingham Borough Sports Council Michael Firmager 33 

Wokingham Job Support Centre 
Management Committee 

Stuart Munro 34 

Wokingham Volunteer Centre 
(No meetings due to Covid-19) 

Dianne King N/A 

Wokingham Youth Counselling and 
Information Service (ARC) 

Graham Howe 35 

Woodley Town Centre Management 
Initiative 

Jenny Cheng, Bill 
Soane 

36 

Woodley Volunteer Centre 
(No meetings due to Covid-19) 

Abdul Loyes N/A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

168



3 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation AGE CONCERN  TWYFORD 

Name of Member Lindsay Ferris 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Representative 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

10 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

8 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

Clashes with other meetings 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 
During the year the Age Concern facility at Lady Elizabeth Hall in Twyford has largely 
been closed due to Covid_19. However during the late summer/early Autumn period the 
facility was opened for residents to attend. This was possible with the support provided 
by WBC Adult Social services area and the due protocols and safety measures were 
put in place. Age Concern are working to be able to reopen, once this is deemed safe 
and feasible by the Government. 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
 
I believe it is important for Age Concern to have a WBC representative especially due to 
the close links with Adult Social Care. 
 

 
Councillor:  Lindsay Ferris Dated:  22 Feb 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

169



4 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation AWE Local Liaison Committee 

Name of Member Barrie patman 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Member 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

4 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

3 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

Problems with virtual meeting 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
Performance Safety change of ownership safety zone expansion future development 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
Full information provided on the role of the committee plus monthly updates 
Not always clear on the role of the committee but restricted by security 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
It is difficult to see the direct relevance to our objectives but their activities can impact 
on the areas where housing development is proposed in the Borough 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
It is important for the Borough to be aware of what is happening in AWE as it is 
important that we keep our residents informed of what is affecting their area. 
 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
AWE as now been taken back from private control and is back under Government 
control 
 

 
Councillor:  Barrie Patman Dated:  4th March 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

170



5 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation Berkshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

Name of Member Jennifer Cheng 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Governor 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

11 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

7 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

Health issues 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year. 
 
Berkshire Healthcare is responsible for mental health and community health.  It has a 
residential hospital for mental health patients called Prospect Park, and a residential 
mental health unit for young people at Wokingham Community Hospital called Willow 
House.  Willow House is due to be closed in April 2021. 
BHFT offers various therapies for patients which can be accessed by phone or on line. 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
 
I received a detailed governor introduction pack and I had a meeting with the Chair of 
the Trust. 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
 
The Trust puts people at the core of its thinking.  Since this change in approach, rather 
than putting the needs of staff first, patient care has become much more effective and is 
appreciated by patients. 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
Mental Health and Community Health have a huge impact on the community which the 
Council serves so it is important to have a representative on the Council of Governors. 

 
Councillor:  Jennifer Cheng Dated:  05.03.2021 

171



6 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation Berkshire Maestros 

Name of Member Christopher Bowring 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Trustee 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

9 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

0 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

Every meeting called clashed with a WBC meeting 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 
Berkshire Maestros has continued its work during a difficult year with remote teaching 
replacing the usual methods throughout most of the year with only a little face-to-face 
tuition where possible. 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
 
Regular agendas and minutes of trustee meetings supplied as a matter of course. 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
Berkshire Maestros has been badly hit by the Covid-19 emergency.  Teaching naturally 
requires face-to-face contact and this has not been generally possible throughout the 
year.  It has mitigated these problems with new technology and effective fund raising 
including £750,000 from the Culture Recover Fund of the Arts Council.  Berkshire 
Maestros reacted very quickly to the Covid-19 restrictions switching to online delivery of 
lessons within two weeks and succeeding in retaining a high proportion of students. 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
It is important that the work of Berkshire Maestros receives the support of the local 
authorities in its area. I therefore advise continuing representation as a trustee. 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
It is important that the work of Berkshire Maestros receives the support of the local 
authorities in its area. I therefore advise continuing representation as a trustee. 

Councillor:  Christopher Bowring Dated:  4th March 2021 

172



7 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation Berkshire Museum of Aviation, Woodley 

Name of Member Cllr Malcolm Richards 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

WBC Appointed Representative 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

None  (Update reports only, provided to Members/Reps)   

Number of Meetings 
attended 

0 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

Covid19. See above details, plus texts report below.  

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.   Nothing new for the Museum this year, because it remained 
closed, due to covid19.  Interesting reports on aviation events (worldwide) and historical 
aviation matters, were written and issued by the senior management team at BMA. 
Sadly, a couple of senior members of the BMA team passed away during 2020.  
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role?  Nothing constitutional, just basic survival and a hope of 
being able to open and restart in 2021.  I received emails to advise me of status.  
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply?  Yes, BMA are relevant and their aims continue to be in line with some of 
our visions for the borough. It is an interesting aviation-based museum, plus a historical 
connection to a famous RAF war-hero.  WW2 RAF pilot hero, Group Captain Douglas 
Bader, flew from here (unfortunately he also crashed there [before the war] and lost 
both his legs but went on to fly again, and become a war hero). The Museum is popular 
and attracts a number of visitors and tourists to the borough.  It also matches our vison 
statement “A good place to live, learn, work and grow, and to enjoy leisure facilities.”  
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

YES 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
For the reasons stated above. The Museum is a credit and a contributor to the boroughs 
historical provisions, for residents and visitors (including worldwide members).  
 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
N/A 

 
Councillor:  M L Richards Dated:  05-March-2021  

173



8 

 

 

 

 
WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 

 
MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 

 

Name of Organisation Berkshire Pension Fund Advisory Panel 

Name of Member John Kaiser 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Trustee 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

2 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

2 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  Training and assessment of the fund 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 1-day Training (Yes) 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? Competent and well run 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
Controls the pension of WBC employees 
 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
 
 

 
Councillor:  John Kaiser Dated: 09/03/2021  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

174



9 

 

 

 

 
WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 

 
MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 

 

Name of Organisation Wokingham Citizens Advise Bureau  

Name of Member Emma Hobbs 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Trustee 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

4 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

4 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

N/A 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  One Front door and moving forward 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role?   Full description of how the area works 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply?  Excellent have achieved 98% of assistance during 2020. 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes/No 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
Bringing in outside bodies for assistance to the Council and the objectives of the WCAB 
 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
This organisation is a life savour to many individuals it takes a lot of pressure off of 
officers in the Council, where they are stretched. It offers assistance in all areas and 
knowledge of all aspects of other areas from advice on work, mental health, home, 
domestic abuse etc. 
 

 
Councillor:  Emma Hobbs Dated:  4th March 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

175



10 

 

 

 

 
WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 

 
MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 

 

Name of 
Organisation 

 
Finchampstead Baptist Centre Advisory Board 
 

Name of Member Cllr Simon Weeks 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

WBC representative 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

Two 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

Two - both by video-conference due to the pandemic 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

 

Please give a brief 
synopsis of the key 
areas covered by the 
Outside Body during 
the past Municipal 
Year.  
 

Finchampstead Baptist Church secured funding of  £5m to 
deliver this community centre, on land owned by WBC. The 
FBC Centre opened in 2010. 
 
Included within the centre is a very large multi-use sports hall, 
a library and Childrens’ Centre (both operated by WBC), café, 
parish council office, police point and several meeting rooms. 
Sports and social activities are delivered here along with 
extensive youth work. Funding was also secured for 
Finchampstead’s first Multi Use Games Area (MUGA)MUGA,  
which was opened on WBC land directly behind the centre in 
summer 2016. This complements the large and well equipped 
outdoor play facility. 
 
The Advisory Board was established to ensure the use by the 
church, WBC  and local community is appropriately balanced, 
whilst maximising the occupancy level of the building and its 
associated facilities. 

176



11 

 

 

 

What background 
/briefing information 
did you receive from 
the organisation on 
its constitution, 
aims, objectives etc 
and was it sufficient 
to enable you to 
carry out your 
appointed role? 
 

Because I was fully involved in this project from initial concept 
right through to delivery, I did not need a briefing. 
 
Prior to the opening of FBC Centre, Finchampstead previously 
had a lack of appropriate community facilities. FBC has 
addressed that shortfall and the Centre is now extremely well 
used and highly regarded and respected by the community. 

Please indicate how 
effective you think 
the organisation is, 
e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the 
Council’s Vision and 
Priorities and give 
examples to 
illustrate your reply? 
 

FBC has secured various Government grants (via WBC) to 
lessen the impact of the protracted series of Covid shut-downs 
 
An extensive  range of sports, social, and community activities 
hosted by FBC help reinforce the increasingly strong 
community cohesion across Finchampstead. 
 
Ongoing community development work has helped in an area 
of deprivation (Gorse Ride) and provided a popular hub that 
was previously lacking in Finchampstead. 
 
FBC Centre has significantly enhanced many local residents 
lives and is used by a broad cross section of ages. This is now 
of greater significance due to the planned phased 
redevelopment of the Gorse Ride estate. 
 
During the pandemic, FBC has had to be closed for several 
periods to comply with Government ruls. However it has 
operated a  limited service when permitted. 
 
Aditionally, I arranged or the car park to host a Covid Mobile 
Testing Unit, which is continuing to operate. 

Do you think the 
Council should 
continue to be 
represented on this 
Outside Body? 

Yes - absolutely. 

Please state the 
rationale FOR OR 
AGAINST having a 
representative  
 

See above. 
 
Note - I consider it essential that the group or board that 
oversees the new community centre soon to be built at the 
Atborfield SDL, includes a local borough councillor rep. 

177



12 

 

 

 

Please provide any 
additional 
information that 
fellow Members 
might find useful 
 
 

Finally, as FBC have 10 years experience of delivering 
benefits to the residents in Finchampstead, it has now been 
agreed that FBC will run the new developer funded community 
centre at the Arborfield Strategic Development Location. 

 
 

Councillor: 
 

 
Simon Weeks 

Signed: Simon Weeks 
 

Dated: 6 March 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

178



13 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 

Name of Organisation Keep Mobile 

Name of Member Sarah Kerr 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Observer 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

1 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

1 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

N/A 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year. Keep Mobile provides transport for the elderly and disabled in 
the local area.  The charity also partakes in various fundraising activities to acquire 
income in order to continue operating.  Specifically in the last Municipal Year, it has 
been transporting vulnerable residents to vaccination clinics and doing shopping orders 
for those isolating due to Covid-19.   
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? I was previously given an old annual report but my requests 
for a governing document to understand how the organisations operates have been 
refused.  For the 1 meeting that has been held in the last Municipal Year, I have not 
been provided with any information despite me asking for it.   
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply?  Keep Mobile is a lifeline for many members of our community allowing 
them to get to and enjoy places they wouldn’t otherwise be able to.  I believe that Keep 
Mobile is helping to fulfil the council’s vision and priorities, ensuring that our less mobile 
residents continue to enjoy living here, visiting what we have to offer and participating in 
community life.   

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes/No 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative Keep Mobile 
works at the heart of the community with some of our more vulnerable residents.  It 
deserves continued support from both borough and town/parish councils.  However, 
there are concerns over governance and transparency, and any future financial 
investments into the organisation from the borough council, must have careful 
monitoring attached to it.   

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
One of the other obstacles that still needs to be addressed is an appropriate community 
bus stop in Wokingham Town Centre.  This will allow Keep Mobile to bring more 
members of our community into our newly regenerated town centre.   

Councillor:  Sarah Kerr Dated:  04/02/2021 

179



14 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation 
Local Government General Assembly Annual Meeting 

Name of Member 
Charlotte Haitham Taylor, John Halsall, Stuart Munro, 
Rachelle Shepherd DuBey 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Representative 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

1 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

0 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

30th June General Assembly was postponed and then held 
virtually on 30th September 2020 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
In October 2019, the Local Government Association (LGA), based on feedback from 

member councils and in agreement with their politicians supported a three-year 

business plan setting out the following areas of priority : 

 Funding for local government 

 Adult social care, health and wellbeing 

 Children, education and schools 

 Places to live and work 

 Strong local democracy 

 Sustainability and climate action 

In 19/20, in making the case for local government, the LGA has been quoted 205 times 

in the House of Commons, 101 in Westminster Hall debates and has received 69 

mentions in written commons statements. In the House of Lords, the LGA has been 

mentioned 209 times and 26 times in Grand Committee debates. The LGA have briefed 

parliamentarians for 50 debates, influenced 12 parliamentary committee inquires and 

helped shape two primary legislation agreed by Parliament whilst also proactively 

supporting bringing forward of new laws such as those to prevent domestic abuse. 

Over the past year the LGA was featured 38,443 times in national, trade, regional, 

broadcast and online media. On average, the LGA was secured five national media hits 

every single day. 

180



15 

 

 

 

Other work that the LGA continues to do is:  

 Influence critical legislative, financial and policy decisions and shape and develop 

the policies that local government needs to deliver effective services for their 

residents. 

 Press for more powers to be devolved from Whitehall to local government. 

 Shape emerging government thinking, ensuring councils’ views are represented. 

 Work with public, private, community and voluntary organisations to secure their 

support for local priorities. 

 Campaign on behalf of our membership, promote local government and defend 

its reputation through the local, regional and national media. 

 Ensure the voice of local government is heard in Parliament. 

 Support councils to share best practice, drive innovation and improvement and to 

continue to deliver essential services. 

 Negotiate, in our role as national employer, fair pay and pensions and provide 

support and advice on workforce issues. 

 Co-ordinate collective legal action on behalf of member councils 

 Deliver broader services to local government via our wholly owned companies 

and joint ventures such as Local Partnerships, Geoplace and Public Sector Audit 

Appointments. 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
The LGA sends out monthly bulletins to members providing useful information on 
current policy papers that central government are consulting on, updates from the LGA 
Board Chairs, topical research papers as well as a monthly magazine. 
 
Political groups also send out monthly news bulletins to members. The LGA also offers 
councils topical peer reviews, peer to peer mentoring, and other events throughout the 
year such as conferences, training events, and forums. 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
The LGA helps to influence central government’s evolving policies and their approach to 
local government. From Wokingham Borough’s perspective this helps add more weight 
to the other lobbying that we are able to do through our local MPs to help mitigate 
against anything that may detrimentally affect our residents which may come about for 
example from a change in central government. It also provides the Council with a 
collective voice to press for positive changes that can enable us to better pursue our 
vision and priorities. 

181



16 

 

 

 

 
It is a positive benefit of being a member of the LGA that you can take advantage of 
sector led peer reviews. This is an effective and useful tool for evaluating a particular 
service are within the council. Council officers can take part in peer reviews of other 
authorities, which can also lead to improvement and innovation within our council.  
 
Since the start of the country’s response to Covid-19, the LGA have re-focussed all of 
their work to support councils in their role as part of the national effort to protect and 
support local communities. This work has included highlighting the significant additional 
costs and loss of income councils are facing. To date, this has secured £4.1 billion in 
additional funding for councils. This work has been critical to this council in this crisis as 
there has been many additional burdens on the council and it has been necessary to 
secure additional funds for this. 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
By the Borough Council being a member of the LGA, and therefore having 
representatives from this Council at the General Assembly, this enables us to continue 
to have a voice in the local government community, putting forward issues or concerns 
that specifically affect Wokingham Borough. It also makes it possible for us to contribute 
to discussions around matters affecting local government in general. As a member of 
the LGA the Council is also able to nominate up to three members for LGA Committees 
and Boards, which if we are successful in securing places, assist in helping shape and 
contribute to the policy work of the LGA. 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
The Local Government Association General Assembly meeting was initially going to be 

held at the Local Government Association Annual Conference on 30th June but due to 

Covid-19 was postponed and held virtually on 30th September 2020. This meeting 

usually takes place as part of the LGA’s Annual Conference and Exhibition.  

Elections: 

Lord Bob Kerslake was elected for the position of the President of the Association for 

2020/21 

Cllr. James Jamieson was elected Chairman of the Association of the LGA for 2020/21 

Four Vice-Chairs were elected to the Association for 2020/21: Cllr. Nick Forbes CBE 

(Labour), Cllr. Izzi Seccombe OBE (Conservative), Cllr. Howard Sykes MBE (Liberal 

Democrats) and Cllr. Marianne Overton MBE (Independent). 

Nine Deputy Chairs were elected to the Association for the LGA for 2020/21:  

Conservative: Cllr. John Fuller OBE, Cllr. Teresa O’Neill OBE, Cllr. Robert Alden 

Labour: Cllr. Michael Payne, Cllr.Tudor Evans OBE, Cllr. Antoinette Bramble and Cllr. 

Georgia Gould 

Liberal Democrat: Cllr. Ruth Dombey OBE 

Independent: Cllr. Clive Woodbridge 

182



17 

 

 

 

The General Assembly were also invited to note the appointment of 71 Vice- Presidents 

from different political parties for 2020/21, which included MPs and Peers. The 

Independent Group also plan to invite Dame Louise Casey to become a LGA Vice-Chair 

President when she joins the House of Lords. 

The General Assembly received the LGA’s Financial Statements for the year to 31st 

March 2020 and noted the Annual Report of the Audit Committee in 2019/20.  

In 2021 the LGA conference was being planned to be held in Liverpool from 6th July 
(subject to Covid-19).  

 
Councillor:  Charlotte Haitham Taylor Dated:   5th March 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

183



18 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 
2020-2021Name of 
Organisation 

Mid & West Berks Local Access Forum 

Name of Member Cllr Angus Ross 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Appointed WBC Member 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

4 - virtual 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

4 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

n/a 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 
LAF continues to monitor and comment on the three councils (West Berks, Reading & 
Wokingham) Rights of Way Improvement Plans (ROWIPs) and the maintenance of 
Public Rights of Way (PROW).  Also commenting on possible access opportunities post 
Brexit and continuing issues with use of Byways.  We continue to promote the work 
WBC is doing with cooperation from the Loddon Valley Ramblers (including installation 
of a number of kissing gates to replace stiles), local landowners and successful 
adoption of our Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2020/2030 (ROWIP), Greenways and 
the Loddon and Blackwater Paths. 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
 
Have been rep for a number of years.  The Constitution is well established as it is a 
statutory body. 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
 
Effective and contributes to support the H&WB agenda providing good PROW for 
exercise and outdoor enjoyment. 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes Statutory 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
 
Need WBC to be represented by an elected member on this statutory body 
 

Councillor:  Angus Ross Dated:  2Mar2021 
 
 

184



19 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Authority 

Name of Member 
Pauline Helliar-Symons, Graham Howe, Angus Ross and 
Rachelle Shepherd-duBey 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Borough Council representatives 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

See below. 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

The number of meetings we attend is determined by our role 
on the Fire Authority but it is calculated that between us we 
have attended at least 200 this year, as well as additional 
informal meetings with officers; plus several days' reading of 
application forms. 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

Very few not attended, and any that were clashed with other 
meetings or holidays. 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 
As everywhere this has been a very challenging year for the Fire Service, and all 
firefighters and non-uniformed staff have really stepped up to the plate to deal with all 
the extra work that Covid-19 has entailed, as well as having to cope with the post 
Grenfell inspections (there have been none needed in Wokingham Borough but plenty 
in Slough and Reading).  But they have all worked extremely hard and coped well.   
 
The Fire Service is in a much happier place than it was 6 or 7 years ago, as two 
successive Chief Fire Officers along with all 20 elected members from across the 
County have worked together to change the culture; it is now one where people feel 
trusted and empowered, and a great deal happier, and the service has improved as a 
result.  This was shown when the Service received a Good in the Fire Inspection last 
Autumn, one of few Fire Services in the country to receive this level (we are now aiming 
for Excellent next time!); and a few weeks ago a similarly glowing report came from an 
inspection that dealt only with how the Service has responded to the pandemic. 
Members have been kept in touch through regular fortnightly meetings about how the 
service is responding to the pandemic, for which we are grateful.  The new strapline that 
we now use of 'One Team', has really come into its own. 
 
There continues to be a golden thread linking the three year strategy to the Integrated 
Risk Management Plan, to the one year corporate plan, to individual plans for each 
borough and ultimately to individuals' appraisals, and we appreciate the chance to talk 
to officers about the specific needs of Wokingham Borough.  Members have been 
involved in creating all these plans apart from individual appraisals which now work well 
because of their interlinking with all the other objectives. 
 

185



20 

 

 

 

We have agreed to continue our programme including building the new Fire Station at 
Theale, having opened our second Community Fire Station in Crowthorne in spring 
2020 and taking possession soon of further new Fire Appliances and a new Aerial 
Ladder Platform and continuing our investment in IT. In addition we have supported the 
staff of the Thames Valley Fire Control operation at RBFRS HQ in Calcot who have 
maintained full staffing and coverage throughout the pandemic. We are supporting 
Armed Forces Veterans by setting up Hubs for them to meet up and hear support that is 
available, hoping an onsite event can come soon after two virtual events to date. 
 
RBFRS remains in good financial health thanks to the careful past management 
planning of the Officers and Members. However the funding formula going forward is 
not so positive. RBFRS is one of the lowest funded services in the country yet the 
Leadership and officers all through RBFRS has held the service in the top 10% of 
performers in the UK. Whilst bigger services may have fat in their budgets, RBFRS is 
lean. Very careful planning and management of a programme to upgrade 
infrastructure replacement of fire appliances over the last few years has been in place 
but may be slowed due to funding pressure. The already low precept can only be raised 
by a regulated level and this year that is 1.99%. Percentage increases on an already 
low budget causes pain points and these are foreseeable. Coronavirus has impacted 
RBFRS financially but like many other functions across the country has had Central 
Government support by grants. That does not make the funding formula problem go 
away and Local Authority support is required to help make change. 
 
Our Chief Fire Officer, Trevor Ferguson and the Deputy Chief Fire Officer Steve Foye 
are both due to retire in mid summer, and we have appointed a really good successor 
as Chief Fire Officer who fits entirely with our culture; his name is Wayne Bowcock and 
he is currently Chief Fire Officer for Gloucestershire.  The next set of interviews is for his 
Deputy.  All four of us Wokingham Borough members were on the selection panel of 6, 
owing to our roles - Angus as Lead Member for Strategic Assets, Graham as Lead 
member for Budget, Rachelle as leader of the Liberal Democrats, and Pauline as Vice 
Chairman of the Authority and Champion for Organisational Development.  We look 
forward to continuing as One Team. 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
 
There is a detailed annual training programme put together by members and officers 
and chaired by Pauline Helliar-Symons which covers all these areas, and almost all 
members opt into some part of it.  There is a very sophisticated induction programme.  
This is all supported by one to ones with the Group Leaders to determine what training 
members have done over the past year and what they might like in the next, as well as 
exploring which committees they would be interested in being on. 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 

Providing safeguarding for vulnerable people, fire prevention and adequate staffing of 
fire stations and equipment.   They have assisted the NHS in the Covid crisis and they 

186



21 

 

 

 

provide safe and well visits during non-pandemic times. They provide fire protection and 
fighting as well as rescue activities in case of floods and Natural disasters.  

 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes  

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
 
The Fire Service collects and spends tax payers’ money and we need to keep track of 
how it is spent; fire officers say that Council members are their only way of knowing 
what the public wants as we are democratically elected people. 
 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
 
This report has been amalgamated by Pauline Helliar-Symons from contributions from 
all four of us. 
 

 
Councillors:  Pauline Helliar-Symons 
Graham Howe, Angus Ross, Rachelle 
Shepherd-DuBey 
 

Dated:  March 4, 2021 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

187



22 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation Sonning & District Welfare and Educational Trust 

Name of Member Michael Firmager 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Member 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

1 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

0 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

Clash with a Wokingham Borough Council meeting 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 
The Trust provides welfare support for individuals in need or distress over the area of 
the old Parish of Sonning by means of grants. 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
 
None. 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
 
It is effective in what it does.  During the Covid 19 Pandemic the Trust is still making 
grants. 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
 
The arrangement should continue because the Trust provides an effective and 
necessary function. 
 
 

 
Councillor:  Michael Firmager Dated:  6 February 2021 

 
 

188



23 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation 
 
South East Employers 
 

Name of Member 

 
Stuart Munro and John Kaiser 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

 
Member representing WBC and Executive board member  

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

3 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

3 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

 
 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 
Please see attached information sheet 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
 
A Full briefing was given by the Director when first joining. 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
This is a well-used service and is a good vehicle for WBC to understand pay 
negotiations, benchmarking and  employment trends  

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 
 

Yes 

 
Councillor…Stuart Munro 
Dated: 05/02/21 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 

189



24 

 

 

 

SOUTH EAST EMPLOYERS 
 
What is the legal status of the organisation 
A membership organisation. 
 
Aims and Objectives 
“To add value to our councils and communities through our wealth of local knowledge and 
professional expertise.” 
Trust Deed, Code of Conduct, Constitution, Memorandum or Articles of Association 
The organisation’s Rules are available at 
http://www.seemp.co.uk/see_rules_may_2015.pdf 
 
Status of Appointment (i.e. Observer/Trustee/Director) 
Two representatives 
Stuart Munro also Member of the Executive Board  
 
Financial Status 
Levy paid by Member Authorities dependent upon size of Authority ie County Councils pay 
more than Unitary Authorities. 
Risk/Liabilities 
No risk to WBC as a standalone organisation 
 
Insurance 
As above 
 
Is Training Provided 
Full briefing information given prior to AGM at the start of the Municipal year. 
 
Frequency of Meetings 
Quarterly 
 
Contact Details (organisation) 
 
Name: Jennifer McNeill, Chartered Fellow CIPD, MA, Bed, Regional Director  
 jennifer@seemp.co.uk 
Address: Civic Centre, Winchester, Hampshire, SO23 8BB 
Telephone: 01962 840664 
Email: info@seemp.co.uk  
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

190

http://www.seemp.co.uk/see_rules_may_2015.pdf
mailto:info@seemp.co.uk


25 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation 
South East Reserved Forces & Cadet’s Association 
(SERFCA) 

Name of Member Cllr Angus Ross 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

LA Representative 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

3 and others promoting Armed Forces Champion work 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

2 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

Clash with WBC meeting 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.    
Education about the Reserved Forces and the Cadet organisations, links for the 
Employer Recognition Scheme and promoting the needs of ex-Service Men and 
Women in our communities. 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
As a former officer in the RAF and keeping association with linked organisations, I was 
well aware of the aims and objectives.  As a supporter of WBC signing up to the Armed 
Forces Covenant in 2013, I am now in effect the Armed Forces Champion, a role I 
already play for the Royal Berkshire Fire Authority. 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
Provides links for WBC to support the 3 Air Cadet Squadrons and 3 Army Cadet units in 
the borough plus two CCF units.  Also, for WBC to take on more responsibility having 
signed the Armed Forces Covenant 8 years ago, something I am now working with 
WBC officers on.  Support the Lord Lieutenant’s awards programme and annual event.                              

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
As above and re work in WBC for supporting ex-Service Men and Women in our 
community. 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
Active to support a Berkshire Civil/Military Partnership Board to improve support for 
Veterans across the county 

 
Councillor:  Angus Ross Dated:  2Mar2021 

 
 

191



26 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 

 

Name of Organisation Standing Conference on Archives 

Name of Member Pauline Jorgensen 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Member/Chairman 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

2 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

2 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

n/a 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 
The Archives have had a strange year with enforced lockdown for COVID, they 
managed to open for a limited period in August with appropriate precautions. In August 
they retained their accreditation as an archive service confirming their appointment 
under the Public Records Act  and were commended for continued effective work. The 
archive continues to receive new collections including estate maps for Radley Manor 
and Thatcham farm and the archive of Maidenhead Rowing Club, Thames Valley Police 
(from 1856 to 1920) and Ravenswood school. As far as exhibitions are concerned the 
programme of talks and visits was largely suspended but they moved the VE day 
exhibition online. Ancestry have given us free access to their electoral register collection 
which is available to residents online. 
Planning progresses for an extension to the building to provide more space for new 
collections. 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? Yes 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? Very effective see above 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
Statutory 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
 

Councillor:   Dated:   
Pauline Jorgensen     3/2/21 

192



27 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 

Name of Organisation SASIG (Strategic Aviation Body) 

Name of Member Cllr Malcolm Richards 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, observer etc  

WBC Appointed Representative 

Number of meetings called to attend 0  (only written updates issued) 

Number of Meetings attended 0  (see above comment) 

Reasons for not attending, if 
appropriate 

Covid19 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
Noise and Noise Metrics were reviewed and distributed for information purposes and 
possible comment.  Also the implication of changing take-off and landing directions.  
Very technical content.  Requires technical skills to evaluate or comment – unlike the 
opportunity to ask various other questions during a normal meeting.  Expansion of 
Heathrow Airport (3rd runway expansion) was not advanced or discussed this year.  Of 
course, Climate Emergency and related matters of pollution remain on the table.  

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role?  Nothing constitutional, just the basic need to keep their 
issues alive and on the table – and to enable discussion on those technical matters. 
SASIG does also deal with many other issues such as pollution, all air-based travel, 
implications of air travel vs other methods, climate regs & options etc.  But for 2020-21 
covid has limited a full discussion of many issues. But the issues remain important.  

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? SASIG has a vital role to play in the technicalities of aviation and the 
issues/problems those aspects may cause.  Heathrow is a major international airport 
(approx. 30 miles from Wokingham) so it affects a number of things in and around our 
borough,  Employment is a major issue, many of our residents work there, and our 
education levels and achievements help to create the right type of skilled staff they 
need. Several major/global/technical employers are based in Wokingham and have 
stated their approval of Heathrow Airport, and Wokingham as a local council provider of 
services, infrastructural facilities and good transport options. So it affects Wokingham’s 
provision of education, employment, living standards, housing numbers and quality of 
homes, etc.  SASIG is part of the aviation industry provision and technical future.  We 
cannot ignore the impact of Heathrow and thus SASIG, 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative    FOR  
See the above details and justification. 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful   N/A 

Councillor:        M L Richards Dated:    05-March-2021 
 
 

193



28 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation Thames Basin Heaths Joint Strategic Partnership 

Name of Member Cllr Angus Ross 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Appointed WBC Member 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

2 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

2 

Reasons for not 
attending,  

n/a 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 
The partnership provides a vehicle for the joint working, liaison and exchange of 
information between the 12 local authorities, natural England and other organisations 
affected by the Thames basin Heaths SPA.  The particular focus in the last year has 
been on how the wardens operate under Covid19 restrictions and how best the financial 
reserves are invested for the future. 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
I have been the WBC rep since the setup of this organisation in 2007 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
It meets the support for the introduction and management of SANGs in WBC area and 
protects the monies received from each new dwelling.  It supports the SAMM spend of 
and policy behind the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring  contribution and 
investment of funds now held for future management.  
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
We are represented along with the other 11 Local Authorities affected by the SPA and 
the EU Directive for protection of three species of birds who live and bred in the SPAs 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
It is worthwhile to reiterate the benefit from the SANGs provided to mitigate the impact 
on the protected birds in the SPAs – to date over 120Ha of extra open space in WBC. 

 
Councillor:  Angus Ross Dated:    2Mar21 

194



29 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation THE PIGGOTT TRUST 

Name of Member GRAHAM HOWE 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

WBC REPRESENTATIVE 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

2 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
Grants to youths in education and other young people with financial needs. 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
Full briefing from chair and members. 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
Piggott trust is proactive in promoting how it can help youth and works collaboratively 
with local schools 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes/No YES 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
Helps wbc stay in contact with needs of youth education in the local area 
 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
 
 

 
Councillor:  GRAHAM HOWE Dated:  4th March 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

195



30 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation The Poor’s Land Charity (Woodley) 

Name of Member Councillor Abdul Loyes 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Trustee 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

11 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

6 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

Clash with another meeting 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 

- Provide Housing for local residents 
- Providing charitable support to residents in the borough 
- Replacement of heating systems of all flats costing £84,053.14  
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
 
The Poor Land’s Charity was formed on 11th July, 1972. Previously a known as the Fuel 
Allotment Charity. In 1979, the charity’s land was eventually sold and therefore 
proceeds were used to purchase a parcel of land to provide residential properties in 
Woodley.  
 
Objectives: 
 
The governing scheme empowered the Trustees to relieve hardship by: - 
 

a) Housing persons in need in purpose built accommodation (Almshouses). The 
occupiers were drawn from within the parishes of Woodley Sandford and Charvil. 

b) Making donations in kind to residents of Woodley Sandford and Charvil and 
adjacent parishes as “Relief in Need”. 

c) Applying income for the general benefit of residents of Woodley Sandford and 
Charvil and adjacent parishes 

 
 
 

196



31 

 

 

 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply?  
Poor Land’s Charity has been effective by reaching out to the council’s vision of 
enriching lives for example, fourteen flats and four bungalows were administered by the 
charity.  
 
There has been ongoing charitable support whereby their Relief in Need scheme 
provided a total of £7,447.86 with additional 3 payments of £500 at the end of 2020 to 
organisations such as Salvation Army, Food Bank, Lunch Bunch and individual in need 
situated in Woodley. COVID-19 has increased the volume of applications compared to 
recent years. 
 
Financial support from Poor Land’s charity meant that it helped families obtain ‘white’ 
goods, beds etc. 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes/No 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
FOR – This gives representatives an internal insight on the daily operations of the 
organisation 
 

Please provide any additional information that fellow Members might find useful 
 
The Poor Land’s Charity was served by ten trustees during the municipal year, of whom 
four were co-opted and six were nominated appointments. A trustee was nominated by 
Wokingham Borough Council (Councillor Abdul Loyes). 
 

 
Councillor:  Abdul Loyes Dated:  01/03/2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

197



32 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation 
 

WHITE WALTHAM AIRFIELD CONSULTATIVE 
COMMITTEE 

Name of Member GRAHAM HOWE 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

WBC REPRESENTATIVE 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

1 (and two written reports due to Covid-19 stopping flying) 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

1 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

N/A 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 
Committee consults with management, and local organisations on the use, development 
and operations of the airfield 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
 
Briefing from chair and fellow members 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
 
Air traffic from a private airfield can have an effect to local residents. Resident 
representatives are on the committee and the management provide reports and 
proactive follow up to enquiries and complaints 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

YES 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
 
Helps WBC stay in contact with needs of residents in the airfield locality and assist with 
any regulatory requirements incumbent on WBC 
 

 
Councillor:  GRAHAM HOWE Dated:  4th March 2021 

 

198



33 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation Wokingham Borough Sports Council 

Name of Member Michael Firmager 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Member 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

1 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

0 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

Clash with another meeting 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 
To co-ordinate, promote and develop opportunities and facilities for sport in the Borough 
of Wokingham. 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
 
I have previously been a member representing either Wokingham Borough Council or 
Earley Town Council for a number of years. 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
 
It provides a forum to co-ordinate, promote and develop sports across the borough.  It 
also organises the annual sports awards. 
 
This is where different sports clubs and representatives can meet to share experiences 
and on occasions work together. 
 
Unfortunately, owing to Covid 19 no other meetings were held and the annual sports 
awards were cancelled. 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes/No 

 
Councillor:  Michael Firmager Dated:  6 February 2021 

 

199



34 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of 
Organisation 

 
Wokingham Job Support Centre Management Committee WJSC 
 

Name of Member 
Stuart Munro 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

WBC Representative 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

1 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

1 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
Since Appointment of the new board of trustees, the review of the funding from WBC 
(ongoing) WJSC continues as before.  
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on its 
constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry out 
your appointed role? 
 
I am given a full briefing by the Trustees Chairman, Martyn Lambert who I have 
known for many years and receive a copy of their quarterly report. 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
 
The Organisation provides an essential and well respected service to the community 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes  

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
 
As well as a well-used service, this is a good vehicle for WBC to understand employment 
trends in the Economic Development area, particularly in current Covid 19 times. 

Councillor…Stuart Munro…………………………………… 
Dated:…05/02/21 

200



35 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation ARC Youth Counselling service 

Name of Member GRAHAM HOWE 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

WBC REPRESENTATIVE 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

4 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

4 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
ARC provide youth mental health services in Wokingham  
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
BRIEFING FROM CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
ARC provides an essential service that compliments and works with WBC children 
services. 
Demand for ARC services has increased. ARC works closely with WBC schools and 
other youth organisations to provide help to identify and service those in need of 
support, 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes/No YES 

Please state the rationale for or against having a representative  
ARC provide an essential service to young people with often what are complex needs. 
ARC works closely with children’s services.  
WBC representation helps ARC and WBC children’s services work together. 
 

 
Councillor:  GRAHAM HOWE Dated:  4th March 2021 

 
 
 
 

201



36 

 

 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES ANNUAL FEEDBACK FORM 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR: 2020-2021 
 

Name of Organisation Woodley Town Centre Management Initiative 

Name of Member Jennifer Cheng and Bill Soane 

Capacity appointed,  
e.g. trustee, director, 
observer etc  

Member of Executive and the Committee 

Number of meetings 
called to attend 

8 

Number of Meetings 
attended 

5 

Reasons for not 
attending, if 
appropriate 

Health issues 

Please give a brief synopsis of the key areas covered by the Outside Body during 
the past Municipal Year.  
 
WTCMI is responsible for the management of Woodley Town Centre.  This involves 
several markets , Woodley Extravaganza, switching on of lights and  carols, and many 
other events, including regular use of its Centre Stage by hirers.  
It has only been possible to continue with skeleton markets this year, due to covid, and 
everything else had to be cancelled. 
 

What background /briefing information did you receive from the organisation on 
its constitution, aims, objectives etc and was it sufficient to enable you to carry 
out your appointed role? 
 
I learnt about WCMI’s aims from going to meetings and talking to other members. 
 

Please indicate how effective you think the organisation is, e.g. has it met or 
contributed to the Council’s Vision and Priorities and give examples to illustrate 
your reply? 
 
Woodley is an important town in Wokingham Borough and it is essential that its town 
centre is run efficiently and profitably. 
 

Do you think the Council should continue to be 
represented on this Outside Body? 

Yes 

Please state the rationale FOR OR AGAINST having a representative  
 
There should be a link between the borough and the town. 
 
 

Councillor:  Jennifer Cheng Dated:  05.03.21 
 

202


	Agenda
	99. Minutes of Previous Meeting
	104. Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing
	Enc. 1 for Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing

	105. Equality Plan
	Enclosure A Equality Plan
	Enclosure B Equality Action Plan
	Enclosure C Appendix 2 Summary of Delivery
	Enclosure D EqIA

	106. Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2020-21
	Appendix A Treasury Management Mid - Year Report 2020-21

	107. Officer Response to the Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Report - WBC's Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic
	Enc. 1 for Officer Response to the Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Report - WBC's Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic, 25/02/2021 Executive

	108. Annual report from the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee and the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 2020/21
	109. Standards Committee Annual Report 2020/21
	110. Reports from Members Appointed to Outside Bodies

